Bath & North East
Somerset Council

Improving People’s Lives

Special Cabinet

Date:  Thursday 25th September 2025
Time: 4.30 pm
Venue: Council Chamber - Guildhall, Bath

Agenda
To: All Members of the Cabinet

Councillor Kevin Guy (Leader of the Council, LD Group Leader, Member Advocate for Armed
Forces and Veterans), Councillor Alison Born (Cabinet Member for Adult Services), Councillor
Mark Elliott (Deputy Council Leader (non-statutory) and Cabinet Member for Resources),
Councillor Joel Hirst (Cabinet Member for Sustainable Transport Strategy), Councillor Lucy
Hodge (Cabinet Member for Sustainable Transport Delivery), Councillor Paul May (Cabinet
Member for Children’s Services), Councillor Matt McCabe (Cabinet Member for Built
Environment, Housing and Sustainable Development), Councillor Manda Rigby (Cabinet
Member for Communications and Community), Councillor Paul Roper (Cabinet Member for
Economic and Cultural Sustainable Development) and Councillor Sarah Warren (Deputy
Council Leader (statutory) and Cabinet Member for Sustainable Bath and North East Somerset)

Chief Executive and other appropriate officers
Press and Public

The agenda is set out overleaf.

Marie Todd

Democratic Services

Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 1JG
Telephone: 01225 394414

Web-site - http://www.bathnes.gov.uk

E-mail: Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.uk




NOTES:

1. Inspection of Papers: Papers are available for inspection as follows:

Council’s website: https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1

2. Details of decisions taken at this meeting can be found in the minutes which will be
circulated with the agenda for the next meeting. In the meantime, details can be obtained by
contacting as above.

3. Recording at Meetings

The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 now allows filming and recording
by anyone attending a meeting. This is not within the Council’s control. Some of our meetings
are webcast. At the start of the meeting, the Chair will confirm if all or part of the meeting is to
be filmed. If you would prefer not to be filmed for the webcast, please make yourself known to
the camera operators. We request that those filming/recording meetings avoid filming public
seating areas, children, vulnerable people etc; however, the Council cannot guarantee this will
happen.

The Council will broadcast the images and sounds live via the internet
www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast. The Council may also use the images/sound recordings on its
social media site or share with other organisations, such as broadcasters.

4. Public Speaking at Meetings

The Council has a scheme to encourage the public to make their views known at meetings.
They may make a statement relevant to what the meeting has power to do. For Special
Meetings statements must relate to the items on the agenda. They may also present a petition
on behalf of a group.

Advance notice is required not less than two full working days before the meeting. This
means that for meetings held on Thursdays notice must be received in Democratic
Services by 5.00pm the previous Monday.

Further details of the scheme can be found at:

https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=12942

5. Emergency Evacuation Procedure

When the continuous alarm sounds, you must evacuate the building by one of the designated
exits and proceed to the named assembly point. The designated exits are signposted.
Arrangements are in place for the safe evacuation of disabled people.

6. Supplementary information for meetings
Additional information and Protocols and procedures relating to meetings

https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13505



https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/webcast
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=12942
https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13505

Special Cabinet - Thursday 25th September 2025
in the Council Chamber - Guildhall, Bath

AGENDA

WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS
EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE

The Democratic Services Officer will read out the emergency evacuation procedure as
set out in the notes.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

At this point in the meeting declarations of interest are received from Members in any
of the agenda items under consideration at the meeting. Members are asked to
indicate:

(a) The agenda item number in which they have an interest to declare.

(b) The nature of their interest.

(c) Whether their interest is a disclosable pecuniary interest or an other interest,
(as defined in Part 4.4 Appendix B of the Code of Conduct and Rules for
Registration of Interests)

Any Member who needs to clarify any matters relating to the declaration of interests is
recommended to seek advice from the Council’s Monitoring Officer or a member of his
staff before the meeting to expedite dealing with the item during the meeting.

TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIR
QUESTIONS FROM PUBLIC AND COUNCILLORS

Questions submitted before the deadline will receive a reply from an appropriate
Cabinet member or an undertaking to respond within 5 working days of the meeting.
For Special Meetings questions must relate to the items on the agenda. Councillors
may ask one supplementary question for each question they submit, up to a maximum
of two per Councillor.

STATEMENTS OR PETITIONS FROM PUBLIC OR COUNCILLORS

Councillors and members of the public may register their intention to make a statement
if they notify the subject matter of their statement before the deadline. For Special
Meetings statements must relate to the items on the agenda. Statements are limited
to 3 minutes each. The speaker may then be asked by Cabinet members to answer
factual questions arising out of their statement.

MATTERS REFERRED BY POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND SCRUTINY BODIES

This is a standing agenda item (Constitution rule 3.3.14) for matters referred by Policy



10.

Development and Scrutiny bodies. The Chair of the relevant Policy Development and
Scrutiny Panel will have the right to attend and to introduce the Panel’s
recommendations to Cabinet.

RESET LOCAL PLAN OPTIONS DOCUMENT (Pages 5 - 488)

The report seeks approval of a reset Local Plan options document for consultation
commencing in October.

THE MOVEMENT STRATEGY (Pages 489 - 514)

The Movement Strategy proposes a shift away from car dependency by improving
alternatives such as walking, wheeling, cycling and public transport. The Cabinet is
asked to approve the development of a Movement Strategy and to agree the proposed
arrangements for public consultation.

The Democratic Services Officer for this meeting is Marie Todd who can be contacted on
01225 394414,



Agenda Item 9

Bath & North East Somerset Council

MEETING | Cabinet

EXECUTIVE FORWARD
PLAN REFERENCE:

MEETING | 25t September 2025

E 3636

TITLE: Reset Local Plan Options document

WARD: All

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM

List of attachments to this report:

Attachment 1: Reset Local Plan Options document

Attachment 2: Reset Local Plan Options communications and engagement plan
Attachment 3: Equalities Impact Assessment of Reset Local Plan Options

1 THE ISSUE

1.1 In 2024 government issued significant changes to national planning policy and a
revised standard method figure of housing need. The revised housing need figure
for Bath & North East Somerset is more than double that of the previous
government. As a result the council decided in 2024 to reset preparation of its
Local Plan in order to consider the implications of changed policy and to enable
progression towards a sound Local Plan. Resetting the Local Plan requires the
council to prepare and consult on a further set of options for meeting the
substantially increased level of housing need, associated job growth and some
new policy approaches. This report seeks approval of a reset Local Plan options
document for consultation commencing in October this year.

2 RECOMMENDATION

The Cabinet is asked to;

Printed on recycled paper Page 5



2.1 approve the Reset Local Plan Options document (Attachment 1) for public
consultation for a period of six weeks from 37 October to 14" November
2025

2.2 agree and authorise the Executive Director for Sustainable Communities, in
consultation with the Cabinet Members for Built Environment, Housing and
Sustainable Development and Communications and Community, to issue
communications relating to the reset Local Plan Options and to undertake
consultation as summarised in section 10 of this report and outlined in the
communications and engagement plan (Attachment 2)

2.3 delegate authority to the Executive Director for Sustainable Communities, in
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Built Environment, Housing and
Sustainable Development, to agree textual changes to the Options
document (Attachment 1) prior to its publication for consultation

3 THE REPORT

Local Plan 2025-2043

3.1 The preparation of a Local Plan is a key means of shaping the future of places
within Bath and North East Somerset (B&NES) primarily by facilitating the delivery
of high-quality development in a planned and co-ordinated way that will help the
council meet its priorities e.g. providing the right homes in the right places and
specifically more affordable housing, moving towards zero carbon and addressing
the ecological emergency. It also enables delivery of development to be aligned
with infrastructure provision that can be funded or part funded by developer
contributions as well as investment from the West of England Mayoral Combined
Authority (MCA).

3.2 Development of housing that is more affordable, as well as additional economic
space is crucial in improving people’s lives and maintaining sustainable economic
prosperity. Substantial investment in infrastructure, including transport, is
necessary to unlock and support delivery of this development. The Local Plan is
central to achieving this, as well as ensuring that change and development helps
us to address the climate emergency, is resilient and adapts to climate change
and facilitates nature recovery. The spatial priorities that underpin the Local Plan
reflect these key objectives (see para 3.15 below).

3.3 The council publicised its intention to prepare a new Local Plan by publishing the
Local Plan 2022-2042 Launch Document in November 2022. The Launch
Document outlined the proposed plan period (twenty years to 2042); scope of the
Local Plan; and the arrangements for preparing it. This was followed by
preparation of and consultation on a Local Plan Options document in spring 2024.
The Options document outlined both policy approach and development location
options for accommodating the then assessed need for additional homes and
jobs. Following consultation on the Options document the council then intended to
prepare a Draft Local Plan, setting out its proposed policies and site allocations,
for formal consultation under Reg 19 (of The Town and Country Planning (Local
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012) prior to it being submitted for Examination.

3.4 In December 2024 government issued significant changes to national policy and
practice guidance and a revised standard method figure of housing need. The key
changes to national policy include:

Printed on recycled paper Page 6



Increased expectation that Local Plans will plan for a level of housing that
meets the government’s standard method figure of housing need and re-
instatement of the need to demonstrate a five-year housing land supply

e Standard method figure of housing need increased nationally and more
than doubled for B&NES — from around 720 per annum under the previous
government to around 1,500 per annum

¢ Requirement that council’s review their Green Belt if housing need cannot
be met in any other way and introduction of the concept of ‘grey belt’ to
help ensure the strategic release of land for development

e Introduction of ‘golden rules’ relating to the development of land released
from the Green Belt requiring increased affordable housing provision;
necessary improvements to local or national infrastructure; and provision of
improved or new accessible green space

¢ Increased focus on delivering economic growth, including in specific
sectors

e Greater focus on addressing the affordability of housing and specifically
meeting the needs of those on lower incomes

e Commitment to regional/strategic planning and emphasis on its role in
delivering the housing and economic growth needed

3.5 The changes to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and revised
standard method figure of housing need have very significant implications for
B&NES. As a result of these changes (trailed in consultation by the government in
summer 2024) the council’s Cabinet resolved in September last year to reset
preparation of the Local Plan in order to ensure that it reflects revised national
policy, to undertake further necessary evidence work, assess options for
additional development and to enable a sound Local Plan to be prepared.

3.6 Resetting preparation of the Local Plan means that consultation on a further set of
Options is necessary before progressing towards a Draft Local Plan. The council
is required to test and consult on all ‘reasonable alternatives’ to meet the
increased level of housing need.

3.7 As aresult of government changes to the NPPF and the standard method figure
of housing need Local Plan preparation and adoption has been delayed by around
twelve months. The amended programme for Local Plan preparation has been
agreed under delegated authority by the Executive Director for Sustainable
Communities, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Built Environment,
Housing and Sustainable Development and is set out in the council’s published
Local Development Scheme. In summary it is now as follows:

e Subject to approval by Cabinet as recommended in this Report, Reset
Local Plan Options consultation: October/November 2026

e Preparation and consultation on the Draft Local Plan: spring/summer 2026

e Submission of the Local Plan for Examination: autumn 2026

Printed on recycled paper Page 7


https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2025-07/LDS%20June%202025.pdf

e Examination hearings and receipt of Inspector’s Report: winter 2026 —
summer 2027

e Adoption of the Local Plan by council: summer 2027

3.8 The NPPF requires that a Local Plan should cover a plan period of at least fifteen
years from the anticipated date of adoption. As a result of the delays in
preparation the plan-period will now be from April 2025 to April 2043. The NPPF
also requires that a council’s Development Plan (primarily the Local Plan) must
include strategic policies to address its priorities for the development and use of
land in its area. Strategic policies should set out an overall strategy for the pattern,
scale and design quality of places, and make sufficient provision for housing
(including affordable housing), employment, retail, leisure and other commercial
development; infrastructure; community facilities; and the conservation and
enhancement of the natural, built and historic environment. Non-strategic policies
should be used to set out more detailed policies for specific areas,
neighbourhoods or types of development.

3.9 As referenced above the government has set out its commitment to strategic
planning at a regional level, especially in areas where powers have been devolved
to a Mayoral Combined Authority (MCA). Such authorities (including the West of
England MCA) are required to prepare a Spatial Development Strategy (SDS)
covering their area. Local Plans need to be in general conformity with an adopted
SDS.

3.10 In 2021 the West of England Combined Authority Mayor halted work on the
Mayoral SDS. As a result, the B&NES Local Plan (and the Local Plans of the
other two MCA constituent local authorities i.e. Bristol City Council and South
Gloucestershire Council) will address the strategic issues that would have been
addressed by the SDS. The three UAs have worked and continue to work closely
together on our respective Local Plans. Through the Duty to Co-operate we are
required to engage constructively and on an on-going basis on strategic cross
boundary matters. In accordance with the Duty to Co-operate B&NES is engaging
not only with Bristol City Council and South Gloucestershire Council, but with our
other neighbouring authorities of North Somerset, Somerset and Wiltshire
Councils.

3.11 The B&NES Local Plan 2025-2043 will therefore cover all strategic and non-
strategic policies relating to the development and use of land across the district.
Upon its adoption it will replace the B&NES Core Strategy, Placemaking Plan and
Local Plan Partial Update (LPPU).

3.12 Given the government’s requirement for MCAs to prepare a SDS the West of
England MCA has recently confirmed that it will re-commence work on the SDS.
Further details on the scope of the SDS and programme for its preparation are
awaited. The development strategy, site allocations and policies in the B&NES
Local Plan 2025-2043 (as well as the other constituent UAs Local Plans) will
contribute to the SDS. Local Plans are required to be reviewed at least every five
years. Therefore, following adoption of the SDS it is likely that the B&NES Local
Plan 2025-2043 will be reviewed.

3.13 In response to the government’s ambition to secure sustained economic growth
and increased productivity the MCA is also required to prepare a Local Growth
Strategy. The Local Growth Strategy is currently being prepared and is intended

Printed on recycled paper Page 8



to provide the broad strategic direction for other relevant strategies and plans
including the SDS. The Local Growth Strategy will outline how the MCA will help
to drive growth in the region, building on the area’s unique strengths and
opportunities to support key growth-driving sectors. B&NES Council (along with
the other constituent local authorities) is working in partnership with the MCA to
ensure the Local Growth Strategy reflects this council’s priorities and objectives
for the local economy. The emerging Local Growth Strategy will also form an
important part of the context for the B&NES Local Plan 2025-2043 and our
planning policy framework and site opportunities will need to help deliver
sustainable economic growth.

3.14 In addition to working with the MCA on the Local Growth Strategy and the SDS
(once work re-commences) the council is also focussing on ensuring MCA
infrastructure funding and investment will help to unlock and support delivery of
development within B&NES.

3.15 As set out above the B&NES Local Plan 2025-2043 is an important mechanism in
shaping the future of our places and delivering the council’s priorities primarily
through facilitating high-quality and sustainable planned development.

3.16 In the spring 2024 options document the council outlined the spatial priorities for
the Local Plan. These spatial priorities will underpin and be delivered through the
spatial strategy, policy framework and site allocations. The spatial priorities are
proposed to remain the same and are as follows:

Our Local Plan will plan for development in response to local needs to
create attractive, healthy and sustainable places in line with the council’s
Corporate Strategy.

The Plan will:
*  Maximise the delivery of housing that is more affordable
»  Create a fairer, more prosperous and sustainable economy

In doing so, our plans for development must:

* Enable B&NES to become carbon neutral by 2030 and deliver a climate
resilient district

*  Protect and enhance nature through facilitating nature recovery

* Improve health and well-being outcomes for all, including through planning
health promoting and inclusive places and providing for cultural enrichment

* Reduce the need to travel unsustainably and enable improved connectivity
for all through sustainable modes of transport and facilitating locally available
services and facilities

* Respect, conserve and enhance our heritage assets and their landscape
settings, in particular the World Heritage Site of Bath and National
Landscapes

» Align the timely provision of transport, health, education, social, cultural
and green infrastructure with development

3.17 As set out in paras 3.1 and 3.2 above the council is committed to planning for the
delivery of additional housing, especially affordable housing, in the right places, as
well as more economic space to facilitate sustainable economic prosperity. The
scale of growth set by the government through the revised standard method
housing need figure of around 1,500 homes per annum is likely to be very

Printed on recycled paper Page 9



challenging to deliver. Options are outlined in the Reset Local Plan Options
document to achieve this. However, it should be noted that the cumulative impacts
of the options and this level of development have not yet been assessed. This
testing will be undertaken in working towards the Draft Local Plan.

3.18 Evidence work that will be published alongside the Reset Options document
shows that the need for affordable housing is significant (around 50% of total
housing need) and that the government’s increased figure of housing need
requires a greater amount of job growth in order to maintain a balance between
homes and jobs within B&NES (estimated to be around 25,000 additional jobs
during the Local Plan period).

3.19 Given the increased levels of housing and employment space to be planned for a
range of options for additional development have been considered and are
outlined in the Local Plan Reset Options document. The previous options that
were subject to consultation in spring last year remain valid and are presented in
the Reset Options document alongside new or extended options to accommodate
the greater level of growth. This ensures that a comprehensive picture of options
in places across the district is presented. Comments submitted in response to the
spring 2024 consultation also remain valid and will continue to be carefully
considered by the council in preparing the Draft Local Plan.

3.20 Within the context of the spatial priorities of the Local Plan and in particular the
need to minimise carbon impacts arising from new development the approach to
assessing and identifying options for development remains broadly the same as
undertaken in 2024. This means focussing development options on sub-areas or
places within the district which are, or can be, comparatively well connected to
jobs, services and facilities through sustainable means of transport. Strategic
growth options therefore continue to be focussed at Bath; within the Bath to Bristol
corridor; and the Somer Valley. These areas are also those proposed to be the
focus for economic growth through the emerging MCA Local Growth Strategy. In
addition, options are presented for some local or non-strategic development in
some the comparatively more sustainable villages.

3.21 As the main economic centre in the district and where a substantial proportion of
the need for affordable housing is derived it is crucial that an appropriate level of
growth is focussed at Bath. A central element of the proposed strategy is
optimising the capacity of brownfield sites within the city both for additional
housing and employment space. However, in order to sustainably deliver
development required to meet the government’s standard method figure of
housing need the council considers that growth of the city needs to be considered.
As such options for development primarily on the western edge of Bath are
presented for consultation. As Bath is a double inscribed World Heritage Site
(WHS) this makes planning and delivering strategic growth very difficult given the
WHS inscription itself and associated attributes. Assessment shows that such
development would give rise to substantial harm to the WHS and would be
contrary to national policy. The council remains in dialogue with government on
this issue and is keen to demonstrate that Bath can be an exemplar for
sustainable development which protects and enhances the city’s heritage.

3.22 Options for strategic and non-strategic development are set out in other parts of
the district as summarised above. The main focus of development is proposed to
be on strategic sites as development at a larger scale is more capable of being
supported by and delivering necessary infrastructure improvements and achieving

Printed on recycled paper Page 10



the council’s priorities. As set out above investment in supporting infrastructure,
especially transport, is a pre-requisite for and will unlock development.

3.23 Whilst the main focus is proposed to be on strategic sites it should be noted that
to maintain a five-year housing land supply a diverse supply of sites will be
needed. This will include some smaller, non-strategic sites which are capable of
delivering housing more quickly. In addition, some development in villages is
necessary in order to help maintain vibrant villages, population levels and local
services and facilities.

3.24 The development options outlined in the Local Plan Reset Options document are
not solely focussed on housing and also include options for
commercial/employment uses, necessary to help maintain or create more
balanced communities and to help deliver job growth.

3.25 In addition to place-based site options to deliver growth the council is also
presenting a limited range of new Development Management policy approach
options. Development Management policies apply district-wide and are used in
the determination of planning applications. The government is proposing to
introduce a set of National Development Management Policies (NDMPs).
However, there remains uncertainty as to the scope, coverage and status of the
NDMPs, as well as the timing of their introduction. Therefore, at this stage it is
proposed the B&NES Local Plan 2024-2043 will include a full suite of
Development Management policies, but this will be kept under review as we
progress towards the Draft Local Plan.

3.26 A broad range of Development Management policy approach options were
consulted on in spring 2024. These options are not presented again in the Reset
Options document and the comments submitted in response to the 2024
consultation are still valid and continue to be carefully considered by the council in
preparing the draft Local Plan. In this Local Plan Reset Options document only
policy approach options are presented either for new policy areas or where
new/revised approach options are required as a result of revisions to national
policy or other changed circumstances such as new or updated evidence. In
summary these are options relating to:

Affordable housing (updated text)
Co-living accommodation

Houses in Multiple Occupation

Purpose Built Student Accommodation
Gypsies and Travellers Accommodation
Housing Development Boundaries review
Climate change: adaptation & resilience, retrofit first and District Heating
Renewable energy

Low impact farming

Green Belt

Protection of industrial sites

Local Green Spaces

Somersetshire Coal Canal

Waste

Printed on recycled paper Page 11



4 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS

4.1 Planning decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise (Section 38(6) of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, Section 70(2) Town and Country Planning Act
1990).

4.2 Section 19(1B) - (1E) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 sets out
that each local planning authority must identify their strategic priorities and have
policies to address these in their development plan documents (taken as a whole).
The development plan for an area is made up of the combination of strategic
policies (which address the priorities for an area) and non-strategic policies (which
deal with more detailed matters).

4.3 In light of the UK Plan-led system, Regulation 10A of The Town and Country
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) requires that
Local Planning Authorities must review local plans and the NPPF states that this
must take place at least once every 5 years, and Plans should then be updated as
necessary. This must in whole or in part be to ensure that policies remain relevant
and effectively address the needs of the local community.

4.4 The council updated parts of its Local Plan (comprising the Adopted Core Strategy
and Placemaking Plan) through the LPPU. The LPPU was adopted in January
2023. However, a full update of the Local Plan now needs to be prepared in order
to ensure that the needs for development within the district (e.g. for housing and
employment space) over the longer term can be objectively assessed and
responded to positively. Work commenced on the full update of the Local Plan and
an Options consultation took place earlier this year. The revised NPPF and
standard method figure of housing need required the Local Plan to be re-set and
further engagement on reasonable alternatives or options to be undertaken.

4.5 The Levelling Up and Regeneration Act (2023) received Royal Assent on 26
October 2023 which will make some changes to plan-making. Regulations by the
Secretary of State are required to bring these changes into force. The previous
Government said local planning authorities (LPAs) must submit their local plans
for examination by 30 June 2025 (and adopt them by 31 December 2026) if they
want their local plans to be adopted under the current system. Under the revised
NPPF the submission deadline has been extended to December 2026 to enable
local authorities to undertake significant further work on their Local Plans. If LPAs
are not able to meet these deadlines (or if their local plans fail at examination),
then LPAs must prepare their local plans under the new plan-making system
details of which are still emerging from government. The council’s Local Plan is
being prepared under the current system and as set out above it is anticipated it
will be submitted before the December 2026 deadline.

4.6 The first formal stage in preparing the council’s new Local Plan is Regulation 18 of
Town and Country (Local Planning)(England) Regulations 2012/767 which
provides the opportunity to gather evidence and test options with local
communities and stakeholders. Following consultation on the Options document
last year further options engagement and consultation under Regulation 18 needs
to be undertaken in respect of the re-set Local Plan.

4.7 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires all local planning

authorities to prepare a Local Development Scheme (LDS). The LDS sets out the
Printed on recycled paper Page 12



programme, resources and arrangements for the production and review of
statutory planning documents required by the council. The LDS must be kept up to
date. The current version of the LDS is up-to date and is published on the
council’s website.

5 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE)

5.1 The Local Plan has been and continues to be prepared utilising existing staff
resources, led by the Planning Policy team and involving various other teams
across the council, as well both council and MCA funding (see 5.2 below).
Preparing a Local Plan requires significant resources. With regards to this Local
Plan the need to reset it in light of the government’s revisions to national policy
and the standard method figure of housing need means substantial additional
work needs to be undertaken. In recognition of this additional work central
government made two funding grants available for application i.e. Green Belt
review funding and Local Plans Delivery funding. This council applied for and
received funding from both pots, and these are being used to help cover the cost
of preparing the Local Plan.

As identified above the costs of preparing this Local Plan are covered by
government grants, council and MCA funding. Council funding has been primarily
from the existing Local Development Framework (LDF) budget. The council also
successfully bid for strategic masterplanning funding from the MCA and this has
been and will be utilised in preparing the Reset Local Plan. Given the magnitude
of the costs of preparing a Local Plan the funding identified above is not sufficient
to cover the full costs. Therefore, a facility to draw down a total of up to £850,000
from the council’s central reserves during the financial years 2025/26 and 2026/27
has been agreed. It is anticipated that drawing down the agreed £850,000 from
central reserves will be sufficient to enable the Local Plan to be progressed to
adoption.

6 RISK MANAGEMENT

6.1 A risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations has been
undertaken, in compliance with the council's decision-making risk management
guidance.

7  EQUALITIES

7.1 Preparation of the Local Plan to date, including the Reset Options document has
been subject to an Equalities Impact Assessment (EqlA) which ensures that the
council understands the implications for people with protected characteristics of
each of the options presented for consultation (see Attachment 3). The impacts
recorded through the EqlA will be taken into account in the next stages of plan-
making. An EqlA of the Draft Local Plan will also be undertaken at the relevant
time. The Local Plan is also subject to a Sustainability Appraisal (statutory
requirement) throughout its preparation that also considers, at a more general
level, equalities issues.

8 CLIMATE CHANGE

8.1 Helping to address the climate and ecological emergencies through contributing to
becoming zero carbon by 2030 e.g. reducing carbon emissions arising from new

Printed on recycled paper Page 13


https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2025-07/LDS%20June%202025.pdf

development; and facilitating nature recovery are key spatial priorities of the Local
Plan. Policy approaches or options set out in the document specifically aimed at
meeting these priorities were set out previously in the Options document
published earlier this year for consultation and also in this Reset Options
document. The reset Local Plan will continue to be underpinned by addressing the
climate and ecological emergencies, including through:

e Locating new development where it is best served by sustainable modes of
travel and minimises car travel

e Policy approaches to minimise energy use or carbon emission rates in new
development and ensure they are, as a minimum, zero carbon

e Options to help further reduce embodied carbon from all scales of
development

e Options to ensure that future development is resilient to and adaptable to the
impacts of climate change.

e Setting out policies that are aimed at better enabling the delivery of
renewable energy installations in the most appropriate locations

e Looking at how to increase Biodiversity Net Gain in new development and
working with the Local Nature Recovery Strategy to maximise nature
recovery opportunities/benefits

9 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

9.1 In progressing the Local Plan, the other option which was considered was
accelerating preparation of the Local Plan in order that the transitional
arrangements published by the government alongside the revised NPPF could be
met. However, it was concluded that this would be impossible in a way that
ensured the Local Plan would have been found sound at examination. Therefore,
progressing the reset Local Plan to the programme set out in the LDS (and
summarised in para 3.7 of this report) is the only appropriate course of action.

10 CONSULTATION

10.1 In preparing this Report the Cabinet Member for Built Environment, Housing and
Sustainable Development, the Executive Director for Sustainable Development,
the S151 Officer and Monitoring Officer have been consulted. It has been
cleared for publication by the S151 and Monitoring Officer.

10.2 As part of preparing the Local Plan Reset Options document the council has
engaged with residents and other stakeholders in explaining what a Local Plan
is, the implications of the revised NPPF and increased figure of housing need,
the need to reset the Local Plan, test and consult on additional options and the
next steps. The aim of this engagement prior to consultation on the Local Plan
Reset Options document has been to increase understanding of local plan-
making and to raise awareness of the issues to be addressed. It is hoped that
this will help to increase the reach of consultation and engagement moving
forward.

10.3 Broadening the reach of engagement and consultation on the Local Plan is
crucial. In particular, the council is seeking to better involve younger people and
families including those that don’t own their own home. Engagement and

consultation will also target seldom heard groups and ensure equality of
Printed on recycled paper Page 14



opportunity to comment. In broadening engagement, the council is using
innovative methods and has set a target of engaging 10% of the population in
the preparation of the Local Plan.

10.4 Consultation on the Local Plan Reset options document will take place between
34 October and 14t November. Consultation will be undertaken in accordance
with the council’s published Statement of Community Involvement, and a range
of innovative engagement/consultation methods will be used. These are set out
in more detail in the Communications and Engagement Plan (Attachment 2) and
include:

New tailored and user-friendly Local Plan web platform

In-person consultation events/exhibitions and on-line briefings

Roadshow going to various places across B&NES

Meetings with community representatives, including parish & town councils,

stakeholders and ward councillors

e Meetings and workshops with other stakeholders, including landowners and
developers and Duty to Co-operate prescribed bodies

e Tailored engagement with a number of seldom heard groups/networks

e Publication of documents for consultation and comment including via the web

platform above

10.5 The council will clearly communicate consultation on the Reset Local Plan
Options document and is also aligning it with other relevant consultations,
including the Movement Strategy for Bath and the Somer Valley Draft Design
Guidance Supplementary Planning Document.

10.6 Following consultation stakeholder engagement will continue in both preparing the
Draft Local Plan and through formal consultation on the Draft Local Plan under
Regulation 19. The programme for the next stages of Local Plan preparation is
set out in the Local Development Scheme which will be updated as necessary.

Contact person Richard Daone, Deputy Head of Planning - 01225 477546

Background Local Plan 2022-2042 Options document (February 2024):

papers https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Options%20Docum
ent.pdf

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an
alternative format

Printed on recycled paper Page 15



https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Options%20Document.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Options%20Document.pdf

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



Local Plan
Options
Document
2025

Cabinet Dispatch - September 2025




Table of Contents

Chapter 1 Introduction

Chapter 2 Issues, Challenges and Spatial Priorities

10

Chapter 3 Key Requirements

24

Chapter 4 Spatial Strategy

44

Chapter 5 Bath 16.09.25

77

Chapter 6 Bristol to Bath corridor 16.09.25

Keynsham

Saltford Village

Keynsham and Saltford Village area

Keynsham Site Options

Saltford Village Site Options
Hicks Gate

Whitchurch Village

Chapter 7 Somer Valley 16.09.25

Peasedown

Radstock

Writhlington

Westfield

Midsomer Norton

Paulton

Farrington Gurney

Chapter 8 Rural Areas 16.09.25

Bathford and Batheaston

Bishop Sutton

Chew Magna

Chew Stoke

Clutton and Temple Cloud

Farmborough

High Littleton and Hallatrow

Timsbury
Chapter 9 DM Policies 16.09.25

Page 18

144
149
151
154
165
195
207
223
255
269
282
201
299
305
316
320
329
349
353
357
359
362
366
370
373
377



Formatting Note:

The text within this document is based on the 2024 Options Document. New text and
sections are added shaded in blue.

Page 19



1. Introduction

What is a local plan and why do we prepare it?

1.1 The local plan will establish a strategy and framework for how communities
and places in Bath and North East Somerset will change and grow over the
next 15-20 years. It sets out planning policies that will shape any development
that requires planning permission. The plan identifies the need for new homes
and jobs, and the services and infrastructure required up-front to support
them. It provides strong guidance to developers and the council on where this
development should happen and what form it will take. It is about ensuring
that we maintain and create sustainable, vibrant and healthy places and

communities.

1.2 Change and development will happen whether we prepare a local plan or not.
We are preparing a local plan so that we can shape the location and form of
future development and help ensure that it is better supported by the timely
provision of necessary infrastructure. Without a local plan, speculative
development will take place in less sustainable areas, and in an unplanned
way. We also prepare a local plan in order to protect what is special about
Bath and North East Somerset, including its unique, high quality and

renowned natural, built and historic environment.

1.3 This local plan covers the whole of Bath and North East Somerset and will
establish the planning framework for the district from 2025 to 2043. It will
contain a vision, strategy and policies to guide and manage growth and
change; and will be the basis for how planning applications for new
development are decided. It will also play a crucial role in delivering the
council’s corporate priorities, including improving people’s lives, tackling the
climate and ecological emergencies, and preparing for the future in terms of
the economy, responding to housing need and addressing inequalities. The
local plan will be reviewed around every 5 years and updated where

necessary.

Page 20



How do we prepare the Local Plan?

1.5 We will prepare the local plan through consulting and involving communities
and a range of other stakeholders — giving people a bigger say in how the
area will change. Preparation of the local plan is governed by legislation and
will go through a series of stages which are summarised in the diagram below.
Following the resetting of the local plan, the diagram sets out the anticipated
timetable for each stage of preparation of the Bath and North East Somerset

Local Plan.

Page 21



Preparation of the Local Plan

Stage 1: Launch October Launch Document published and consulted on, to
2022 commence the preparation of the Local Plan.
Stage 2: Evidence October Extensive gathering and analysis of data, evidence and
Gathering, 2022 - information on key issues has been carried out.
Engagement and January 2024 | Engagement has been carried out with community
Options Formulation representatives and key stakeholders across the district.
Policy and site options have been formulated.
Stage 3. Options February Consultation on the previous Options Document.
Document 2024 -
Consultation March 2024
Stage 3A. Reset October Consultation on this reset Options Document
Options Document 2025 -
Consultation November
2025
Stage 4: Preparation | October Having taken account of responses received from
of Draft Plan and 2025 — May consultations, and further analysis of evidence, the council
Targeted 2026 will prepare a Draft Plan. Additional targeted engagement
Engagement with key stakeholders will also be carried out.
Stage 5: Draft Plan May 2026 — | A Draft Plan will be published, and consultation on this
Consultation July 2026 document will be carried out for a period of at least 6
weeks. The local planning authority may make changes to
the Draft Plan following the consultation, and may decide
to carry out further consultation if any resulting changes
are considered to be significant.
Stage 6: Submission | Autumn The final Draft Plan will be submitted to the Government
and Examination 2026 along with the supporting evidence base, following which
an independent Inspector will be allocated to assess the
soundness of the Plan.
Stage 7: Hearings Early 2027 The independent Inspector will hold an Examination into
the soundness of the Plan. The Examination hearings will
include evidence from anybody who wishes to make a
submission on any of the key issues or questions
highlighted by the Inspector. The Inspector will consider all
of the evidence and representations made through the
Draft Local Plan consultation process.
Stage 8: Inspector’s Summer The Inspector will assess whether the local plan has been
Report 2027 prepared in accordance with legal and procedural
requirements, and whether it is sound. The Inspector will
publish their recommendations in a Report. If the Inspector
has not recommended adoption, the council can adopt the
Plan in line with any ‘main’ modifications as suggested by
the Inspector.
Stage 9: Adoption Autumn The council will adopt the Plan at a full council meeting.
2027

Page 22




1.6 This document sets out options or all reasonable alternatives for addressing
the increased identified needs and policy approaches to help deliver healthy
and sustainable places. Not all of these options will be taken forward for

allocation for development in the Draft Local Plan. Its purpose is to elicit

comment and discussion around the Gptions presentedrAe previousiy

FeSpoRdingohelSSUCSIaISSARtAISISIEGENThe comments received during

this reset options consultation, as well as the comments on the spring 2024
options plus ongoing engagement with communities and other stakeholders,
will be used to help shape the Draft Local Plan. It is the Draft Local Plan that
sets out the council’s proposed site allocations and policies to shape and

guide change and development that requires planning permission.

1.7 Once approved by the council, the Draft Local Plan will also be subject to
formal consultation. Both the Draft Local Plan and comments received on it
will be submitted for examination by a government appointed Planning
Inspector. The Inspector will be examining whether the local plan is sound. As

defined in national policy the tests of soundness comprise:

e Positively prepared: comprise a strategy that at least meets
identified needs

e Justified: based on proportionate evidence

o [Effective: deliverable over the plan period and based on effective
joint-working on cross boundary strategic matters

e Consistent with national policy: as set out in the national planning
Policy Framework and other government statements

Page 23

~



1.8 Once it has been examined and subject to the Inspector’s conclusions, the
local plan can then be adopted. Once it is adopted, the local plan becomes the
statutory framework for determining planning applications. As the local plan
progresses through its stages of preparation it will start to carry greater weight
in determining planning applications. However, only limited weight can be
given to it in at the Draft Local Plan stage and more significant weight given to

it once it has been examined by an Inspector.

What opportunities are there to be involved?

1.9 The council is committed to giving people a bigger say and we have engaged
with community representatives in preparing the reset Options document. This
reset Options document is published for consultation (INSERT HYPERLINK)
over a six week period, from 2nd October to 13th November. We are
encouraging all residents and stakeholders to comment on the options we
have presented. This is a major opportunity to have your say and help
influence future change. There will be a range of in-person and web-based
events to explain and discuss the Options during the consultation period.

Please make sure you submit your comments by 13th November.

1.10 We will continue to work with communities and other stakeholders in
progressing towards a Draft Local Plan, particularly those places where
development may be focussed. Once prepared and approved by the council in
spring next year (2026), the Draft Local Plan will also be published for
consultation for a period of at least six weeks. As such, there will be a further
opportunity to submit comments on the Draft Local Plan. The comments
received and the Draft Local Plan itself are then submitted for examination by
a Planning Inspector. Those individuals and organisations that object to the

Draft Local Plan will have the opportunity to participate in the examination.

Page 24



Structure of this Options Document

1.11 The Options Document comprises chapters which set out:

The issues and challenges facing the area;

The overall priorities of the local plan (what it is seeking to achieve);
The development needs which should be planned for;

The approach to a district-wide strategy;

Chapters setting out options for growth and change in specific parts of

and places in the district; and

A chapter setting out options for a limited range of policies that would

apply across the whole of Bath and North East Somerset in determining
planning applications. This document only outlines new policy options that
were not presented for consultation in the previous Options Document
(Spring 2024)

Page 25


https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Options%20Document.pdf
https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Options%20Document.pdf

2. Bath and North East Somerset Issues, Challenges and
Spatial Priorities

2.1 The local plan will set out a strategy and planning policy framework to help
guide and shape future development and change, whilst also enabling greater
climate and environmental resilience and protecting and enhancing our high
quality natural, built and historic environment and key assets. In guiding
change the plan will be seeking to address key issues and challenges facing

Bath and North East Somerset and its communities.

2.2 New development can provide an opportunity to shape and improve places
e.g. by providing infrastructure needed by existing communities and creating
environments that promote health and well-being. The place we live in can
fundamentally influence our health and well-being, and shaping our
communities in this way provides an opportunity to influence and establish
positive behaviour, healthier lifestyle habits and inclusive communities.
Planning for climate and environmentally resilient places will also help to

reduce health risks.

2.3 The key issues and challenges facing Bath and North East Somerset and its
communities are summarised below and alongside the council’s corporate
priorities they have shaped the spatial priorities for the local plan — that is the
outcomes we are seeking to achieve. The spatial priorities for the local plan
were outlined in the spring 2024 Options Document. It is not proposed that
these should be changed at this stage and they are outlined again at the end
of this chapter. The spatial priorities will drive the site allocations, policy

framework and therefore, what the local plan will achieve.

Page 26
10



Key issues and challenges facing communities

2.4 Through research and engagement with community representatives and
stakeholders, the identified key issues and challenges facing the district are

summarised below.

Housing Affordability and the Economy

2.5 Across Bath and North East Somerset we know that housing affordability is a
key issue. Many residents are finding it difficult to access decent housing,
either to buy or rent, because prices are so high. Evidence shows that the
impact of high house prices is exacerbated by average median workplace
wages in Bath and North East Somerset being lower than those nationally. As
a result, across Bath and North East Somerset the average house price is
around twelve times the average workplace earnings and in Bath it is
nineteen. The lack of housing that is affordable for residents and workers not
only affects people’s quality of life, but it also directly impacts our economy.
The provision of additional affordable housing in B&NES is a major factor
influencing the overall level of additional homes needed, caused by a
combination of high market prices (both purchase and rental) and insufficient

supply in recent decades.

2.6 In addition to the lack of affordable housing, communities also raise the
requirement for smaller dwellings, both for smaller households wanting to
access their first home, as well as for older people that are seeking to

downsize.

2.7 Work underpinning the Economic Strategy shows that Bath and North East
Somerset has a resident workforce that is highly skilled, unemployment levels
are low and we are home to some nationally leading and significant
businesses and economic sectors. However, evidence also shows that our
economy is under performing (with growth being below that of the West of
England and the UK for longer than the last ten years) and median wage
levels are low. The causes of economic underperformance are complex, but in

terms of the issues the local plan can seek to address, these will include a

Page 27
11



lack of housing that is affordable and an insufficient supply of employment
land. These are challenges that need to be addressed to create a prosperous

and sustainable economy for the benefit of our residents.

Climate and Ecological Emergencies

2.8 Bath and North East Somerset declared a climate emergency in 2019 and is
aiming to be zero carbon by 2030. Four strategic priorities guide action to
reduce emissions — decarbonising homes, decarbonising buildings, increasing
renewable energy generation, and decarbonising the council’'s own
operations. Achieving this goal will be challenging, but there are many
opportunities for planning to support this journey. It is important that action is
taken at all spatial scales, both individually and at a neighbourhood or more
strategic scale. From a planning perspective this includes energy use and
carbon emissions arising from travel, existing buildings (e.g. retrofitting of
energy efficiency measures) and new buildings (operational energy and
embodied carbon in its construction). Additionally, planning can help facilitate
increased regeneration of renewable energy through free standing

installations, as well as on buildings.

2.9 Action on climate change must also consider planning for resilience to the
expected future impacts of climate change. The changing climate will bring an
increased likelihood of flooding, overheating, and extreme weather events that
are likely to become more frequent. Reducing the impact of these changes on
our communities and businesses will be critical, and there are opportunities to
achieve this alongside reducing emissions, improving people’s health and

wellbeing, and supporting nature recovery.

2.10 Bath and North East Somerset declared an ecological emergency in 2020 in
recognition of the significant declines in species and habitats recorded
globally, nationally, and regionally. The council is aiming to be nature positive
by 2030 and has set 3 priorities:

Page 28
12



¢ Increase the extent of land and waterways managed positively for nature
across Bath and North East Somerset

¢ Increase the abundance and distribution of key species across Bath and
North East Somerset

¢ Enable more people to access and engage with nature

2.11 Further information is set out in the council’s Ecological Emergency Action
Plan. The Nature Positive ambition requires innovation in planning, including
the use of new decision-making tools and new, more joined up and integrated
planning policy that delivers for people and nature. Evidence may be used to
identify areas suitable for the development as strategic nature parks to deliver

multiple benefits

2.12 The district has outstanding landscape character, including the Cotswolds
National Landscape and Mendip Hills National Landscape. It also supports
nationally and internationally important heritage assets including Bath, which
is a double inscribed UNESCO World Heritage Site comprising two World
Heritage Sites: the City of Bath (1987) and the Great Spa Towns of Europe
(2021). The district contains many areas of wildlife significance, including
internationally important bat sites in and around Bath and at Compton Martin,
and the internationally important bird site at Chew Valley Lake. Access to the
countryside and the natural environment, which can sometimes be
challenging, is highlighted by residents as being important for quality of life,

and health and well-being, including physical and mental health.

Page 29
13



Health and Well-Being

2.13 Bath and North East Somerset remains one of the least deprived local
authorities in the country, ranking 269 out of 317 for overall deprivation.
However, there are inequalities within the district, communities that
experience deprivation (both Twerton West and Whiteway fall within the most
deprived 10% nationally), and patterns of rural poverty are growing. Life
expectancy is 9 years lower for men and 5 years lower for women in the most
deprived areas of Bath and North East Somerset than in the least deprived
areas. Inequalities is a concern that has been raised by communities,
including in relation to an ageing population and people living longer with

multiple health and social care needs.

2.14 Whilst the health of people in Bath and North East Somerset is generally
better than the England average, residents still have important health and
wellbeing needs that the built and natural environment can play a role in
addressing. There are significant levels of obesity amongst both children and
adults in Bath and North East Somerset, meaning that whilst obesity is below
the national average more adults in the district are overweight than not. Large
numbers of both children and adults are not physically active. Residents also
self-report higher rates of anxiety and loneliness compared to the England
average. We also have an aging population with a relatively high proportion of

people aged over 55 that is projected to increase during the local plan period.

Page 30
14



Transport and Connectivity

2.15 Communities have made it clear that being able to access attractive walking,
wheeling and cycling opportunities/infrastructure, as well as frequent and
reliable public transport are key challenges across much of the district. This is
particularly true in the rural areas where improvements are needed to better
connect some villages to their surrounding villages as well as to the cities and
towns in Bath and North East Somerset. Through WECA as the Strategic
Transport Authority further investment and improvement across the district is
needed in public transport and active travel infrastructure to make them more
reliable, safer and more attractive, thereby enabling greater use. The
availability and frequency of public transport services, particularly bus services
in rural areas and the main growth corridors, is currently dependent on
external funding, which is subject to ongoing review and cannot be
guaranteed over the plan period. This uncertainty and potential impacts for
sustainability of development should be taken into account when considering

options for allocation in the Draft Local Plan

Page 31
15



Culture and Community Identity

2.17 Communities have identified that they value a sense of community identity

and belonging, which is important in reducing social isolation and loneliness
and creating healthy, vibrant and inclusive communities. The availability of
high quality, accessible public spaces and community infrastructure are
important in achieving this and are influenced by the planning system. Building
and maintaining community identity and local distinctiveness are challenges
that the planning system has an important role in addressing by encouraging
connectivity to creative venues and workspaces, protecting landscape
character, encouraging cultural activity, respecting local building styles and

materials, and setting a framework for the design of public spaces.

Page 32
16



B&NES Council Corporate Priorities

2.18 We adopted the B&NES Corporate Strategy in July 2023, which sets out our
overarching strategic plan. The corporate strategy sets out that the council’s

overriding purpose is ‘to improve people’s lives’.

2.19 In order to define and show how we will deliver the overriding purpose the
council has two core policies, three principles and nine priorities. The core

policies and principles which will shape our local plan are outlined below.

e Two core policies of tackling the climate and nature emergencies and
giving people a bigger say

Three principles as follows:

e Preparing for the Future — we will work towards a resilient, sustainable
economy that is fair, green, creative and connected

e Delivering for Local Residents - we will continually improve frontline
services across our communities, whilst protecting the most vulnerable

e Focusing on Prevention - we will invest in prevention across all
services to tackle inequalities and improve local areas

2.20 The spatial priorities of the local plan reflect the council’s Corporate Priorities
and seek to address the key issues and challenges outlined above. It is clear
that a transformative approach to plan-making is required to help deliver

against these priorities and the council’s commitments.

Key B&NES Strategies and Delivery Plans

2.21 Alongside the B&NES Local Plan, there are a range of other key strategies
and plans that the council is preparing which will help deliver our overriding
purpose and core priorities. Many of these strategies and plans are relevant
and relate to the local plan. The council will ensure alignment, wherever
possible, of the local plan with these strategies and delivery plans. These

comprise:

Page 33
17


https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Corporate%20Strategy%202023-2027.pdf

Strategy / Delivery Plan Status Owner
Corporate Strategy Adopted B&NES
Climate Emergency Strategy | Adopted B&NES
Climate and Nature Strategy | In development B&NES
Health and Wellbeing Adopted Health and wellbeing Board

Strategy and Implementation
Plan

West of England Local
Growth Strategy

In development

West of England Mayoral
Combined Authority

Economic Strategy

Adopted

Future Ambition Board

Business and Skills Plan

In development

B&NES

Greener Places Plan In development B&NES

(incorporating Green

Infrastructure Strategy)

Integrated Care Strategy Adopted BSW Together

Children and Young People | Adopted Health and wellbeing Board
Plan

Bath Swindon Wiltshire Adopted BSW Together
Implementation Plan

Health Improvement In development B&NES

Framework

Cultural Development Plan In development B&NES

School Organisation Plan Adopted B&NES

Childcare Sufficiency Adopted B&NES

Assessment

Ecological Emergency Adopted B&NES

Action Plan

Climate Emergency Action Adopted B&NES

Plan

Joint Local Transport Plan 4 | Adopted West of England Mayoral

(JLTP4) Combined Authority
West of England Transport In development West of England Mayoral
Vision Combined Authority
Journey to Net Zero Adopted B&NES

Transport Plan

Movement Strategy for Bath | In development B&NES

Housing Delivery Plan Adopted B&NES

Transport Delivery Plan In development B&NES

Creating Sustainable Adopted B&NES
Communities in North East

Somerset

Active Travel Masterplan Adopted B&NES

Tree and Woodland Strategy | In development B&NES

& Action Plan

Contaminated Land Strategy | Adopted B&NES

Bath Air Quality Action Plan | Adopted B&NES

Farrington Gurney & Temple | Adopted B&NES

Cloud Air Quality Action Plan

Air Quality Strategy In development B&NES

Page 34

18




Doughnut Economics Model

2.22 The council is looking to use the Doughnut Economics Model in underpinning
our approach to improving people’s lives and particularly in preparing for the
future. We will utilise Doughnut Economics in helping us to ensure we are
tackling the climate and ecological emergencies and in moving towards a
more resilient, greener and fairer economy. This means doing things
differently to how they were done in the past and carefully evaluating our
decisions and actions in order that they seek to meet or address our social
and economic foundations or needs, without exceeding environmental limits or
capacity. This approach is articulated through the Bath and North East

Somerset decision-making wheel.

Biodiversity Climate

Healthy

/ Good jobs tives and

| Air ' aarngioru Decisions| Water
! " i

Equality people o _\informed

and by .

respect evidence |
\ J
\\
\

Materials

&resources - & T
Community priorities Gaid & tal
an enpvironmenta

assets

Figure 1: Bath and North East Somerset decision making wheel

Page 35
19



2.23 The Doughnut Economics Model and the social foundations and
environmental limits set out in the decision-making wheel are closely reflected
and incorporated into the Sustainability Appraisal of the Local Plan. Local
Plans are statutorily required to be subject to a Sustainability Appraisal in
order that the sustainability effects of the plan can be understood, assessed
and demonstrated against a wide range of sustainability objectives, as well as
identifying how negative effects can best be mitigated. At this stage of the
local plan preparation process a Sustainability Appraisal is particularly
valuable in understanding the sustainability effects of different alternatives or
options and therefore, fundamentally informs decision making moving forward
to the Draft Local Plan. Preparation of the local plan is also informed by
assessment and tools that enable us to understand the comparative carbon
emissions impact of different options. This is important in helping to ensure

the local plan tackles the climate and ecological emergencies.

Spatial Priorities for the Local Plan

2.24 The spatial priorities for the local plan shape and articulate what it is the local
plan will achieve. As set out above they have been informed by the key issues
and challenges facing the area and our communities and are also shaped by
the council’s corporate strategy. The local plan will seek to help deliver
spatially what we aim to achieve through our other key strategies and plans
set out above and more widely, centred on improving people’s lives. The

spatial priorities of the B&NES Local Plan are set out below.

Page 36
20



Our local plan will plan for development in response to local needs to create attractive,
healthy and sustainable places in line with the council’s Corporate Strategy.

The Plan will:
Create a fairer, more prosperous and sustainable economy

Maximise the delivery of housing that is affordable

In doing so, our plans for development must:

Enable Bath and North East Somerset to become carbon neutral by 2030 and
deliver a climate resilient district

Protect and enhance nature through facilitating nature recovery

Improve health and well-being outcomes for all, including through planning
health promoting and inclusive places and providing for cultural
enrichment

Reduce the need to travel unsustainably and enable improved connectivity
for all through sustainable modes of transport and facilitating locally
available services and facilities

Respect, conserve and enhance our heritage assets and their landscape
settings, in particular the World Heritage Sites of Bath and National
Landscapes

Align the timely provision of transport, health, education, social, cultural and
green infrastructure with development

Page 37

21



2.25 These spatial priorities are clearly linked back to and will help deliver the

council’s overriding purpose and the core policies, principles and priorities

established in the Corporate Strategy. The relationship between the local plan

spatial priorities and the Corporate Strategy are illustrated in the diagram

below.

TACKLE
CLIMATE AND
ECOLOGICAL
EMERGENCY

GIVE
PEOPLEA
BIGGER
SAY

+ Maximise the
delivery of housing
that is affordable

+ Improved

connectivity for
all and reduced

= Align provision

of infrastructure
with

need to travel development
« Zero carbon by * Improved * Improved
2030 physical and connectivity for
+ Protect and mental health & all and reduced
enhance nature well-being for all need to travel
+ Improved » Zero carbon by
physical and 2030

mental health &
well-being for all

« Create a fairer,
more prosperous
and sustainable
economy

« Create a fairer,

more
prosperous
and
sustainable
economy

» Conserve and

= Align provision of

enhance heritage
assets

infrastructure with
development

Figure 2: Diagram showing relationship between local plan spatial priorities and the Corporate Strategy

Page 38

22



2.26 The spatial priorities underpin and will be delivered through the local plan site
options and policy approaches set out in the chapters that follow. They are
also unpacked in various parts of this Options Document and in the evidence
base, including through Transport Vision and Objectives. The approach to
transport is set out in greater detail in each place section. It is fundamentally
aimed at improving connectivity by sustainable transport modes within and
between existing places, and supporting additional development - by setting a
transport vision with and for our district, then planning for delivering the
necessary components to realise the vision. Investment to secure the up-front
delivery of infrastructure including that to improve sustainable transport
connectivity is necessary to unlock new housing and employment

development.

2.27 As set out above the overarching priority of the local plan will be to plan for
development in a way that delivers sustainable and healthy places. What we
mean by sustainable and healthy places will be set out in the Draft Local Plan.
The local plan is a key means to delivering successful place-shaping, enabled
by early infrastructure investment and delivery. Where necessary the council
will also look to use its Compulsory Purchase Order powers to help shape

places and achieve both our and communities’ objectives.

Page 39
23



3. Key Requirements in Bath and North East Somerset

3.1 Drawing from the issues and challenges facing Bath and North East

Somerset; the spatial priorities of the local plan; and a range of evidence, the

key requirements or needs that the B&NES Local Plan must respond to are

set out below. These key needs include:

a)

Forecast job growth in key economic sectors and the associated need
for employment space in order to help foster a prosperous, greener
and fairer economy

The need for housing as established by the government to address
existing and projected changes in the population and to respond to
the needs of different groups

Measures to help tackle the climate emergency that can be facilitated
through the local plan

The urgent need for and to facilitate nature recovery and
enhancement across the district

The needs of health and well being and the role places can have
influencing health outcomes

Transport requirements that are pivotal in making the district more
sustainable and delivering other societal benefits by enabling
movement and connectivity for all by public transport and active travel
(walking, cycling and wheeling)

3.2 The above list of key needs is not exhaustive. It is also important to note that

whilst the local plan will seek to respond to all of these needs, there may be

occasions where there is conflict between them. In these circumstances a key

role of the local plan is to establish a framework for balancing these needs

and to prioritise addressing them.

Page 40
24



West of England Growth Strategy







Jobs and Employment Space

3.15 The council has adopted an Economic Strategy which identifies key issues
facing the local economy such as lower than average wages, recent economic
under performance partly resulting from a shortage of space for businesses to
grow, and low productivity, as well as the availability of housing that is
affordable. It outlines how the council is taking action to change this and

drawing on the principles of Doughnut Economics will seek to transform the

Page 43
27



Bath and North East Somerset economy to one which is more prosperous,
greener and fairer. Through the Economic Strategy the council will focus its

actions in three broad themes:

e Infrastructure which supports a green and connected future
¢ Innovation that drives a creative economy

e Opportunity unlocked for everyone so that we are fair and inclusive

3.16 As such the strategy includes a focus on developing Bath and North East
Somerset to be a leader in green inclusive growth, upskilling residents and
providing them with the opportunity to access and thrive in good work and
outlines how the council will work with businesses and enable local

organisations to act on new market opportunities.

3.17 For the local plan and in the context of the Economic Strategy, evidence has
been prepared examining trends and forecasts in economic sectors and the
space requirements to be addressed through the local plan. It notes that the
district has experienced relatively weak economic performance over the 20-
year historic period compared to both the West of England and national
averages and it is likely that a lack of supply of suitable employment sites and
premises has contributed to this position (including industrial, warehousing
and offices). It reports of firms unable to locate or expand in the area, and
some companies having to relocate outside the Bath and North East
Somerset area in order to find suitable accommodation. The response to the

evidenced requirement for employment space to accommodate key sectors as

outlined below will be developed through preparing the local plan.

Page 44
28



3.19 Key growth areas for jobs based on the forecasts are in the human health

and social work employment sector; accommodation and food services

(hotels, restaurants and bars etc); Information & Communication;

creative/digital; and Professional, Scientific & Technical sectors. The latter

sectors in particular are those that can help drive innovation and a more
creative economy. In terms of sectors with a significant influence on

employment land the evidence suggests there will be some decline in

manufacturing and a decline in Transportation & Storage, alongside growth in

the sectors outlined.

Bath

Keynsham &
Saltford

Somer Valley

Rural

B&NES

Page 45




Floorspace | Land | Floorspace | Land | Floorspace | Land | Floorspace | Land | Floorspace | Land
(sq (ha) | (sq (ha) | (sq (ha) | (sq (ha) | (sq (ha)
metres) metres) metres) metres) metres)
Offices 74,000- 9-10 | 12,000- 2 7,000 0.8 9,000- 1.2 102,000- 13-
79,000 13,000 10,000 109,000 14
Industrial 15,000- 4-5 8,000 2 14,000- 3-4 33,000- 8-9 70,000- 17-
19,000 17,000 34,000 78,000 20
Warehouse | 23,000- 5 16,000- 3 15,000- 3 18,000- 4 72,000- 15
& Logistics | 25,000 17,000 16,000 19,000 77,000

3.21 Analysis has highlighted the ongoing need to deliver office, industrial and

warehousing space and hybrid business space suitable for meeting modern

occupier requirements, set against low levels of existing supply and historic

development. This has created a challenging environment for potential and

existing occupiers to fulfil their commercial property requirements within Bath

and North East Somerset, and in particular, the City of Bath.

3.22 In terms of office floorspace the evidence notes that it is also possible

additional floorspace will be released to the market as a result of workplace

transition following the rapid increase in hybrid working following the Covid-19

pandemic. However, there still remains a degree of uncertainty over the long-

term trend. Market evidence also indicates a strong preference for high

quality modern space in locations accessible by public transport and with

excellent amenity provision for workers.

3.23 In terms of industrial floorspace, there is currently a substantial under-supply

in Bath City, Rural Areas and the Somer Valley. The evidence notes that given

the constraints within Bath City, the Keynsham sub-area could play an

important role in meeting some demand. Keynsham may also have a role in

providing Research & Development space for growth sectors that can’t be

accommodated within the city. At the same time as developing new areas, it is

acutely important to protect existing industrial estates and sites.

Page 46

30




3.24 In relation to warehousing and logistics space historically there has been a
lack of warehousing development activity that has taken place across Bath
and North East Somerset. This is due both to its relative unattractiveness to

modern occupiers and constrained land supply in the right locations, with the

right access and infrastructure provision.

Need for Housing

3.26 The Economic Strategy also highlights that the lack of availability and
affordability of housing is a key issue affecting Bath and North East Somerset
and that this also impacts on the performance of our economy and wider
sustainability issues. In order to underpin the local plan an assessment of
housing needs across the district has been undertaken. This study is known
as a Local Housing Needs Assessment (LHNA) and it has been updated in
light of the government’s increased figure of housing need. The context for
assessing and meeting local housing needs is also set by the National

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).

3.27 The overall need for housing in B&NES set by the government’s standard
method is for around 1,500 new homes per annum, or around 27,000 over the

eighteen-year local plan period. This figure is derived from calculations by the

Page 47
31



government, which is based on increasing the existing housing stock by 0.8%
per year and adjusted upwards to take account of the affordability (or
unaffordability) of housing in B&NES. This is known as the ‘standard method’
housing figure. The standard method figure can vary year on year reflecting
changes in the existing housing stock and if the level of housing affordability

changes e.qg. if house prices rise or fall or incomes change.

3.29 The LHNA shows that a significant proportion of projected population growth

and therefore, overall need for new housing is comprised of projected growth

in the student population.

3.30 The accommodation requirements of students are different to those of the
rest of the population and for those aged 18-23 (primarily undergraduate
students) are typically provided through student bedspaces e.g. in the form of
Purpose Built Student Accommodation (PBSA). Given the significant projected
student population growth and specific accommodation requirements we are
considering options as to how this form of accommodation can best be
provided. The provision of additional student bedspaces in PBSA would count
towards meeting overall housing need (based on a government established

ratio of 3.13 student bedspaces is equivalent to one dwelling).

3.31 Based on population projections the LHNA suggests a growth in the student
population aged 18-23 of around 7,300. This would equate to around 370
student bedspaces per year. Although it is appropriate to understand the
overall student housing need arising from the projected growth of student
population based on long term trends, it is also important to ensure alignment

with the future growth aspirations of the University of Bath and Bath Spa

Page 48
32



University. The council continues to work with both universities to understand

their projected growth aspirations EiiGiCIGIOICIOIASCEHaINIMOICHIKSIAUtTE

3.32 The LHNA also provides more detail on the size, type and tenure of housing
that is needed, including information on the need for affordable housing (key

findings are summarised in paragraphs 3. to 3.24 below).

3.33 The plan period runs from 2025 to 2043. Some additional housing is already
planned to be built on sites with planning permission and sites allocated for
development in the current adopted B&NES Local Plan which runs until 2029.
Sites with planning permission or allocated are known as existing
commitments. Homes to be delivered on the existing commitments are
deducted from the housing requirement to calculate the number of homes
required to be planned for on new sites through the local plan. The spatial
distribution of homes to be provided by existing commitments is illustrated in

the map below.

. unAD Jau e i '-",_/,/", — p—— N ¥
| BRISTOL N - Zc =
< R a2 ==
<; l/ &7 \~V‘> Batheaston = /
NORTH \_( Whn(ch;&"‘-\,/ Keynsham 4 = r'."--,,-\. 3 /:_,
SOMERSET ','l"“".r.,,/'V'V ‘ T t". ,f:"“'\"‘"{--'-,? - Bathford
2 Keynsham - 602  EES——— P Eie
.J"( \rl’[ - — 3t & BATH "-\' Batham?ton
- ~~ 4 -* N
i\ BN Chew rar L b e stios Bath — 4444 =)
) \.‘ ( N o0 gy %% pensiord Rt :.._ —_ p ,l
!’\‘ N ! cr-e\". % Macksbury \ Engmc;;‘;q_‘ e {«‘
\ & for “Stoke Rural areas - 999 \ o SN
] = e : s
= El.lri) Farmborough Priston e , . WlL::-SHIRE
— Tt
] ~ - ks
on H S =S AN :
/ e - Llpt?l:Ion Timsbury N Freshford k_}
b'ey o
k. o C Temple : Hinton 7z
== S Compon Cloud e A ‘ Cha:nemouyx/ A
. West Harptree I e 7 J\
% . Farrington /-/" by
= - Bumey Somer Valley - 1052 o Y
e Y = (
(Easl Harptree/ N \,_ v _./{
e “
\u"‘/ Midsomer / ~
> Norton /[~ Westfield(
S Page 49 ~— SOMERSET

33



3.34 In preparing a local plan we are able to make an allowance for housing likely
to be delivered on small windfall sites, that is sites that will provide less than
ten homes and will be granted planning permission without being specifically
allocated for development. A windfall allowance over the plan period has
therefore been calculated. Up until 2029 and for the remainder of the adopted
plan period the existing figures from the published housing trajectory have
been used. Beyond 2029 a realistic and relatively cautious approach has been
taken based on past rates of delivery. Policy changes, including options to
review Housing Development Boundaries for the towns and villages, may also
affect likely small windfall site delivery. The small windfall sites allowance will
be kept under review in light of annual monitoring of housing delivery and

permissions. Further detail is set out in the Housing Topic Paper.

Overall housing requirement Around 27,000

Existing Residential Commitments (including small sites with 4,887
planning permission)

Expected Small Windfall sites (excluding small sites with 2,210
planning permission)

Sub -Total 7,097

Housing to be planned for on new allocations (includes Around 19,900
accommodation for students)

3.35 It is not just important to plan for the overall amount of housing that is
needed. The LHNA identifies that there is a significant need for housing that is
more affordable in Bath and North East Somerset and this corroborates
evidence underpinning the council’s Economic Strategy. Affordable housing,
as set out in the NPPF, has two main components i.e. housing that is needed

for households that cannot afford market rents or prices to purchase, plus

Page 50
34



those households that can afford market rents but aspire to own their own
home but cannot afford to do so. Based on both components the total future
need for affordable housing in Bath and North East Somerset is significant at
around 12,300 dwellings, representing around 46% of total general housing
need in the district (split as 67% of housing need in the City of Bath and 38%

of total housing need in North East Somerset).

3.36 Typically, the need for affordable housing of those that cannot afford to rent
or buy will be met by either social rented accommodation or shared ownership
homes (where the household buys a part share in the property). For those that
can afford market rent but aspire to home ownership their need is typically met
by either shared ownership or a discounted market housing product. The
government is now placing an increased emphasis on the delivery of social
rented accommodation in order to address the needs of those least able to
access the housing market. The LHNA provides more detailed information
around the different types of affordable housing need in both Bath and the rest
of the district. This shows that in Bath 45% of overall future housing need is
from those households that cannot afford to rent or buy and 21% is from those
that can afford to rent but aspire to home ownership. The equivalent

proportions for the rest of the district are 34% and 4% respectively.

3.37 With regards to the type and size of housing that is required across the
district the LHNA provides useful information split between the City of Bath
and the rest of Bath and North East Somerset. More detailed information for
specific places or parishes can be gathered through Local Housing Needs
Surveys. The LHNA identifies the largest proportion of housing that is needed
is for 3 bed houses (around 32% of overall housing need) in both the city and
the rest of the district. There is also significant need for smaller dwellings, 1
and 2 bed flats and houses, (around 18% and 24% of overall housing need
respectively) for smaller households e.g. younger people and older people

looking to downsize.

3.38 Finally, the LHNA also provides useful information on the significant need for

more specialist housing for older people, both market and affordable housing,

Page 51
35



as well as information on needs of those with particular accessibility

requirements.

Need arising from neighbouring authorities

3.39 The NPPF requires authorities to respond to and assist in meeting the unmet
needs arising in neighbouring areas, as requested through the Duty to Co-
operate, where it is reasonable to do so having regard to the principles of
sustainable development. In responding to this requirement the capacity of
Bath and North East Somerset to accommodate its own housing need, as set

out above, in a sustainable manner is highly relevant.

3.40 At this stage and with the exception of Bristol City Council the neighbouring
authorities to Bath and North East Somerset have confirmed they are seeking
to meet their objectively assessed need for housing within their respective
administrative areas. As such there is no request to help meet any of their
unmet need. Through the preparation of its local plan, Bristol City Council
have confirmed that they have capacity to provide around 1,925 dwellings per
annum, or 34,650 over their local plan period. This capacity does not fully
meet their locally derived housing need of 2,503 per annum or 45,054 over the
local plan period. Bristol City Council therefore, formally wrote to B&NES
Council and also their other neighbouring authorities of North Somerset
Council and South Gloucestershire Council in October 2023, to request that
we explore whether we could accommodate a proportion of their unmet locally
derived need of 10,404 homes. B&NES Council response to this request will
be carefully considered through the preparation of our Local Plan. Under the
government’s December 2024 revised standard method housing need figure

for Bristol City Council the amount of unmet need has increased.

Climate Change

3.41 The Climate Emergency Strategy sets out the four strategic priorities, which

are to: decarbonise buildings; decarbonise transport; increase renewable

Page 52
36



energy generation; and decarbonise the council’s own operations. Planning
should facilitate retrofit of existing buildings to improve energy efficiency, net
zero new build developments, and increased renewable energy generation

and storage to support our climate change ambitions.

3.42 Action to mitigate climate change cannot be taken in isolation of also
considering how the district will adapt to the changing climate. New
development, sensitive retrofit of heritage assets and increased renewable
energy generation must be designed for and be resilient to the future climate,
ensuring that their use continues to be sustainable. Improved resilience in the
district can be achieved through an increase in nature-based solutions and
green infrastructure, also supporting a range of further outcomes including

health and wellbeing and active mobility.

3.43 As part of the Climate and Ecological Emergency Strategies we're
developing an Energy Strategy that builds on studies identifying enabling
greater renewable energy capacity through the community energy approach
as the best delivery model. Aside from the Core Strategy targets of 110MW
electricity and 165MW heating, there is a widely used target of 300MW
installed capacity across the authority area that was identified to be of the
scale needed to help the area become carbon neutral. However, varying
external factors relating to decarbonisation of the grid mean that this figure is

likely to vary with time.

3.44 The council is part of a successful bid for Innovate UK funding for the West of
England area that will enable the development of a Local Area Energy Plan in
collaboration with the District Network Operator, that will identify detailed
energy needs in terms of demand and infrastructure relating to the energy
grids. This will help us to further refine our approach to planning and identify

priority areas for delivery.

3.45 The constraints relating to grid connections (in particular those above 1Tmw)
remain a consideration in the short term for planning, although changes in the

way reserved capacity queues are managed means that larger connections

Page 53
37



may be possible in shorter timescales and should not therefore be seen as a

barrier to large renewable installations.

Nature Recovery and Green Infrastructure

3.46 The Government is committed to an internationally agreed '30 by 30' target to

protect 30% of our land and seas for nature by 2030. In addition, the

government’s 25-year Environment Plan sets targets for restoring protected

sites to secure their wildlife value; creating or restoring other wildlife-rich

habitats; taking action to recover threated important species; and increasing

woodland cover.

3.47 These government targets are reflected in the nature recovery targets set for
the West of England, which have been adjusted for Bath and North East

Somerset.

émt situation:

WENP Nature Recovery Ambitions adjusted for B&NES
B&NES covers 26% of the West of England area

I

By 2030 we want to: By 2050 we want to:
Requires further investigation the abundance of priority species ’YQ Double the abundance of priority species
from 2020 levels by ¢ ’ from 2020 levels

Tree Canopy cover of
(woodland cover of )1

our semi-natural broadleaved tree and
woodland cover by

increase our semi-natural broadleaved
tree and woodland cover by 2,080 ha

of Priority Habitats 2

In addition to woodland, create 520 ha of
wildlife-rich habitat outside of the protected site
network

In addition to woodland, create 1,560 ha
of wildlife-rich habitat outside of the
protected site network

(or connectivity
opportunities) in the Ecological Network
within B&NES 3

Close at least of the NRN connectivity gaps
through the creation of new habitat

Close all the NRN connectivity gaps
through the creation of new habitat

in good status; © - in

moderate status;  in poor status 4

Ensure all water catchments are in at least
moderate ecological status, with half in good
ecological status

Ensure all water catchments are in good
ecological status

of SSS-sites in favourable
condition s

Ensure of designated sites are in
favourable condition

Ensure all designated sites are in
favourable condition

L.

-
Data sources: 1 Calculated using the Forest Research's Urban Canopy Cover Tool - Forest Research (2022) UK Urban Canopy Cover,

~
https://www.forestresearch. gov. ukiresearch/i-tree-ecoluk-urban-canopy-cover/

2 Caleulated from Bristol Environmental Record Centre (BRERC) data - Bristol Environmental Remrd Centre (BRERCJ (2021), Priority habitat mapping for the West of England, hitps://www brerc.org.ukfindex.htm

3 Westof England Nature Partnership (2022) Nature Recovery Network, hitps://wenp.org.uk

4 A number of these sub-catchments are only partly in B&NES - Environment Agency (2023), WFD Classification Status Cycle 2 Eoologlcal Status, hllps exuenence arcgis.com/experience/73ed24b6d 3044 16481241043 75ebed2/page/Classification/

5 Natural England (2022), Designated Sites View, Condition of SSSI Units in County AVON |, https:/ d.org. ul y,

Figure 2: Diagram showing WENP nature recovery ambitions adjusted for B&NES

3.48 New development will need to play its part in delivering these ambitions and
the council is considering requiring 20% Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) on sites
that meet a specified threshold. It should be noted that the government is

consulting on a proposal to simplify the BNG requirements relating to

Page 54

38



development sites of 10 to 49 dwellings or up to 1 hectare to help facilitate

small-medium enterprises (builders) deliver housing.

3.49 The Environment Act 2020 stipulates that each region in England must
produce a Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LNRS), which will ‘establish
priorities and map proposals for specific actions to drive nature’s recovery and
provide wider environmental benefits’. Local Plans must ‘take account of any
relevant LNRS.

3.50 The relevant LNRS for B&NES is the West of England LNRS, which covers
the unitary authority areas of Bath and North East Somerset (B&NES), Bristol,

North Somerset and South Gloucestershire.

3.51 The West of England LNRS has now been approved and will guide and
inform action for nature recovery. The areas mapped that ‘could become, of
particular importance for biodiversity’ within the LNRS will also be used to
define areas recognised as being of Strategic Significance within formal BNG

calculations.

3.52 The council is also considering introducing and using Natural England’s
‘Green Infrastructure Framework - Principles and Standards for England’
(Green Infrastructure Framework), which includes standards for accessible
greenspace, urban nature recovery, urban greening and urban tree canopy

cover.

3.53 It is estimated that we need an additional approximately 200 ha of accessible
greenspace across Bath and North East Somerset for the new homes (not
accounting for unmet housing needs in neighbouring authorities) if we are to

meet the accessible greenspace standard of 3ha per 1,000 population.

3.54 In planning for additional development we also need to assess and ensure
likely significant adverse effects on European protected species and habitats
are avoided or appropriately mitigated. This is addressed through a Habitats
Regulations Assessment (further information is set out in paragraph 4.15).

Page 55
39



Needs for Health and well-being

3.55 The places where we live and work have a significant impact on how easy it
is for people to live healthy lives, and influence our health outcomes.
Therefore, the local plan offers an opportunity to shape development to create
health promoting and inclusive places. Work is underway to explore how the
plan can best enable the delivery of strategic greenspaces to deliver for nature

and people.

3.56 There is a clear emphasis throughout national policy and guidance on health
and wellbeing in planning and placemaking. The NPPF states that planning
policy should promote health and wellbeing. Paragraph 96 outlines that this
should be achieved through promoting social interaction, making spaces safe
and accessible, and creating places that enable and support healthy lifestyles.
National guidance recognises health as a cross-cutting issue, which connects

with and can be promoted by many policy areas within the Local Plan.

3.57 Key priorities of the B&NES Health and Wellbeing Strategy (2023) are to
strengthen compassionate and healthy communities and create health
promoting places. This includes utilising the local plan as an opportunity to
shape, promote and deliver healthy and sustainable places and reduce
inequalities. It also includes developing the infrastructure needed to build
strong local communities and encourage proactive engagement in healthy

lifestyles at all ages.

Page 56
40



Transport Requirements

3.58 Transport systems and networks are essential in enabling everyday mobility
and access and they need to become increasingly sustainable and inclusive to
address climate emergency and social equity issues. The choices that are
made through the local plan are integral to the sustainability of our district as a
whole, including influencing where development is located, and how we
enable more sustainable travel choices for our existing and future
communities. Our district requires mobility of people, goods and services to
fulfil the needs of the population who live, work and visit B&NES. This demand
for mobility will increase as a result of housing and employment growth to be
facilitated through the local plan. This presents a core challenge to
accommodate this increased mobility need whilst supporting progress towards

our Climate and Ecological Emergency commitments.

3.59 Bath and North East Somerset has an ambitious aim to deliver the forecast
growth within the local plan as part of its drive towards the decarbonisation of
transport across the district. We cannot continue to predict and provide for
increased traffic capacity, because it enables further car usage, leading to car-
reliant communities and our places becoming dominated by private vehicles.
We need a change in approach where the transport network is rebalanced in
favour of sustainable modes, to provide more options for people to get around.
So, through this local plan, we will take a ‘vision-led approach’ by setting an
ambitious and aspirational transport vision with and for Bath & North East
Somerset, to support existing and new communities with attractive sustainable
transport networks and realistic alternatives to the private car. Our approach
follows the sustainable transport hierarchy. In the first instance, we seek to
utilise the Spatial Strategy, and the site selection process, to locate people
close to the services and facilities that they need, e.g. employment, education,
health, retail, leisure, public transport. The Evidence Base documents set out
greater explanation of the process we are going through to develop this
Transport Strategy.

Page 57
41



3.60 We recognise there are a range of challenges and opportunities for transport
across the district, and that there is significant variation in levels of
connectivity and car reliance. We also recognise that the planning process
can only directly apply to new development, or redevelopment, limiting the
scope of influence of the Local Plan. However, it is clear that to accommodate
housing and employment growth sustainably, we must enable people currently

making trips by car to choose a more sustainable alternative.

3.61 Addressing the wide range of transport issues and opportunities people face
across our district requires a holistic approach, delivered through the local
plan and a range of transport plans and programmes, including with the West
of England Combined Authority as the strategic transport authority and the
facilitators of significant transport investment from central government to

support growth.

3.62 We have embarked on a programme of transport strategy, scheme
identification and modelling as part of the local plan process. This Options
Consultation is a key stage in this process to test and further refine our
emerging transport vision for Bath & North East Somerset, for existing and
new communities. This will be via mapping the outputs of the adopted
Creating Sustainable Communities strategies for North East Somerset to the
community and other stakeholders. Following this, we will develop the
transport vision, strategy and evidence base further as we progress towards

the submission and Examination of the Plan.

3.63 We are also investigating strategic approaches to enhancing sustainable
transport across the district. This includes improving the function of the Park
and Ride sites to be “Transport Interchanges”, providing a greater range of
travel options than car to bus, and into-out of city centre. We have also
developed, consulted on and adopted an Active Travel Masterplan for the
district, to provide people with improved opportunities to travel by walking,
wheeling and cycling. The transport evidence base will also help set the vision

for public transport across the district, including for bus, rail and future mass

Page 58
42



transit as key components of shifting medium and longer length trips within
and outside of Bath & North East Somerset.

Page 59

43



4. Bath and North East Somerset Spatial Strategy
Principles and Location Options

Introduction

4.1 This chapter sets out the fundamental principles that will guide the strategy
across Bath and North East Somerset for accommodating new housing,
employment development and supporting infrastructure, whilst addressing
climate, nature and health and well-being needs. Sub-areas within Bath and
North East Somerset are identified and their potential role is briefly explored,
summarising key opportunities and challenges. Finally, site or location options
that might potentially contribute to helping meeting the overall development
needs (outlined in chapter 3) and therefore, a district-wide spatial strategy are
summarised. The site or location options are then explored in more detail in
the sub-area and place-based chapters that follow, including consideration of
how the options for new development can address issues and priorities

identified by communities.

4.2 Bath and North East Somerset has close relationships with the surrounding
area. Therefore, the spatial strategy for accommodating development within
Bath and North East Somerset also needs to be considered alongside the
strategies in neighbouring authorities’ Local Plans. The Unitary Authorities in
the West of England (B&NES, Bristol City Council, North Somerset and South
Gloucestershire), as well as Wiltshire and Somerset, will continue to liaise and
co-operate in considering locations for development and the cumulative

impacts.

Spatial Strategy Principles

4.3 The spatial strategy or approach to meeting development needs is
underpinned by and will seek to achieve the spatial priorities of the local plan
(outlined in chapter 2). Through the local plan, the council is seeking to plan
for and facilitate the delivery of housing that is more affordable and allied to
that, ensuring Bath and North East Somerset remains economically

prosperous and that the economy becomes greener, more sustainable and

Page 60
44



fairer. Development must respond to the priorities and needs identified by
government, as well as local needs and along with supporting infrastructure
must progress our transition towards carbon neutrality and climate resilience,
protect and enhance nature and promote healthy lives e.g. through minimising
the need to travel by car and enabling movement by walking, cycling and
public transport.

4.4 The factors or principles that are particularly important in shaping the choice of
locations for future development and which potential options have been and

will be assessed against are summarised as:

Page 61

45



4.5 These factors are broadly similar to those outlined in the spring 2024 options
document. However, they have been refined to reflect a more nuanced basis

for assessing potential locations or sites for development.

Climate change and nature

4.6 Tackling the climate and ecological emergencies remains a top priority for the
council. It is critical that any new development aligns with our aims to tackle
these emergencies. This will include how development is located and
designed to promote accessible, sustainable transport (as set out below), how
our new and existing buildings continue to be decarbonised and how
development makes a positive contribution to nature recovery. While
considering the challenges and opportunities for reducing our emissions, we
must also plan for the effects of changes in the climate that we are already
seeing and will continue to see. Flooding (see below), overheating and other
extreme weather events will increase in frequency and severity. Considering
these climate risks is critical to the spatial strategy in order to minimise the
potential climate impact in the locations of development. There is potential for
the plan to guide strategic provision of greenspace that can provide climate

resilience, nature recovery and access to greenspace.

Sustainable Transport Connectivity

4.7 Being able to move around by sustainable means of transport, that is walking,
cycling and wheeling or public transport, in order to easily access services and
facilities, as well as places of work is vital in seeking to minimise carbon
impact and addressing the climate emergency. Around 30% of carbon
emissions in B&NES currently relate to transport. Since the Covid pandemic
an increasing proportion of people work from home. However, at least some of
the time, travelling to work is still an important journey for many, as well as
regular journeys to access key services and facilities such as schools or local
convenience shops. The maps below from the 2021 census provide a useful
indication of the propensity to travel to work by car (as opposed to more
sustainable means), as well as the distances travelled to work. The maps

show that in 2021 a greater proportion of people travelled to work by car and

Page 62
46



travel a greater distance in the more rural parts of the district and also the

Somer Valley.

Mode of travel to workplace (2021 census) —
Map 2: Extract from 2021 census showing mode of travel to work by car

4.8 Analysis has also been undertaken of connectivity of different areas across
Bath and North East Somerset by sustainable means of transport to a range
of important services and facilities, as well as employment areas. In the spring
2024 options document, analysis undertaken by WECA was mapped and
used to inform the identification and assessment of development location
options. Since that time the Department of Transport has undertaken similar
connectivity mapping for the whole country. This connectivity analysis is finer
grained than that undertaken by WECA. The map below illustrates the results
showing comparative sustainable connectivity within B&NES which is broadly
aligned with those of WECA'’s analysis. The areas shown in red/orange are
the best connected by sustainable means of transport, moving through
yellow/green and then blue/black for the least well connected. The
connectivity analysis has also been used as the basis for assessing likely

carbon impact of development in different locations.

Page 63
47



Nailsea

jor

Backwell

|2m~ I

Faliand ] , Oldtand Common

Long Ashton

Flax Bourton

Map 4: Relative sustainable transport connectivity across B&NES

4.9 In the sub-area or place-based chapters that follow, each site option has been

evaluated and graded using the Department for Transport’s Connectivity Tool,
which by integrating transport and land use data produces a national measure
of connectivity for any location in England and Wales. This tool assigns each
location a grade from A to J, where A indicates the highest level of
connectivity within Bath and North East Somerset, and J the lowest. The
assessment is based on the current sustainable transport network and
existing land uses such as schools and shops, and does not take into account
planned or future improvements. The grading from A to J is not an overall
ranking of site options and in in assessing and selecting which locations are
taken forward for development in the Draft Local Plan the other factors or

principles outlined will also be considered.

Page 64
48



Flood Risk

4.10 Bath and North East Somerset includes many waterways. Ensuring that flood
risk is properly taken into account is another important factor influencing the
location of development and resilience to climate change. Flood risk is initially
considered through reference to the Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment
in identifying flood risk areas arising from all sources of water, for B&NES
these are primarily fluvial or river and surface water. The map below is taken
from the latest SFRA (2022) and identifies flood risk zones. This informs a
sequential approach to the identification of development locations, seeking to
avoid locating vulnerable uses (e.g. residential development) in those areas at

higher level of risk from flooding. The Level 1 SFRA is currently being updated

on ) | SFRA Map F - Flood Zone 2

[
|
‘ SFRA Map F - Flood Zone 3
|

| B

i SFRA Map F Flood Zone 3b

SFRA Map F Floodzone 3A

EA Main Rivers

/

BANES Boundary

O

to reflect the latest Environment Ag.ency flood zone mapping and allowances
for the impact of climate change to inform the Draft Local Plan. For some
potential development areas or options a more detailed or Level 2 Flood Risk
Assessment may be needed and this will also be undertaken to inform the

next stages of the Local Plan.
Map 5: SFRA Flood Zones

Page 65
49



4.11 Opportunities to mitigate increasing flood risks resulting from climate change
through nature based interventions will also be considered to inform the next

stage of the Local Plan.

Local food production/agricultural land

4.12 Enabling local food production has a number of important benefits e.g. in
terms of climate change and achieving carbon neutrality by reducing food
miles, as well as benefitting people’s health and well-being. In terms of using
land efficiently it is also important to avoid the unnecessary loss of high-quality
agricultural land. National policy makes it clear that the best and most
versatile agricultural land should be protected, wherever possible, from
significant development. The Agricultural Land Classification (ALC) classifies
land into six grades (plus ‘non-agricultural’ and ‘urban’), where Grades 1 to 3a
are recognised as being the best and most versatile land and Grades 3b to 5
are of poorer quality. Data from the provisional ALC shows that the majority of
B&NES is underlain by Grade 3 (good to moderate quality) land; however,
further clarity is needed in some areas as to whether this land is Grade 3a
(best and most versatile) or Grade 3b (poorer quality). The quality of
agricultural land will, therefore, influence spatial strategy and the choice of
locations for strategic development, although further information on quality is

likely to be required in preparing the Draft Local Plan.

Biodiversity and nature recovery

4.13 In 2020 we declared an ecological emergency recognising the severity of the
degradation of the natural environment and loss of wildlife, the consequences
of this, and the urgent need to take action to restore nature. Protecting habitat
and supporting nature’s recovery (including through Biodiversity Net Gain) are
important objectives for the council. Opportunities to better facilitate nature’s
recovery have been identified through the West of England LNRS (see also
paragraphs 3.49 to 3.51) and will be supported by new and amended planning
policy. The need to both protect priority habitats and species and facilitate

nature recovery influence the spatial strategy, locations for development and

Page 66
50



opportunities to plan for strategic greenspaces which deliver for nature and

people.

4.14 The West of England LNRS identifies the following areas:

¢ Areas that are already of importance to biodiversity. These are sites
that nationally are designated for their value to nature (SSSls, SACs
and SPAs), are designated as Local Nature Reserves; are locally
designated as ‘Sites of Nature Conservation Interest’ (SNCIs); and/or

are irreplaceable habitat including ancient woodland.

e Focus Areas for Nature Recovery. This is where action to recover
nature will have the biggest impact and is most feasible. These have
been mapped to reflect the priorities for nature recovery, and include
all of the mapped measures for nature recovery. The focus areas for
nature recovery are referred to as ‘areas that could become of

particular importance’ in regulation.

4.15 The identified and mapped focus areas for nature recovery may be of
strategic significance in delivering BNG and planning greenspace
opportunities for nature recovery. This will be further explored in preparing the
Draft Local Plan. The LNRS mapped areas are set out in each of the sub-area

or place-based chapters that follow.

4.16 The likely effects of the spatial strategy and locations for development on
European protected species and habitats must also be assessed through a
Habitats Regulations Assessment (published separately here). A Habitats
Regulations Assessment comprises two phases, a Screening Assessment to
identify whether there are likely to be significant adverse effects as a result of
development or at this stage of local plan preparation options for
development, and if there are, a full Appropriate Assessment. Given the scale
of growth that needs to be planned for because of the government’s figure of
housing need it is likely that a full Appropriate Assessment will be needed to

identify the impacts of development and mitigation measures. In preparing the

Page 67
51



Draft Local Plan the council will consider and liaise with Natural England on
the selection of locations for development and the approach to addressing
issues or effects that are identified through the Appropriate Assessment. The

approach currently being considered would involve:

e Development and publication of Special Area of Conservation (SAC)
Bat Guidance for B&NES

e Development of strategic mitigation projects to provide robust core
areas for SAC bat foraging and commuting incorporating some robust
grazing areas to support bat foraging, which could also provide some

access to greenspace

¢ Development of regional approach to lighting, including standards for
new highway/cycle paths infrastructure that may or may not need

planning permission

Comments are invited on the emerging proposed approach.

Landscape character impact

4.17 The landscape within Bath and North East Somerset enriches people’s lives
and is an important influence on the location and form of new development.
The attractiveness and character of the landscape should be maintained and
enhanced for its own sake and because of the role it plays in residents’ quality
of life and its economic benefits. The quality of the landscape is evidenced
through national designations shown on the map below, including the
Cotswolds National Landscape and Mendip Hills National Landscape. In
addition to these designations Bath and North East Somerset is covered by a
range of different landscape characters that are valued by those that live and
work in and visit the district, as well as important landscape settings to

settlements.

Page 68
52



Map 6: Map of B&NES indicating National Landscapes (green hash), and World Heritage Site boundary (inner
red boundary)

Page 69
53



Historic environment

4.18 In addition to the quality of its landscape Bath and North East Somerset has
an historic environment that is of international and national significance. This
is evidenced through a range of designations including the doubly inscribed
World Heritage Site of Bath, numerous listed buildings, conservation areas
and national Scheduled Ancient Monuments. The need to protect and
enhance the significance of these heritage assets, including their settings, is
also an important influence on spatial strategy and the location and form of

development.

Green Belt impact

4.19 More than two-thirds of B&NES currently lies within the designated Bristol-
Bath Green Belt. The Green Belt is designated to keep land permanently
open. National policy outlines the five purposes of the Green Belt,

summarised as follows:

e Check the unrestricted sprawl of large built up areas

e Prevent neighbouring towns from merging into one another
e Assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment
e Preserve the setting and special character of historic towns

e Assist urban regeneration by encouraging the recycling of derelict and
urban land
4.20 The Bristol-Bath Green Belt was originally designated in the 1960s, primarily

in order to check the unrestricted sprawl of Bristol and Bath and to ensure the
two cities and surrounding towns do not merge. Land can only be removed
from the Green Belt and allocated for development through a local plan and
only if ‘exceptional circumstances’ exist. The Green Belt in Bath and North
East Somerset has remained largely unchanged for many years, although
land has been removed principally on the edge of Bath, Keynsham and
Whitchurch for development through the B&NES Local Plan (2007) and Core
Strategy (2014).

Page 70
54



4.21 In December 2024 government set out some important changes to national
policy on Green Belt. While retaining the importance and permanence of
Green Belts the government requires local authorities to review their Green
Belt if the need for development (as established through the standard method
figure of housing need) cannot be sustainably met in any other way and is
seeking for the strategic release of lower quality Green Belt for development
to be considered. In identifying areas of lower quality Green Belt the
government introduced the new concept of grey belt. Grey belt is defined as
either previously developed land within the Green Belt or land that does not
strongly serve purposes a, b or d as set out above. Guidance on how to
identify areas of grey belt has also been set out by the government. In
preparing the local plan and considering whether land from the Green Belt
needs to be released for development we must do this sequentially, identifying
and considering land in sustainable locations that is previously developed grey
belt land, then other non-previously developed grey belt land, before

considering other Green Belt land.

4.22 Through its revisions to national policy government has also set out its
‘golden rules’ relating to the release of land for development. These require
that where land is released from the Green Belt for development an increased
proportion of affordable housing is provided (either 50% or 15% above the
proportion required elsewhere in B&NES); necessary improvements to local or
national infrastructure are made; and the provision of new, or improvements
to, existing green spaces that are accessible to the public. The improvements
to green spaces should contribute positively to the landscape setting of the
development, support nature recovery and meet local standards for green

space provision where these exist in the development plan.

Page 71

55



Page 72

56



Infrastructure provision

4.24 It is crucial that new development is served by the timely provision of
necessary supporting infrastructure e.g. transport, schools, health and social
care facilities, utilities (including digital), green infrastructure (Gl), etc. The
council is a direct provider of some of this infrastructure and will identify
requirements arising from any planned growth and seek to ensure timely
provision to address such requirements. In addition, the council will continue
to liaise with other external infrastructure providers e.g. utilities companies, in
order to understand current deficiencies or surpluses in provision; what the
infrastructure requirements are arising from new development; the most
appropriate solutions and the barriers to delivering these solutions. Where
barriers to infrastructure provision are insurmountable this would effectively
prevent development taking place. Information from these discussions is

referenced in the place-based chapters and in the Infrastructure Topic Paper

4.25 More detailed work on infrastructure requirements and delivery will be
needed as the local plan progresses and the potential location options that are
presented in this document are explored further. In addition to understanding
the infrastructure requirements relating to individual development locations it
will also be crucial to consider cumulative impact of development across a
wider area both within and outside Bath and North East Somerset e.g. in
relation to education and school places; health facilities; and transport.
Solutions will therefore need to address both location-specific and cumulative
impacts. At this stage the cumulative impact of development and infrastructure
investment and provision required has not been undertaken because the
choice of which development locations will be progressed has not yet been
made. This work will be undertaken in collaboration with key infrastructure
providers and agencies and will influence whether and how the need for

additional development can be met.

4.26 The council’'s Gl (Green Infrastructure) Strategy is being updated and will
guide delivery of the council’s Gl policy and prioritising areas requiring

investment, including the opportunity to plan for strategic parks or larger

Page 73
57



accessible green spaces to serve existing and new communities and provide

multiple benefits.

4.27 Ground conditions, including land contamination and stability will also
influence the choice of locations for development. Existing information has
been used to inform this process, including understanding whether existing
ground conditions are a ‘show-stopper’ for development or whether
remediation costs are likely be very high. Where necessary it may be that
more detailed assessments of specific areas to inform the Draft Local Plan are

required.

4.28 In considering potential locations for development existing land use needs to
be taken into account. Across the district the deficiency or surplus of land in
different types of existing use must be considered in ensuring the needs of
communities are met and a sustainable balance or mix of uses is maintained.
For example, important community assets such as recreational space need to

be protected or re-provided in an appropriate location.

4.29 In considering the choice of locations for future development it's important
that we take account of the connection between them and air quality. Air
quality must be considered at potential locations to ensure that we continue to
improve local air quality for both existing and future residents across the

district.

4.30 Local air pollution levels, air quality management areas and other air quality
information have been used to inform the process. Where necessary it may be
that more detailed information relating to specific areas and development use
classes is required including prior to planning permission being granted to

ensure cumulative air quality impact of developments are considered.

Page 74



4.31 Bath and North East Somerset is characterised by high quality and distinctive
places, which, as shown by discussion with residents and other local
stakeholders, have an identity that is valued by the local community. In
considering the location and form of development local character,

distinctiveness and identity needs to be taken into account.

Sub-areas within B&NES

4.32 The district comprises a range of settlements many of which are spatially and
functionally related to each other. Considering these relationships is important
in looking at potential locational options for development. In order to aid this
process and for the purposes of the Local Plan, Bath and North East
Somerset has been divided into four main sub-areas, which are based around
these connections and relationships. These broad sub-areas are illustrated on
the map below. Some of the key spatial issues, opportunities and challenges

in these sub-areas are briefly summarised below and are picked up in greater

detail in the chapters which follow.

59



Map 7: Map showing locations of sub-areas within B&NES

Bath

4.33 The City of Bath is the main economic centre and largest settlement within
Bath and North East Somerset. As such it is the driver for a significant
element of the housing needed in Bath and North East Somerset and is and
will continue to be a focus for economic or employment space. The need for
affordable housing is particularly acute in the city and as set out in chapter 2
this is the area of the district where housing is least affordable (with house
price to earnings ratio in the city being higher than the rest of the district). The
city also hosts two Universities, which also bring with them significant
opportunities but also major impacts on the city’s housing stock and
communities. Bath is also a double-inscribed World Heritage Site, has a
designated city-wide conservation area and is home to over 5,000 Listed
Buildings. Furthermore, the city is tightly surrounded by the Green Belt and
two-thirds of it is wrapped around by the Cotswolds National Landscape. Bath
supports key components of the Bath & Bradford on Avon Bat Special Area of
Conservation and the city retains significant wildlife interest particularly linked

to the river corridor, hillsides and green fingers that characterise the city.

4.34 There is substantial pressure for development arising from housing and
economic needs within the city, where land supply is limited and at a premium.
Brownfield sites need to be re-developed where possible and at optimum
densities in order to ensure such land is used efficiently, but in a way that
respects the city’s sensitive context. Most of the significant brownfield sites
have been redeveloped or are already committed for development and
therefore, relatively few substantial new brownfield sites are available for
development. Within this context the use of land within Bath needs to be
carefully assessed and the needs which should be met must be prioritised.
Opportunities for outward expansion of the city for both housing and
employment space need to be explored and are set out in the Bath chapter.
The villages that lie within the hinterland of the city are also of special
character and development opportunities are limited. Options for development

Page 76
60



and which needs should be met and how are considered further in chapter 5.
As is currently the case it is likely that residents in nearby settlements in key
transport corridors linking to Bath will look to the city as their main urban
centre and employment destination. The quality of sustainable transport
connections to these settlements needs to be enhanced in order to enable

sustainable movement.

Bristol to Bath Corridor

4.35 Settlements within the transport and river corridor that connects Bath and
Bristol, most notably Keynsham and Saltford village, but also other villages
closer to Bath relate well to each other and are accessible by public transport
in terms of people’s journeys for employment and services and facilities.
Crucially these settlements are also well linked to Bristol and Bath by public
transport, both bus and train from Keynsham. The south eastern edge of
Bristol, in particular the Hicks Gate/Brislington area, also lies not far to the
north west of Keynsham. In addition to this area the village of Whitchurch lies
close to the south eastern edge of the City of Bristol. However, whilst it is
relatively well connected into Bristol it is important to remember that
Whitchurch village (like other villages) is a separate and distinct settlement
and community. The corridor between Bristol and Bath is also identified as a

priority growth zone in WECA'’s emerging Local Growth Strategy.

4.36 The comparatively good public transport links are an important characteristic
of this part of the district. However, it should be noted the main highway routes
also suffer from congestion, especially at peak times. Therefore, investment is
needed to further improve public transport services and active travel links. The

potential opportunities are discussed in chapter 6.

Page 77

61



4.38 The River Avon corridor and supporting sub catchments are an important

ecological network for the region, connecting Bath to Bristol and the
communities between. The River Avon corridor also provides an important
recreational route and sustainable movement corridor that can be enhanced
for active travel for existing and new communities, and for boat dwellers living
on the river. The River Chew, which is particularly relevant in having helped to

shape Keynsham, is an important tributary of the River Avon.

Somer Valley

4.39 The Somer Valley lies in the southern part of Bath and North East Somerset
and adjoins the Somerset Council administrative area. For the purposes of the
local plan, the Somer Valley area focusses on the six closely connected
settlements of Midsomer Norton, Radstock, Westfield, Peasedown, Paulton
and Farrington Gurney. Other villages in the wider Somer Valley (such as
High Littleton and Timsbury) are considered in the rural areas sub-area (see
below). The Somer Valley has a rich mining and industrial heritage and a
locally distinctive character, including a number of derelict coal batches of
wildlife and cultural interest. It is important that the character of each

settlement is respected in considering potential development locations.

4.40 There has been considerable recent housing growth in the area, delivered on
a piecemeal basis, without the necessary supporting infrastructure keeping

Page 78
62



pace. In addition, out-commuting from the area to work is relatively high and
has increased in recent decades due to economic restructuring within the

area.

4.41 The Somer Valley is connected to Bath and Bristol by two major transport
corridors (A367 and A37) and is comparatively well served by public transport.
Rural communities within the Somer Valley have recently seen a decline in
bus services under the current private commercial operating model. To
address this, further significant investment is needed to improve public
transport. In addition, improvements to the active travel network are required

to enhance connectivity and safety.

4.42 The Somer Valley is identified as a growth zone in WECA’s emerging Local
Growth Strategy. It is important to improve local employment opportunities,
including through delivery of the Somer Valley Enterprise Zone. Options for
additional housing, employment space and the required infrastructure
improvements are outlined in chapter 7. Additionally, nature recovery and

greater public access to greenspace must be delivered.

Rural Areas

4.43 A significant proportion of Bath and North East Somerset is rural in nature.
The rural areas are made up of several areas of attractive and distinct

landscape and settlement character (e.g. the Chew Valley), as well as the

Mendip Hills and Cotswolds National Landscapes. SpatigiNianciunctonaiy
some villages are linked. This means that the rural areas can be further sub-
divided based on character and/or spatially and functionally, further detail is
set out in chapter 8.

4.44 Areas of strategic importance for nature recovery have been identified
through the Local Nature Recovery Strategy and through the work of the
Bristol Avon Catchment Partnership, and West of England Nature Partnership.
The high quality of the environment and opportunities to access the

countryside, as well as the strong sense of community identity in villages, are

Page 79
63



important to local communities. The connectivity by public transport from
villages to larger urban centres is variable and is poor in some of the smaller
villages, which also lack services and facilities that can be accessed by

walking, cycling or wheeling.

4.45 As is the case across the district as a whole there is a lack of affordable
housing available in order to help meet local needs. Some housing
development in villages can provide much needed affordable housing, as well
as help to keep services and facilities viable and operating. However, it is
important that any development in the rural areas meets the needs of those
communities, respects locally distinctive character and is primarily focussed
on those villages that are better connected through sustainable means of
transport and have better access to key services and facilities. POVISIONO!

Page 80
64



Location Options

4.46 Through the selection of location or site options that can help to meet the
overall need for housing, employment development and supporting
infrastructure we must ensure that the Plan’s spatial priorities are achieved.
The key principles or factors outlined in the ‘Spatial Strategy Principles’
section above have shaped the choice of settlements and location options.
Specifically, relative sustainable transport connectivity and travel distances to
employment opportunities and a range of key services and facilities was the
starting point for identifying settlement and then location options to help
minimise carbon impact. Consideration of the performance or impacts of these
locations against the other spatial strategy principles, as well as a broader
range of sustainability criteria has been undertaken and has influenced the
selection of location options. The assessment of options (or ‘reasonable
alternatives’) is outlined in supporting documents, importantly including the
Sustainability Appraisal, the Housing and Employment Land Availability
Assessment (HELAA) and the Area of Search Assessments/Topic Paper.

4.47 Through the HELAA a broad range of opportunities or sites across Bath and
North East Somerset have been considered; in terms of their suitability,
availability and achievability. The sites considered encompass those that have
been submitted as potential development opportunities by landowners,
developers and other stakeholders, supplemented by sites identified by the
council where land in sustainable locations (primarily adjoining the main
settlements) has not been submitted. The map below illustrates the range of

HELAA sites considered across the district.

Page 81
65



\'N 7N / 7 /nshtun;-

Jo— \ K\: L,Bﬂgllﬂglﬂﬂ @ \'ﬂ‘r- P \ !'.{r€1fllllllllﬂ:\j

,".‘ Colern

F|dl Buurluu
.kwell

". ) Banow
_'u‘ U's Gurney %undry

Lulsgdlu ] v )
Botlom/ / .
: | l ok | Mortor [

Malreward

Englishtgi
l|lg|egha[c1

/ N Hinton
\\ 7 Pr] ulyﬁ‘\\
A U'!elluw/\.\-/-v

pasedown

7 I/I'-Itemin_gkm

7/

1A )
Hardinaton

Map 8 — HELAA map

Page 82

66



4.49 HELAA sites that lie elsewhere in the district, perform poorly against the
spatial strategy principles or are otherwise constrained have not been
identified as options. It should be noted that only locations or opportunities for
strategic development (rather than smaller, more local sites) are shown on this

map.

4.50 In addition, options for non-strategic development, primarily in the Somer
Valley and at the comparatively more sustainable villages are set out in the
relevant place-based chapter. Where possible site options in villages have
been identified and assessed through working with local communities. In order
that a supply of deliverable sites for housing can be demonstrated it is
necessary to identify a diverse range of sites, both larger, strategic sites which
may take a little while for housing to be delivered and some smaller, non-
strategic sites that are capable of coming forward for development more

quickly.

Page 83
67



OUTH

,

- o Ul ' ’:T " %

A o« g 7 ’
.)f itchufah % II !;v /%“
: . ki . n*. ‘._,

= ; 3

Pensford

' Marksbury.

> ?

Rural Areas
ﬁFan’nbomugh

‘Clutton

" /
ko
.:‘i ‘ Timsbut 79
. d@ T HightLitiston / Z /
74 : L" e <
p Temple Cloud . Camerton i
4 K ; |
” - %analmw > . easedown 7 o
--{Hmlun Blewett . Paulton .
E o

Farrington Gurne o
-l|..|l||?||l||||'. "Mﬂ!!
5

&L Radsfpck

/ | : "'Mi:dsomer N ; ‘|iii'
' ' : & SOMERSET
> | |

A

Map 9: Map showing locations of strategic site options

4.51 The location or site options illustrated on the map are also listed by sub-area

in the table below. iiCIOfdCHINMNEIEbISIGOESINONNGICAISIENEVEIoN

place-based chapters that follow the sustainable transport connectivity is

identified and illustrated on the location options maps and concept diagrams.

Page 84
68



4.52 The table below also includes an indicative estimate of housing and/or
employment space capacity. This indicative capacity is based on assumptions
regarding both development densities and the proportion of a site on which
built development will take place. At this stage the capacities are only
indicative as further work needs to be undertaken on masterplanning the sites
and testing their cumulative impacts and associated infrastructure
requirements (this can only be progressed once we have certainty on which
sites will be allocated). This work will be done to inform the Draft Local Plan.
For the site options identified specifically for employment uses the
employment space capacity or area is set out and for the other strategic sites
only the housing capacity is set out in the table. On some of these strategic
sites a greater mix of uses and potential employment space provision may be
appropriate. These sites are indicated with an asterisk in the table and further
analysis will be undertaken in preparing the Draft Local Plan to identify the

amount and type of employment space that could be appropriately provided.

4.53 Only strategic site options are individually listed in the table below. In
addition, a range of smaller, non-strategic site options are referenced in the
place-based chapters and the capacity of these sites also need to be included
in identifying the total housing that could be delivered through the options
presented. In total they could theoretically provide between 17,550 and 22,810
new homes against a requirement to allocate land for at least 19,900 to meet

the government’s figure of housing need.

4.54 Further information on the wider sustainability effects of the location options
below is set out in the Sustainability Appraisal (available separately on the
council’'s website) and in preparing the Draft Local Plan we will also be
considering the carbon impact of the different options. The performance of
locations in terms of sustainability and carbon impact also gives a useful
indication as to how well they align with the Doughnut Economics Model. It
should also be noted that the table below does not include brownfield sites
within Bath, smaller ‘non-strategic’ sites that could be allocated in the Somer

Valley (see chapter 7) or at the most sustainable villages (see chapter 8).

Page 85
69



These sites, alongside the location options below, would also contribute to

meeting the need for new homes.

Location Option Existing New sites - New sites - appx.
housing appx. housing employment
commitments | capacity space provision

Bath 4,293

West of Bath* 900 - 1,950

Non-strategic sites, including 780 - 800

Purpose Built Student

Accommodation

Odd Down 2-5ha

Bristol to Bath Corridor 602

Hicks Gate* 1,200 — 1,550

North Keynsham* 1,900 — 2,400

West/South West Keynsham 1,000 — 1,300

South East Keynsham 400 - 550

Non-strategic sites in Keynsham 100 - 130

West Saltford (north of A4)* 300 - 350

West Saltford (south of A4)* 650 - 850

South Saltford 350 - 450

(West Whitchurch (Whitchurch 350 - 450

Option 1)

East Whitchurch: Horseworld and —-1,000-1,300

Woollard Lane (Whitchurch

Option 2)

North Whitchurch: Staunton Lane 350 - 400

(Whitchurch Option 3)

South East Whitchurch 1,950 — 2,500

(Whitchurch Option 4) *

Stockwood Lane 300 - 400

Somer Valley 1,052

South Peasedown (south of the 550 -700

by-pass)

South west Peasedown (north of 250 - 300

Bath Road, A367)

Bath Business Park extensions 7ha

North Radstock 1,250 — 1,550

Writhlington 950 - 1,150

Westfield Industrial Estate 6ha

extension

North of Midsomer Norton* 1,000

Farrington Gurney South 400 - 500

Somer Valley (non-strategic 950 - 1,200

sites)

Rural Areas (non-strategic 999 670 — 2,030

sites incorporating possible
longer term phases)

Page 86

70




Table 2: summary of site capacity ranges

Note - sites shown in italics are employment space options and those with asterisk
are strategic sites that could be mixed use with a strategic employment role
4.55 The location options summarised in the table above are explored in greater
detail in the place-based chapters that follow. Each of the options could play a
role in helping to meet the identified overall housing and employment
development requirements. We are seeking your comments on each of these
location options and whether you consider they represent a good opportunity

to address our need for housing and/or employment opportunities. SOMEIol

4.56 Some of the location options listed and assessed (alongside other smaller
non-strategic sites referenced in paragraph 4.30 above) will together comprise

a district-wide approach or strategy in meeting development needs. [NSISEHOu

COMENMORNAIEl The district-wide strategy will be set out in the Draft Local Plan

published later in the year.

4.57 In order to inform the selection and preparation of the most appropriate
spatial strategy in the Draft Local Plan the sustainability of different
combinations of locations or strategy approaches across the district is tested
through the Sustainability Appraisal (INSERT LINK).

Page 87



4.58 The testing of different strategy approaches through the Sustainability
Appraisal enables the likely sustainability effects and advantages and

disadvantages of different approaches to be identified.

4.59 Five strategy approaches are tested. These comprise two approaches which
require significant release of land from the Green Belt (if justified by
‘exceptional circumstances’) in seeking to meet the standard method derived
housing need and associated job growth outlined in chapter 3,. An alternative
approach is tested that could potentially accommodate a higher level of
growth, should this be necessary, and finally two approaches which are less
reliant on Green Belt release that accommodate a lower level of growth e.g. if
this is established as appropriate in light of cumulative impacts and associated
infrastructure requirements of development. Comments are sought on both
the individual location options, as well as the B&NES wide spatial strategy
which should be pursued in the Draft Local Plan and the related role of the
different sub-areas. The strategy approach and location options are also
subject to Habitats Regulation Assessment to identify likely effects on
European protected species and habitats and to help identify potential

mitigation approaches (see paragraph 4.15 above).

4.60 In addition, and as set out below the council is also considering whether one
or more new settlements should form part of a longer-term strategy for
meeting future development needs primarily beyond this local plan period (see
new settlement methodology section below). This also need to be considered

on a regional basis through the WECA Spatial Development Strategy.

New Settlement Methodology

Page 88

72












Page 92

76






Page 94

78



Strategy Overview

5.5 The local plan is an important statutory document that sets out the key
issues, the council’s emerging vision and priorities, and the spatial strategy
for how this should be delivered. There are a number of complex and critical
issues and challenges facing Bath, and a range of priorities that have
emerged in discussions throughout the council and through a period of

stakeholder engagement.

5.6 It is a key role of the local plan to allocate new sites and protect existing sites
for particular types of development and this is informed by robust evidence.
The local plan will also set out the specific requirements that each site needs
to fulfil. This is complementary to content elsewhere in the local plan,
particularly the Development Management sections that cover specific

subject areas.

Page 95






Page 97

81






Place Profile

512 Economic growth in the last ten years has been sluggish and our
lower-than-average wages cannot keep up with escalating costs of local
housing. The council’s Economic Strategy signals a new approach to local
economic development which prioritises meeting the needs of all our
residents and places whilst reducing impacts on our natural resources and

environment.

5.13 The city has a vibrant cultural offer which supports its important role as
a domestic and international visitor destination that attracts over 6 million
visitors annually. It is a successful regional shopping destination, with below

average vacancies.

Page 99



Page 100



- J L N Ll
1 Lake House 1
% Hm:’: I ) ?
£ - o{ndh \
L \h
.Kv\s i N
1 I\
%&'
1 "y
. ‘411 _I = .
| -
B s
Ckm?¥ Green
— ‘
L L I
- ] T # K’ _‘—
FF T ‘_‘T’é;\g;shmmne S e r
A \ Vg fl 7 (S S —
» / AT
T T ; ' :‘DEANES Boundary
ENTg dnEn S
" AR 8- ~ ‘:l Bath City WHS
REAN" u |:|WHS Indicative Extent
--E Y pem —. ‘—" K » i = T =T @f LNRS Focus Areas for Nature
I Mg TR e B T i Recovery
%{ﬁ S\ . 7 | . b Y2 v e < LNRS Areas of Importance
l‘ - {l ‘rk N Te"Acre"cn\{:aes L IBE *‘ - ] ] EHEY A g :; \ to Biodiversity
7 i 4 [ I ] i R £ Strategic Site Options
i Nk - - _
517 There is a comprehensive network of liveable neighbourhoods that

support the local needs of the resident population and provide day to day
facilities within close proximity to where people live.

5.18 Bath has two universities that together represent approximately 25% of
the residential population. The University of Bath is the second biggest
employer in the city. Whilst the universities bring many benefits that include a
thriving student population that support a vibrant city, the expansion of both
the universities creates tensions in other areas of city life. Significant
pressures include the effect of this expansion on the existing housing stock
and on development sites that need to be prioritised for housing that is

affordable, and for meeting the employment needs through new office and
industrial development.

Page 101
85



5.19 Traffic congestion in the city is a major challenge that has affected air
quality resulting in an Air Quality Management Area. There is significant in-
and out-commuting. Bath benefits from a mainline railway station with a half
hourly service to London and frequent connections to Bristol, Keynsham and
towns in Wiltshire. Bristol international airport is proximate to the city
providing a national and international gateway to the city and region. Itis a
very walkable city and the city benefits from a number of strategic cycle
routes: the Bristol to Bath Railway Path, the Kennet and Avon Canal and the

Two Tunnels Greenway.

5.20 In formulating the spatial strategy for the city, a sound starting point is
to review the existing spatial strategy for Bath and to identify where there are
policy gaps, where it needs to be re-written and other areas where it's robust

but might need evolving.

5.21 As with other places across the district there is a broad range of
evidence that informs policy choices including: Climate Emergency Strategy
& Ecological Emergency Action Plan, Local Housing Needs Assessment
(LHNA), Economic Needs Assessment, Journey to Net Zero Transport
Strategy, Health & Wellbeing Strategy, Economic Strategy and Cultural
Strategy. Some other strategies are in the process of being commissioned

including the Sustainable Tourism and Visitor Accommodation Strategy.

Page 102
86



Key Issues

5.22 Bath is of global importance, recognised by its double inscription as a
World Heritage Site. This is an international designation which transcends
national boundaries. In addition, the city has over 5,000 listed buildings, and
an extensive conservation area that covers two-thirds of the city. Itis
surrounded by the Cotswold National Landscape around three sides, which is
characterised here by a highly complex and often very steeply sloping
landform, and also the Green Belt. Whilst these are positive aspects of the
city’s character, a consequence of this is that there are limited opportunities
for outward expansion and there is not enough land available to meet all of
the city’s objectively assessed needs and so priorities need to be made. One
of the key roles of the local plan is to prioritise and set out the spatial

distribution of different uses within the city.

5.23 House prices in the city are very expensive and many people who work
in the city have to or choose to live elsewhere to meet their housing needs.
The Local Housing Needs Assessment (LHNA) identifies that the total need
for affordable housing, comprised of social rent and low cost ownership, is
very significant and represents 77% of total housing need in Bath. The
Housing Mission Delivery Board has been established in B&NES to unite

organisations from across the housing sector, including anchor institutions, to
deliver more affordable housing that addresses needs. [fiSialsolimportantto

5.24 The Economic Strategy sets out ambitious proposals to address Bath’s
specific economic challenges and create a fairer, more prosperous and

sustainable economy focussing on innovation and creativity. OUFStrong

networks and'restltinglin'eongestion! There is an identified need for more

high quality office space in central locations, and industrial/hybrid business

floorspace at a broad range of scales for established, growing and emerging

Page 103
87



sectors, to meet the city’s economic ambitions. ASifeferenced above, central

5.26 The city suffers from significant traffic congestion. 75% of people

driving to work in Bath do so from outside of the city resulting in heavy
congestion on those key corridors into Bath such as Bathwick Street, London
Road, Lower Bristol Road, and the Wellsway. In 2002 an Air Quality
Management Area was declared and to improve air quality a Clean Air Zone
was introduced in 2021 due to continued exceedances of the legal limits of
Nitrogen Dioxide.

5.27 The effects of climate change are expected to bring increased flood
risk, surface water run-off and land slip. These need to planned for and

managed, where possible using nature-based solutions.

5.28 The role of green space and nature recovery in supporting, invigorating
and enhancing the city is critical to address the ecological emergency and
providing access for people.

Page 104
88



5.29 Parts of some wards in Bath experience inequalities in health and
wellbeing outcomes, including Twerton, Whiteway and Foxhill, and the built

and natural environment can play an important role in addressing inequalities

5.30 There are existing residents within and outside of Bath who feel
disconnected with or do not utilise all that Bath has to offer. The role of the
built and natural environment in promoting places that are inclusive to people
of all ages, abilities and educational attainment, as well as being health

promoting more generally, will be important.

Page 105
89



EMEIGIRGVISISRERG Priorities

5.32 Many of the priorities listed can be addressed by new development,
and site or policy approach options have been selected to respond to the
priorities. However, there are some priorities that won’t be addressed through
new development but will be addressed through other policies in the local
plan, or by strategies or initiatives undertaken by the council or by other

stakeholders.

e Provide the space to help diversify and grow our economy within ecological
and environmental limits. This will need to reflect our wide variety of needs
from city centre offices and workspaces to larger industrial premises,

advanced engineering, R&D and lab spaces.

Page 106



e Deliver the right homes in the right places ensuring a greater diversity and
choice of high quality, low carbon housing that is more affordable to meet the
needs of residents. As is the case across the district it is important that we
build new homes and to enable greater levels of building retrofit so that they

are efficient to heat and that use clean energy, and which are fit for the whole

life-course (young people, families, and into older age).

e Set out a positive strategy for the conservation, enjoyment and understanding
of the historic environment, and sustain and enhance the significance of the

city’s heritage assets including:

o The OUV of the doubly inscribed World Heritage Site and its landscape
setting, its listed buildings, the Bath Conservation Area and its setting,
archaeology, scheduled ancient monuments and historic parks and

gardens, and non-designated assets of local interest and value.

e Support the Bathscape vision with policies and supporting guidance to
protect, promote and deliver the ambitions for a ‘Landscape City’. This

requires a transformational approach which will deliver nature recovery and

Page 107



climate resilience. By increasing the extent of land and waterways managed
positively for nature and by protecting natural assets through investment in
nature based solutions and wildlife friendly interventions that improve
ecological network connectivity, the city will address the need to increase the

abundance and distribution of biodiversity.

Ensure policy that supports the delivery of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy,

and as a ‘Wellbeing City’, ensure that Bath’s built and natural environments
facilitate better health and wellbeing for all, with beautifully designed and well-
connected streets and spaces that reinforces its aspiration to be Europe’s
most walkable city, with cycling and wheeling infrastructure for all users. It will
provide a diverse range of high quality leisure, cultural, play and community
spaces for all ages, cleaner air, and improved access to green spaces and the

surrounding landscape.

Support the diversification and long term sustainability of the University of
Bath and Bath Spa University in their transition towards the provision of

enterprise and innovation space, and the Locksbrook Creative Quarter.

Provide for a network of local centres and neighbourhoods that support day to
day living and foster a strong sense of community engagement and

involvement in local projects, and ensure the provision of community

infrastructure.

Page 108



Page 109

93



The Capacity of the City

5.33 For very good reasons, Bath is a constrained city. Its ability to expand
outwards into the setting of the World Heritage Sites without causing
substantial harm is very limited and building heights of new development in
the city need to ensure that its character and important views are maintained
and enhanced. A consequence of this is that the council needs to carefully
manage the land that is available and needs to prioritise those land uses that
will deliver a city that better addresses the climate and ecological
emergencies, is more sustainable in how people travel, more economically

prosperous and meets our need for more housing that is affordable.

5.34 One of the key roles of the local plan is to seek to sustainably meet
objectively assessed needs for housing, particularly affordable housing;

economic space and other uses.

5.35 Given that Bath’s lack of land was previously recognised in the
formulation of the Core Strategy and the Placemaking Plan, a decision was
taken then to prioritise housing and employment over other needs. The
evidence available at the time informed the policy approach and sufficient
land was safeguarded to demonstrably meet these priority needs. That
meant that a more flexible approach could be taken for other land, notably in
the Twerton Riverside area, to accommodate some of the other land use

needs such as for Purpose Built Student Accommodation (PBSA).

5.36 Most of the PBSA that has been built since the adoption of the Core
Strategy and Placemaking Plan has generally not been on land protected for
the priority land uses, but on land where there was a more flexible policy
approach to land uses i.e. Twerton Riverside, as well as on ‘windfall’ (or non-

designated) sites such as the Bath Cricket Club.

5.37 Given the significant scale of development that has been delivered
over the past ten years or so, the amount of land left in the city is even more

limited than previously. The council has made it very clear that our key

Page 110
94



priorities are to optimise the delivery of housing that is affordable, and to
safeguard existing and provide new employment space. These uses will

therefore be the key priorities for the local plan. local plan.

5.38 Key pieces of evidence that support the council’s position are the Local
Housing Needs Assessment (LHNA) which identifies what our specific
housing needs are for the duration of the plan period, and the Future
Economic Needs Assessment Update (May, 2025) which has assessed the
performance of different economic sectors and has projected future areas of
growth. This latter report is clear that the city needs to protect existing space
and deliver a total of F4000=79,000 sqm new office and research and
development space (including existing commitments). It also needs to both
protect existing and enable the development of between 88j000244,000 sqm
of new industrial (including replacement) floorspace, including for advanced
engineering purposes, clean tech, health and life sciences, warehousing and
logistics. Some of the requirement for additional space will be met on sites
that are already committed for employment development (sites with planning
permission or allocated in the adopted Local Plan). These existing

commitments will need to be reviewed in preparing the Draft Local Plan.

5.39 Given these land use priorities and their spatial needs, we then need to
understand what capacity the city has to adsorb these needs: How much
land do we have and how do we optimise its use, whilst also ensuring that we
enable the coherent delivery of exemplary developments that work together
to reinforce the city’s important character and identity of the city? This spatial

analysis is ongoing and will inform the Draft Local Plan.

5.40 A consequence of this approach is that there is highly likely to be less
land available for other uses for which evidence might suggest that there is a
need. A clear example of this is Purpose Built Student Accommodation
(PBSA). As outlined above, a key role of the local plan is to mediate between
different land uses and in doing so, particular land uses will not be permitted
in specific locations (see also PBSA policy options in chapter 9: Development

Management policies).

Page 111
95



Page 112

96



Page 113




Page 114




Page 115




Page 116

100



Site Options

5.55 Specific site allocations and development management policies that
promote new development and protect existing land uses are effective
planning tools for managing the use of land. Many site allocations already
exist in the current local plan and they have generally proven to be robust in

achieving their objectives.

5.56 It must be acknowledged though that some sites have not yet been
delivered and this is normally related to the ability of the market to deliver. It is
proposed to thoroughly review and modify the existing site allocations to
ensure that they reflect renewed priorities of the council, such as the climate
and ecological emergencies and to demonstrate that needs are properly

planned for.

5.57 The council propose to allocate larger or significant development sites
and that other opportunities for smaller scale or organic redevelopment and
change (e.g. garage courts, change in local centres, etc) will be supported by

a positive and enabling policy framework.

5.58 To help diversify housing supply by encouraging smaller scale
developers and self-builders, it is important for the local plan to embrace
incremental change rather than expecting comprehensive development at a
larger scale. This is often difficult to achieve and may never come forward
due to complexities of land ownership. The policy framework will be
supportive of incremental change and seek to simplify design and
development requirements through design codes and guidance. Where
appropriate, such as in the wider public interest, incremental changes will

need to accord with wider spatial framework.

5.59 In addition, there could be opportunities to explore potential for
improvements to some of the existing housing areas in Foxhill and Twerton in
Bath. Working with Curo, who manage much of the social housing stock in

these areas, we will explore improving existing housing, including making it

Page 117
101



more energy efficient (providing carbon emission benefits in line with the
climate emergency), more affordable to run and providing more comfortable
and better living conditions. This could also offer the opportunity to improve
the quality of place and potentially to increase the number of homes, thereby
providing additional affordable housing (including social rented housing)
which is needed. The overall number of homes also needs to be increased to

be able to access Homes England funding.

5.60 Following consultation on these site options, a detailed assessment of
the transport impact of each site will be undertaken, to inform selection of
sites to be included in the Draft Plan. The cumulative impact of all sites
included in the Draft Plan will also be assessed. Any site allocations in the

Draft Plan will define the site specific interventions that are required.

Page 118
102



5.61 There are a range of potential site allocations that are included in the

Local Plan Options Document, as follows:

o Existing site allocations _ refreshed and refined to

reflect updated priorities and to address the climate and nature

emergencies.

e Other sites on the edge of or close to Bath:

Land to the West of Bath is also considered as a potential location
for helping to meet the development needs of the city, and a range

of options are proposed, iiclidingiaiiewioptionthatmaximises he
deveiopmentipotential SftRiSIArEalE vidence shows that

development here would cause substantial harm to the World
Heritage Sites. It is included within this Local Plan Options
Document to help ascertain whether substantial public benefits from
strategic scale development can be identified that might outweigh
this substantial harm and to facilitate continued engagement with

government on growing the city.

Page 119
103


https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=3

A potential development location south of Burnett on the A39 was

included in the previous consultation for further exploration and to
establish whether this has potential as a longer term location for

«Q
=
o
2

|

Page 120



Site Allocations

5.62 A key purpose of this site allocations element of the local plan is to
demonstrate how different land uses can be delivered, reflecting evidence
and the priorities of the council. Many of the sites/areas within the city set out
below are already allocated in the adopted Core Strategy/Placemaking Plan.

This local plan will review these allocations and set out our proposed

approach. Please note that hyperlinks are embedded into the headings of
each site allocation in the Bath section. Please click on these to see the
existing site allocation policies for reference.

5.63 The site allocations will also contain key development requirements
and design principles to ensure that the development outputs contribute
towards the creation of great places, that they seek to optimise the use of
land, are properly integrated into and respond appropriately to their sensitive
contexts, that they address the climate and ecological emergencies, and

improve health and wellbeing.

5.64 In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
‘the creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings and places is
fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve’.
This contextual approach reflects the existing planning policy framework in

Bath, where a set of ‘Design Values’ has been established and which provide

the context for considering the design of new buildings and as a means of
creating authentic and locally distinctive and enduring places. These ‘Design
Values’ continue to remain relevant in the consideration of new development
proposals and in managing the potential tension between optimising the use
of land and ensuring that development makes a positive contribution to local

character and distinctiveness.

5.65 For all of the site allocations, it is proposed, where relevant, to update
the range of development requirements to include references to the need for
a transformational approach to the protection and enhancement of

biodiversity. This aims to deliver outcomes that genuinely contribute to

Page 121
105


https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=20

nature recovery, whilst enabling new development, improving the relationship

to the river, the integration of green infrastructure and the need for lighting in

this location to safeguard the dark corridor for bats.

Milsom Quarter:

5.67 The Milsom Quarter Masterplan is a major regeneration project led by
the council that proposes that the area becomes the fashion destination for
Bath and the South West. It has identified the Old Post Office as the site for
the Fashion Museum, as a city centre cultural landmark, and the development
of Broad Street Yards to support creative and entrepreneurial uses,
complementing the fashion, interiors and homeware economies in the

surrounding streets. It includes the Cattlemarket Site, which is an existing site

allocation that was recently updated as part of the Local Plan Partial Update
(LPPU). The Milsom Quarter Masterplan also has an aspiration to introduce
approximately 180 new homes through new build or through the repurposing
of upper floors that are currently vacant.

Options:

e No change proposed to the existing policy covering the Cattlemarket site.

Page 122
106


https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=33
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=43

¢ Introduce other policies or site allocations such as for Broad Street Yard.

Page 123
107



Bath Central Riverside

568  Acknowledging that there is a live planning application for a new

stadilimien thisSitehatisStllbeingIeonsidered] the council has previously

committed to review this site allocation, particularly in relation to the
development of a new stadium. In the adopted Core Strategy the
development of a sports stadium in the city is identified as an important
element of the spatial strategy for Bath. Preparation of this local plan provides
an opportunity to review the role of a sports stadium in the strategy and if
considered still to be important, whether it should be delivered on this site. As
such there are considered to be the broad options outlined below for

consultation, as follows:

Options

Retain the site allocation policy (Policy SB2) as currently worded.

Review and amend the current Policy SB2 wording to provide greater clarity

on or to change the development requirements and design principles.

Delete the Policy SB2 reference to this site being appropriate for a new

stadium.

Page 124
108


https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=45

Manvers Street

5.69 This is an existing site allocation that forms part of a wider and major
regeneration project that is being taken forward by the council. Itis

anticipated that delivery will broadly reflect the current site allocation policy.

Options
¢ Retain existing policy requirements

e Update policy requirements to provide more flexibility in terms of the office
space requirements by enabling a wider range of hybrid business space to

suit start-up business and research & development space to be delivered.

Page 125

109


https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=51
https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=51

Bath Quays North

5.70 The redevelopment of this site is one of the council’s flagship
regeneration projects and is a key part of the Bath Riverside Innovation
Quarter (BRIQ), a wider area along the river corridor that will be transformed
into the city’s main business location to help to redefine the city’s economic

profile.

5.71 Outline consent was granted for a comprehensive mixed use
development in April 2019, but the delivery of this complex site has not
progressed. The site will continue to be the key location for office led
development but one of the proposed options is to slightly broaden this scope
to enable a wider range of hybrid business space to enable start up business

and research & development space to be delivered.

5.73 The proximity of the site to the rail station, its riverside and city centre

location, with the facilities and amenities that it provides are key assets that
contribute towards its appeal. It is proposed to update the policy to ensure it
reflects the council’s priorities, including clarifying that Purpose Built Student
Accommodation (PBSA) or student accommodation continues to be
unacceptable as this will impede the delivery of other council objectives.

Page 126
110


https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=55

Options
Two options in respect of this site are presented below:

a) Retain the existing land use mix (primarily office space, Class E(g)(i)) and
review and amend the current policy wording to provide greater clarity on or to

change the development requirements and design principles.

b) Whilst ensuring this site continues to play a key role in the future economy of
the city provide a greater degree of flexibility in terms of the land use mix
required by policy. This could allow a change in the requirement to provide a
‘minimum of 20,000 sgm of office floorspace’ (Class E (g)(i)) and slightly
broaden the scope to allow a wider range of hybrid business space to enable
start up business and research & development space (E(g)(ii) to be delivered.
Continue to allow a residential element and continue to exclude student

accommodation/PBSA.

Note: Evidence from the Future Economic Needs Assessment Update (May, 2025)
recommends around 400079000 sqm new office and research and
development space should be delivered in the city throughout the plan period (in
addition to that already committed). To allow a reduction in this important location
would add pressure on other scarce sites to meet this need. The existing policy
states that ‘redevelopment of this site is the council’s flagship regeneration project; it
will be an area that will be transformed into the city’s main business location and will
help to redefine the city’s economic profile.” Changing the site allocation approach

should not undermine this important objective.

Page 127
111



South Quays and Riverside Court

5.74 This is a key development site which was granted planning permission
in 2017 and has now delivered approx. 7,900sgm of office and creative
workspace. No1 Bath Quays is Bath’s first new speculative development for
decades. The building provides brand-new grade A and EPC ‘A’ office
accommodation. The refurbishment of Newark Works provides creative
workspace that is owned and managed by TCN, a company that own and
manage creative workspace. There is outline planning permission for a
residential development parcel of around 60 apartments, but this has not

been delivered.

5.75 Riverside Court is currently used as offices and there have been a
number of applications for changes of use. The most recent application
(20/03608/FUL) was refused due to the strong economic reasons

demonstrating that the loss of office floorspace would be inappropriate.

Page 128
112


https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=60

Options

¢ Review and amend the current policy wording to provide greater clarity on or

to change the development requirements and design principles.

e Allow more flexibility in relation to the delivery of the residential element within
the existing allocation, allowing the consented floorspace in the South Quays
site to change to an employment use. Housing not provided on this site would

then need to be delivered elsewhere.

e The current policy for Riverside Court states: ‘The redevelopment of Riverside
Court should retain as a minimum the existing levels of employment
floorspace and be complemented by residential development that contributes
towards the city’s housing requirements.” Should this policy wording for

Riverside Court:
o remain asitis;
o be amended to provide more flexibility in terms of land use mix; or

o be strengthened to require more employment floorspace to be

delivered?

Page 129
113



South Bank

5.76 This area lies immediately to the west of the South Quays site and to

the east of Sydenham Park. It is under two principal and separate land
ownerships; the car showrooms and the Travis Perkins Builders Yard. These
uses are important functions within the city, however other uses such as
offices and residential that optimise the riverside location, the close proximity
to the city centre and the high levels of public transport accessibility, may well

come forward within the plan period.

Options

Review and amend the current policy wording to provide greater clarity on or

to change the development requirements and design principles.

The current policy for South Bank requires the total development to deliver a
minimum of 5,000 sg.m. (GIA) of office floorspace, and a minimum of 100
dwellings. If the two parts of the site are to be delivered at separate times,
then each part is expected to deliver an approximately even mix of uses.
Purpose built student accommodation in this area is not acceptable as this

would impede the delivery of other council objectives. Should this policy:
o remain asitis;
o be amended to provide more flexibility in terms of land use mix; or

o be strengthened to require more employment or more residential
floorspace to be delivered? Perhaps keep as is? Sufficient flexibility or

options are provided.

Page 130
114


https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=65

Green Park Station West & Sydenham Park

5.77 This is a complex area, with a variety of site ownerships and a diversity

of uses. It comprises the following components:

Green Park Station West (SB7A):

Green Park Station, and the units facing James Street West.
Sainsbury’s.

Sydenham Park (SB7B):

Bath Riverside East: the former Homebase site and its car park, and overflow

Sainsbury car park.

Pinesway: Pinesgate offices and the associated road gyratory.

Pinesway Industrial Estate.

5.79 A planning application was allowed on appeal (September 2021) for
the redevelopment of the Homebase site to provide a later living scheme of

288 units and 1,865 sqm of office floorspace. Due to the later living scheme

Page 131
115


https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=69

being in the C2 use class it was not possible to secure affordable housing
from the scheme. The consent enabled the subsequent demolition of the

Homebase building, BliffheiSchemeWasiiotiprogressedibeyondihis! Fhere
is a current planning application for the same site which has yet to be
determined. This is proposing to provide a mixed use development, which
principally includes residential build to rent dwellings and shared living
accommodation.

Options

e Generally maintain current policy wording and update to better reflect the
climate and ecological emergencies and review the alignment of the

sustainable transport route through the site, if required.

e Review the proposed land uses on the site to reflect the evidence base and
ensure that housing that is more affordable is delivered, that existing

employment floorspace is protected and additional floorspace delivered.

e Create separate site allocations for each development parcel.

Page 132
116



Bath Riverside

5.80 This large and important site has been delivering new homes for the
city for the past fifteen years. It comprises a number of different land parcels,
and development on these parcels has largely either been completed, has the
benefit of consent, or is subject to a current planning application. The most
recent consent which covers the former gasworks site is now under
construction and is anticipated to be completed. Changes were made to the
existing policy wording to reflect the climate and ecological emergencies as
part of the LPPU and there is considered to be little justification for any further

changes at this stage.

5.81 It is proposed to devise a separate site allocation policy for the

Westmark Site (see below).

5.82 No change proposed to the existing policy.

Page 133
117


https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=78

Bath Press

5.83 This site is finally under construction and subject to this being

completed , it is proposed to delete the existing site allocation.

Roseberry Place

5.84 Consent granted for mixed use scheme of Build to Rent residential and
office floorspace. The former has been completed, whereas the office

element has not progressed despite long periods of marketing.

Options
e No change proposed to the existing policy.

e Amend policy to allow a wider range of hybrid business space to enable start

up business and research & development space to be delivered.

e Amend policy as above, but allow for mixed use development to potentially
allow other forms of housing that meet identified need i.e. homes that are

suitable for those working in the local economy, and not PBSA.

Page 134
118


https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=88
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=91

Westmark Site, Windsor Bridge Road

5.85 Currently this site is part of the Bath Riverside Site Allocation Policy

SB8. Given that no progress has been made on the delivery of this site and
that planning applications are at an advanced stage on the remaining Bath
Riverside sites, it is proposed to generate a separate site allocation for the
Westmark Site.

5.86 Based on the ‘Future Economic Needs Assessment Update’ evidence
base, the Victoria Park Business Centre, which forms part of this site, is to be
protected from development. For the remainder of the site it is proposed to
require a residential led development that includes the provision of specific
housing products that better meet local needs. Purpose Built Student

Accommodation (PBSA) is to continue to be excluded.

Stable Yard Industrial Estate

5.87 This is an industrial location, which is well occupied and contributes
towards meeting an identified need in the city. Based on the Employment
Needs Assessment evidence base, the Stable Yard site is to be protected

from development.

Page 135
119


https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=78
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=78

Page 136



https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=94

Options

Intensify the development potential of this area, in terms of capacity, and
promote the location for a wide range of businesses within the industrial,
advanced engineering (such as many of the existing anchor businesses),
clean tech, health and life sciences, transport and storage, and creative
industries. This option would ensure this area continues to serve as the main

location for industrial space within the city.

Page 137
121



Identify those uses that would not be permitted as they will undermine the
employment led objectives, i.e. residential (including co-living and PBSA), and

more academic teaching space.

Within a clearly defined landscape and ecological framework and
infrastructure plan should the site allocation have a consistent approach
across the whole of the ‘Production Quarter’ area or should it be more
granulated and have different approaches in different parts? This could allow
a more nuanced approach tailored to the specific characteristics and potential

of the different areas. For example:

Locksbrook Road: comprising Horstman, Bath Spa University, the
Locksbrook Creative Industry Hub, various operations including trade

counters.

Central area: adjacent to Weston Island and comprising of a finer grain of
mixed uses including smaller scale employment units, residential and food

and beverage outlets.

Brassmill Lane: A mix of industrial type uses and trade counters including
the Maltings trading estate, larger employers and manufacturers such as

Rotork and Roper Rhodes.

Page 138
122



Figure 3: The Production Quarter Area

Page 139

123



Weston Island

Page 140



https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=97

Page 141




Twerton Park

5.101 This policy was updated in the Local Plan Partial Update.

5.102 No change is proposed to the existing policy.

Rovyal United Hospital (RUH), Weston

5.103 The RUH have commissioned a new Estates Strategy for this site.
Once this has had final sign off within the RUH Bath NHS Foundation Trust it
is the intention, subject to review, to include reference to it and support its

delivery, as appropriate, through the local plan.

5.104 There is strong evidence that the lack of availability and affordability of
housing is making it difficult for some employers to attract and retain staff.
Where these employers control or own land, such as the RUH, there could be
opportunities to facilitate the delivery of employer linked housing that is 100%

affordable.

5.105 Provided that land will not be required for healthcare or car parking
during the Plan period, the council supports the provision of 100% affordable
residential accommodation (Class C3) of a range of sizes and types, for use

by key workers associated with the RUH.

5.106 Changes to the existing policy will be considered in the context of the

new estates masterplan.

Click to comment

Page 142
126


https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=116
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=127

Hartwells Garage

5.107 Outline planning permission for a mixed use development comprising
up to 104 residential units and the provision of up to 186 student bedrooms
site was granted on appeal in March 2021. Delivery has been delayed but is

understood to still be progressing.

5.108 No change proposed to the existing policy.

Click to comment

Sion Hill

5.109 Owned by Bath Spa University (BPU) and currently allocated for
housing. This site was allocated in the LPPU and the policy is considered to
remain fit for purpose.

5.110 No change proposed to the existing policy.

Click to comment

St Martins

5111 Recently introduced and allocated in the LPPU and the policy is

considered to remain fit for purpose.

5.112 No change proposed to the existing policy.

Click to comment

Page 143
127


https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=121
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=135
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=138

Page 144



https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=160
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=160

Burlington Street

5.116 This is an existing site allocation that is considered fit for purpose.

5.117 No change proposed to the existing policy.

Click to comment

University of Bath

5.118 The policy framework for the University of Bath was subject to
significant review as part of the Local Plan Partial Update. It was informed by
a new Masterplan that provided a vision of the future for the Claverton
Campus, enabling the delivery of the development and infrastructure required
to address the needs and expectations of its students and staff, and to
facilitate the university’s sustainable growth in a manner that also enhances

the unique beauty and environmental quality of the campus.

5.119 Whilst the existing policy is robust there could be the possibility of
exploring whether more PBSA could be provided on campus to help facilitate
growth in student numbers without impacting further on the city. This could
only be achieved through the review of current car parking provision or
through intensifying existing developed areas of the campus (without

increasing heights or creating other adverse impacts).

Click to comment

Page 145
129


https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=124
https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=143

Sulis Club

5.120 This is a sports ground owned by the University of Bath. Itis on a
gently sloping site on the edge of the plateau in a highly sensitive skyline
location on the edge of the World Heritage site, and visible from the

surrounding countryside.

5.121 The current adopted policy SB19 states: Sulis Club Outdoor Sports
area — Proposals for development will be judged against national planning
policy within the NPPF, including that relating to AONBs (now National
Landscapes) and Green Belt, as well as the World Heritage Site and its
setting and Outstanding Universal Values. For the Sulis Club the adopted
policy SB19 enables the appropriate redevelopment of previously developed
land, within the parameters set by the NPPF. Through this options document
consideration needs to be given as to whether the Sulis Club site should be
removed from the Green Belt (subject to demonstrating exceptional

circumstances) in order to facilitate development primarily for PBSA.

Page 146
130


https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=150

Options

¢ No change to current policy SB19.

Potential vehicular access

Primary access

Key route network

Public rights of way

Possible residential-led
Green infrastructure

Possible landscape mitigation
Existing trees

Bus stop

Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)

40 80 200

; 2
Figure 4Sulis Club

Click to comment

Page 147

131



Page 148




Ermerging
residential
site

Possible vehicular access
Primary access

Key route network
Possible residential led
Possible employment
Green infrastructure
Possible landscape mitigation
Existing trees

Existing woodland

Bus stop

Gas pipeline

Current Connectivity
rating {A-F)

50 100 250
|

Page 149

133



Possible vehicular access
Primary access

Key route network

Possible residential led
Possible employment

Green infrastructure

Possible landscape mitigation
Existing trees

Existing woodland

Bus stop

Gas pipeline

Emerging
residential

Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)

50 100 250
|

Click to comment

Page 150
134




Bath Spa University at Newton Park

5.127 Bath Spa’s Newton Park Campus sits within a sensitive historic context
including in the core of a registered (Grade II*) historic parkland ‘of
outstanding interest’ which includes a Scheduled Monument (St Loe’s
Castle), three Grade | listed buildings (The Manor House, Castle, and Castle
Gatehouse); one Grade II* listed building (the Stables); and one Grade I
listed building (the Dairy). The walls to the Italian Garden are also listed
(Grade II*). The wider parkland beyond the campus also contains part of the

Wansdyke Scheduled Monument and other listed buildings.

5.128 The campus lies in the Green Belt where development potential is
constrained i.e. national policy makes it clear that development is
inappropriate unless it is either complete or partial redevelopment or limited
infilling as long as it doesn’t have a greater impact on openness than the

existing development

5.129 Ecologically the campus hosts a number of lesser horseshoe bat
roosts, which forage in the surrounding parkland. Both the campus and the

parkland in which it sits are within the Green Belt.
5.130 No material changes are proposed to the existing policy, however it will
need to be reviewed and updated to reflect the latest terminology and correct

references in the NPPF.

Click here to comment

Page 151
135


https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=157
https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-06/2.%20Bath%20Composite%20Plan%20final.pdf#page=157

Page 152

136



Figure 7: West of Bath Option 1

Page 153

Key

Primary access

Key route network

Possible access

Primary cycle route

Possible residential-led

Green infrastructure

Possible landscape mitigation
Existing trees i

Water course
Allotment

Flood zone 2
Flood zane 3

Current Connectivity |
rating (A-F) |

100 200 500

137



Primary access

Key route network
Possible access
Primary cycle route
Possible residential-led
Green infrastructure
Possible landscape mitigation
Existing trees

Hedges

Bus stop

Water course
Allotment

Flood zone 2

Flood zane 3

Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)

100 200 500

Figure 8: West of Bath Option 2

Page 154
138



Primary access

Key route network
Possible access
Primary cycle route
Possible residential-led
Possible employment
Possible mixed-use
Green infrastructure i
Possible landscape mitigation ‘
Existing trees i
Hedges

Bus stop
Water course
Allotment
Flood zone 2 |
Flood zone 3 \
Current Connectivity |
rating (A-F)

100 200 500

Figure 9: West of Bath Option 3 — Max development, mixed use, avoiding flood zones

Page 155

139


https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/document-and-policy-library/local-plan-options-evidence-base-west-bath-luc-report

[
3

r=n
L

KEY
West of Bath Area of Assessment
Cotswolds National Landscape
Historic Parks and Gardens
World Heritage Site

World Heritage Site Indicative
Extent

Railway

Road networks

Terrain 50 Contours

Railway station

Map 11: Map showing West of Bath area from the assessment into potential impacts of development

Page 156

140



Page 157




Click to comment

Page 158

142



Possible vehicular access
Primary access

Key route network

Public rights of way
Proposed residential-led
Green infrastructure
Possible landscape mitigation
Existing trees

Bus stop

Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)

0 100

Figure 10: Bath Equestrian Centre

Page 159
143



6 Bristol to Bath corridor

Strategy Overview

6.1  The area described in this Options Document as the Bristol to Bath corridor
comprises areas located along or close to the Bristol to Bath A4 corridor, and
areas adjoining the south east edge of Bristol including:

e Keynsham

o SaltfordVillage

e Hicks Gate

e Whitchurch Village

6.2 These areas have been selected for review in terms of potential growth due to
their relative sustainability in relation to access to sustainable transport modes
and access to services and facilities, when compared to other areas of the

district.
SEVERN 7 .
ESTUARY { °
. E3
\ o3 _BRISTOL
P .
L
° :ﬂcksc'tof--_ -
J“_‘ “\“\
, 2
} Keynsham
: wmtchulgl S\zm‘;: BATH
Village y ° p

Map 12: Map showing location of area described as Bath to Bristol corridor and south east edge of Bristol

Page 160
144



Page 161




Transport

6.12

Green Belt

6.13 The majority of the district located along the Bristol to Bath A4 corridor, and at
the south east edge of Bristol is located within the Bristol and Bath Green
Belt.

Page 162



6.14 Delivering future growth along the A4/rail corridor and to the south east of
Bristol would require significant areas of land to be removed from the Green
Belt. The impact of removing these parcels of land will need to be carefully

Q
o)
-
0
o}
)
=
®
a
o
(@]
—
5
o
-
)
-
35
[}
=<
a
c
o
o
o)
%)
n

6.15

Green Infrastructure

6.16 Green infrastructure is a network of multi-functional green and blue spaces
and other natural features, urban and rural, which is capable of delivering a
wide range of environmental, economic, health and wellbeing benefits for
nature, climate, and communities. Opportunities to enhance and extend the
Green Infrastructure network should be central to the design of new
developments, and development proposals should demonstrate strong links to
the wider green infrastructure network.

6.17 Some of the site options set out in this chapter include reference to ‘Strategic
Green Infrastructure Opportunities’, which are located outside of the area
shown for potential development. These are indicative areas where the
council consider that green infrastructure could be provided or improved to
meet Natural England Green Infrastructure standards, and which may also
offer nature-based solutions to address issues such as flooding and nature
recovery. [NGIKIiSIongoing tolexpiore optimumiocations! New and enhanced
green infrastructure will either be funded by development in the area, or
through other mechanisms to be explored as we prepare the Draft Local Plan.

Page 163



Rb&rA‘/pn
LNRS Focus Areas for Nature
Recovery
LNRS Areas of Importance
to Biodiversity

[ & ) I . Strategic Site Options

- g

h '
Fowors il b
i

Earew HIl
~

\

Page 164
148



Flood Risk

6.20

6.21

6.22

The River Avon flows between Bristol and Bath, in parallel with the A4
corridor. Areas of flood risk exist along parts of the River Avon, and Bristol
City Council are currently preparing a Bristol Avon Flood Strategy, to consider
potential areas of mitigation required along the river.

B&NES Council and Bristol City Council are in regular correspondence to
discuss any impact that flood defence works in the Bristol area might have
cross-boundary in B&NES, particularly in the north Keynsham area.

There may also be scope across the whole river catchment for areas of flood
risk to be considered for nature-based solutions, and to explore key areas
where retrofitting of Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SuDS) could be
beneficial.

Duty to co-operate

6.23

Bristol City Council and South Gloucestershire Council administrative areas
are located directly to the north and west of the Bath to Bristol corridor.
Therefore, meetings with both of these authorities have been undertaken and
will continue to take place to discuss strategic cross-boundary matters such
as transport, flood risk, Green Belt, and housing provision.

Keynsham

Place Profile

6.24

6.25

6.26

Keynsham lies in a strategic location on the A4 corridor between Bath and
Bristol. It is linked to the two cities by the A4, and also linked by the railway.
Sustrans National Cycle Network (NCN) Route 4 links east Bristol with Bath,
passing reasonably close to the north of Keynsham.

Keynsham is a thriving market town, with a population of around 20,000
people. It plays an important role in supporting sustainable economic growth
across B&NES, with its absolute employment numbers having increased over
the period 2011 — 2021. Its town centre is characterised by variety of local
independent retailers, many of which have evolved and set up on the High
Street in more recent years, as well as a strong food and beverage offer.

Keynsham’s settlement origins are demonstrated by the location of its historic
core and Conservation Area fronting onto and within the River Chew Valley.
Heritage assets are clustered throughout the conservation area in the town
centre. During the latter part of the 20th century, Keynsham expanded rapidly
to cater for development associated with the growth of Bristol. Expansion
eastwards along Wellsway saw settlement growth on either side of the Chew
Valley, presenting limitations in settlement connectivity between the east and
west sides of the town.

Page 165
149



6.27

6.28

6.29

6.30

6.31

6.32

The River Chew provides an important landscape, wildlife and recreational
corridor running through the heart of the town, providing potential to connect
residents with the wider countryside, particularly through the valley, down to
Chew Valley Lake, and beyond. Keynsham sits within the Chew Valley
Reconnected Green Infrastructure Project Area, which is made up of
important networks of natural and semi-natural habitats, providing crucial
habitats and wildlife corridors for priority species.

In Keynsham there is an imbalance of transport modes in the town centre with
greater priority given to vehicles over active travel (walking, cycling and
wheeling) modes. There are a series of walking and cycle routes within
Keynsham, however, there are missing links within Keynsham and between
Whitchurch Village to the west and Saltford Village to the east. Keynsham has
its own rail station and there is a good frequency of bus services operating
from Keynsham town centre offering services to destinations including the
centres of Bath and Bristol. Services to other destinations not on the main bus
routes to Bristol and Bath can be less frequent.

The principal roads that serve Keynsham, and also Saltford Village, are the
A4, A4175, B3116 and Charlton Road. The private car mode share for
journeys to work are higher than the national and South West average. During
the traditional weekday highway peak hours, there is congestion typically
along the A4 and within Keynsham town centre on roads such as Bath Hill,
Station Road and Mill Lane.

Keynsham is surrounded by the Bristol and Bath Green Belt, which separates
the two settlements.

A local designation in the adopted Local Plan relating to the Landscape
Setting of Settlements wraps around much of Keynsham. The designation as
shown on the Policies Map and associated policy requires that development
should only take place if it conserves and enhances this landscape setting.

IRifiei2024 0ptionsiconsultation the CoURGiISoUGHt comments on the extent

of the existing designation and whether the boundaries of any existing
landscape settings of settlements identified on the Policies Map should be

Page 166

150



Saltford Village

Place Profile

6.33

Saltford is a large village located to the east of Keynsham, with a population
of around 4,000 people. Its historic core and conservation area front the River
Avon to the north of the village, with numerous heritage assets located within
this area. Over time, the village has grown to the south and west, with
development predominantly residential in use, but with a small quantity of
retail and commercial businesses located along the A4. Other village facilities
such as the village hall and recreation ground are located to the north of the
village, and Saltford Primary School is located off Claverton Road towards the
south of the village.

Saltford Village occupies a strategic location on the A4 corridor between Bath
and Bristol. Sustrans National Cycle Network (NCN) Route 4 links east Bristol
with Bath, passing closely to the north and east of Saltford Village. There is a
good frequency of bus services operating along the A4 to the centres of Bath
and Bristol.

The principal road that serves Saltford Village is the A4. During the traditional
weekday highway peak hours, there is congestion typically along the A4.

Saltford Village is surrounded by the Bristol and Bath Green Belt. The
Cotswold National Landscape is located directly to the east of Saltford, with
impressive sweeping views across the two settlements visible from across the
designated area.

Page 167

151



Page 168

152



Landscape Setting of Settlements Review 2025 - Final Draft 0 500 1,000 M ZGN\  Bach & North East
Saltford e QP Soneici Cound

Landscape Setting of Settlement Areas
“* [ saltford

Febroduc e the s Suel apping i s oI Cir e ofHer ey Sty Ol @ i 11 Licence number AC0000807498
Copyright. Unautharised repraguction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or Gvil proceedings .

Page 169
153




Keynsham and Saltford Village area

6.44 Given the strong physical and functional relationship between Keynsham and
Saltford Village, the following ‘Key Issues and Opportunities’, ‘Emerging
Vision and Priorities’ and ‘Transport Opportunities’ sections are presented for
Keynsham and Saltford Village together as a whole; with specific references
to matters that are of relevance to Keynsham or Saltford Village made where
necessary. This is then followed by discussion of all of the site options at
Keynsham and then Saltford Village respectively.

Key Issues and Opportunities

Evidence from the FlifliféIECoRoMicINESdSASSEsSmMentUpdatel(viay

2025) suggests net employment land requirements over the Plan
period in the Keynsham area comprise around:

42,000 =98,000 sqm office space (2 ha land requirement)

8)000 sqm industrial floorspace (2 ha land requirement)

46,000=97,000 sqm warehousing / logistics floorspace (3 ha land
requirement

Some of this employment land requirement can be provided through
existing commitments i.e. sites with planning permission or allocated in
the adopted Local Plan for employment development. These existing
commitments will need to be reviewed in preparing the Draft Local
Plan.

Page 170
154



Land surrounding Keynsham and Saltford Village is designated as Green
Belt. Any new allocations adjoining the settlements would require the
removal of land from the Green Belt, and removal would require
exceptional circumstances to be fully evidenced and justified.

Flood risk from the River Avon to the north of Keynsham and the east of
Saltford Village restricts potential development in these areas.

The Bath to Bristol Strategic A4 corridor experiences significant
congestion in both directions during peak times, including through the
centre of Saltford Village. Congestion on the A4 also causes delays in

Unreliable public transport provision and easy and cheap parking within
Keynsham results in an over-dependence on travelling by car within
Keynsham and Saltford Village. WECA has recently consulted on

Page 171
155



Keynsham’s car parks are reasonably well utilised with a peak occupancy
of 75%. However, this is over a relatively short time period with a 7-day
mean occupancy of 55%, indicating a surplus of car parking in the
town.

Public space is more balanced towards vehicles over people, causing
issues with congestion and severance.

There is poor access to Keynsham Railway Station on foot, bicycle,
and bus, particularly from the A4 corridor.

Keynsham and Saltford Village in particular are located in an area of
landscape sensitivity. The Cotswolds National Landscape is located to
the east with views across, and a local designation relating to the
Landscape Setting of Settlements is to the north, east and south of
Saltford Village, and wraps around much of Keynsham.

Keynsham is bisected by the River Chew, which provides an important
landscape, wildlife and recreational corridor through the town, but also
creates movement severance for people due to limited crossings over
the river. Weirs along the river currently provide barriers to fish
passage for migratory fish.

Keynsham and Saltford Village contain numerous important heritage
assets which require protection.

Keynsham lacks a cultural space/venue such as a hall with theatre for use
by community.

Keynsham and Saltford Village have health and wellbeing needs that the
built and natural environment can play a role in addressing, including
food insecurity, cardiovascular, respiratory and healthy weight needs.

Page 172
156



ENEISIRGNVISIORENG Priorities

Provide homes to meet the needs of the district, including provision of
homes that are affordable, and a mix of homes to meet the need of a
variety of demographics, including homes for older people.

Retain a sufficient green gap between Keynsham, Saltford Village and

and seek to improve the quality of the gap, making it more accessible
and useable to all.

Create opportunities to become carbon neutral and nature positive by
2030, and work towards a climate resilient district.

Ensure provision of community and social infrastructure and sustainable
transport initiatives that serve existing residents as well as new, and
across all life stages.

Page 173
157



Improve accessibility and connectivity by sustainable modes within
Keynsham and Saltford Village, and also between the two settlements.

Explore options to alleviate congestion within Keynsham Town Centre,
and along the A4 corridor at peak times.

Protect the key aspects of the landscape setting of the two settlements,
and views to and from the Cotswold National Landscape.

Provision of good quality green and blue infrastructure that is accessible
and usable to all, placing nature at the heart of any development
opportunities,

Maximise ecological mitigation and biodiversity net gain.

Restore the natural connectivity and functioning of the river and flood plain
for key species.

Enhance access to the river for leisure, and explore potential to provide
more space for boat dwellings.

Explore the green infrastructure opportunities provided by the River Chew
Valley through Keynsham, the River Avon corridor, and Stockwood
Vale, for nature recovery, human health and well-being, and climate
adaptation and mitigation.

Seek opportunities to encourage community food growing and edible
landscapes, and provide space for allotments.

Ensure policy supports the delivery of built and natural environments that
promote health and wellbeing for all.

Transport Opportunities

6.46 Some of the key issues in Keynsham relate to transport and highways, as
listed above. A number of transport opportunities and potential interventions
have been identified for Keynsham as Gontained within the Creating
Sustainable Communities in North East Somerset Transport Strategy to
address theselisstiestAs thellocal plan progresses, these interventions will
need more detailed consideration whilst preparing the Draft Local Plan,
including mechanisms for funding them.

Page 174
158



Page 175




6.51

6.53

There is an opportunity within Keynsham Town Centre to investigate
reallocating road space to prioritise those walking, wheeling, cycling and bus
users, to achieve mode shift and create better places. Targeted filters as part
of traffic calming style interventions support active travel on key routes, and
reduce the level and speed of traffic on inappropriate local routes helping to

link residential areas with local centres and town centres.

Provision of new mobility hubs on
the A4, within Keynsham town centre and in proximity to Keynsham rail
station. Provision of additional mobility facilities at existing car parks.

Demand Responsive Transport (DRT) - could be used to connect flifal
proposed mobility hubs within Keynsham town
centre, where passengers can gain access to a connecting bus or rail service
to complete their journey.

Page 176
160



o o

KEY

= = i ¢ D High Street Regeneration
Keynsham Wider A.rea Improvements: MR . 1 ; BBSC Project
.Demand Responsive Transport ; 3
. Zero Emission Buses
. Review of On & Off Street Parking
. Saltford Railway Study / 4 | =*====* Possible Active Travel Route
rem===r Possible Bus Route

o Mobilty Hub

@ Speed Limit Expansion

@ Possible Liveable Neighbourhood

' Car Clubs
‘ Pedestrian Crossing Improvements
‘ Junction Improvements '&

====«=- North Keynsham Access Road
@  c-Bike/ E-Scooter

Map 15: Keynsham and Saltford Village area transport opportunities map

Click to comment

Page 177

161



Strategy

Page 178




Page 179

163



08T abed

Map 16: OPTIONS MAP - showing all land parcels in Hicks Gate, Keynsham and Saltford

Villa

ge

i

Current Site Connectivity - Possible residential-led development

e A-rated 9 B-rated e C-rated Q D-rated e E-rated G F-rated

Key vehicular route network
Possible active travel routes
Primary bus route

Possible future bus route
Train line

Existing cycle network

A4 Strategic Corridor
Possible mobility hub
Keynsham Station

Possible Saltford Station
Town / Local centres
Residential sites with planning
permission

Possible residential-led
Possible mixed use

Possible employment
Existing employment
Proposed Hicks Gate
transport interchange
Relocation of Avon Valley
Country Park

Possible Green Infrastructure
Possible Landscape mitigation

Possible Green
Infrastructure corridors

Existing Woodland

SNCls

Possible Somerdale wetland
Existing flood meadow
Watercourse

The grading within the map illustrates the current transport connectivity by
sustainable means based on the existing network, where A indicates the
highest level of connectivity. They are intended for reference only. They do not
account for future infrastructure improvements, which are expected to enhance
connectivity in line with the emerging transport vision.

500 1000 m

164



Keynsham Site Options

6.67

6.68

6.69

A variety of site options for development are set out below, which have been
prepared in response to the key issues, priorities and objectives set out
above. Not all of the site options presented will necessarily be taken forward
for allocation for development in the Draft Local Plan. Explanation as to how
each of the site options responds to the key issues, priorities and objectives is
set out within the opportunities and constraints tables for each site option.
Where mitigation or additional evidence work is required to achieve priorities
and objectives, this is referenced within the table. Conflicts with priorities and
objectives are also referenced.

The land parcels which make up the site options below have been assessed
in more detail in various supporting documents, including the Housing and
Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA), the Future Economic
Needs Assessment Update (May 2025) the Sustainability Appraisal (SA), the
Keynsham and Saltford Area of Search Assessment, and the Strategic

Planning Options Document (SPO). Fliftigtinformationtis availablsinthe Site
Selection Topic Paper.

Within these documents, a number of additional sites have also been
assessed, and discounted, for various reasons. These sites are not included
in the site options below, for the reasons set out in the evidence base.
However, this Options Document consultation provides an opportunity for
stakeholders and communities to provide comments on these discounted
sites, by answering the question: Are there any other sites that haven’t been
identified, that need to be considered?

Location Option New sites - appx.
housing capacity

North Keynsham* 1,900 — 2400
dwellings

East of Avon Mill Lane 80-100 dwellings

Central Keynsham* (Ashton Way 20-30 dwellings
and the Labbott car parks)

West Keynsham (North) 300-400 dwellings
West Keynsham (South) 300-400 dwellings
South West Keynsham 400-500 dwellings
East Keynsham 130-170 dwellings
South East Keynsham 400-550 dwellings

Table 3: Site Options table

Page 181
165



Page 182

166



North Keynsham
Context

6.74 North Keynsham is located to the east of Keynsham town centre, and south of
the River Avon, separated from the town by the railway line running between
Bristol and Bath. Narrow access points via various bridges and tunnels
connect the site to Keynsham.

6.75 The site is located in close proximity to the A4, the Bristol and Bath Cycle
Path and Keynsham Train Station, all of which provide direct access to Bath
and Bristol by bus, train and bicycle.

6.76 Some constraints exist across the site due to its location, existing land uses,
and poor connections to its surroundings (see constraints in table below).
However, through careful masterplanning and provision of mitigation where
required, the site is considered to be a good option for development due to its
highly sustainable location.

6.77 Due to its highly sustainable location, if this area is allocated for development
in the local plan, its deliverable capacity should be optimised. With this in
mind, further evidence base work is being undertaken to determine whether a
higher quantum of development than set out below could be provided through
mitigation of on-site constraints imposed by the water recycling plant and gas
pipeline.

6.78 Additional landscape evidence work is also being undertaken to assess the
impact of development on the Cotswold National Landscape and its setting,

6.79 The option for potential development at West Saltford (see page 117), will

need to be considered in conjunction with this North Keynsham option, with

regards to maintaining a SUfficient green gap between Keynsham and Saltford
which

are priorities for both settlements.

6.80 A road will be required to access the development site and it is envisaged that
it will also play a more strategic role as a relief route, removing through traffic
from Keynsham town centre, to the wider benefit of the town and enabling a
greater focus on sustainable modes of transport on the town centre area
network.

6.81 The site requires provision of significant infrastructure, not only from a
transport perspective, but also to provide services and facilities for future
residents. Optimising residential development at the site is considered to be
important to both financially support provision of this infrastructure, and
secure its long-term use.

Page 183
167



6.82 The site is located in the Green Belt.

i A

Figure 2. North Keynsham Composite Plan

Map 17: Context Plan - North Keynsham

PR

OO

Page 184

NN

Key

N

District boundary

Listed buildings

Green belt

Woodland

SNCI

SSSi

Conservation area
Scheduled Monument
Parks, open spaces and
local green spaces

Local nature reserve
Avon Valley Adventure
and Wildlife Park

Sewage works

Grade 2 Agricultural land
Grade 3a Agricultural land
Recycling

Watercourse

Flood zone 2

Flood zone 3

National cycle route

Road

PRoW

Hedges

5m contours

Railway

Railway station

Gas main

40m HSE Consultation zone
80m HSE Consultation zone
150m HSE Consultation zone
Gas main high pressure
with inner zone (20m),
middle zone (40m) and
outer zone (50m)

168



Site Option

Key
)

—
-

Possible access
Primary access
Key route network
Public rights of way
Primary cycle route
2m contours

IT i

Figure 11: Indicative concept plan - North Keynsham

North Keynsham

Possible residential-led Relocation of Avon Valley Country Park

Il Possible employment I Watercourse

W Green infrastructure Existing flood meadow

W Possible landscape mitigation E‘] Bus stops

@z Existing trees @ Keynsham Train Station

@ Hedges G Cu}'rent Connectivity R s G s
------- B&NES boundary rating (A-F) &)

N

(I \\i N/
L

Description

Opportunities

Provision of a sustainably located mixed-use development, comprising:

Around j900%J4008new homes, with potential to include an
element of Purpose Built Student Accommodation within the

wider mix of housing

Employment uses — the type and scale of employment uses on this
site will be assessed and identified in the Draft Local Plan.

A range of community and leisure facilities at the centre of the development,
including a primary school, retail provision, community facilities, and the
opportunity to provide a cultural facility, such as a hall with theatre, for use by

Page 185
169



local communities. Located in close proximity to the A4, the Bristol and Bath
Cycle Path and Keynsham Train Station, providing direct access to Bath and
Bristol by public transport and active travel modes. Potential to provide high
quality active travel routes into town centre and also to Bristol and Bath cycle
route. Opportunity to provide low car development due to sustainable location.

Potential to provide a strategic link on the highway network using the access
road required by the site to remove traffic from Keynsham town centre, to the
wider benefit of the town.

Potential to explore the use of the riverfront for moorings and other water-
related uses.

Location within a Local Nature Recovery Strategy Focus Area of Nature Recovery
provides significant opportunities for nature recovery and wetland habitat within
areas located in Flood Zone 3.

Potential to explore the creation of woodland habitats linking Keynsham
community woodland to the River Avon.

Constraints

Located in the Green Belt.

Potential for loss of green gap between Keynsham and Saltford Village,
particularly when considered in addition to option at West Saltford.

Significant landscape sensitivity considerations relating to the impact of
development on the Cotswold National Landscape. The relocation of Avon Valley
Wildlife Park to the east will also need to be considered in relation to potential
landscape impact on the Cotswolds National Landscape and its setting.

Stidham Farm SSSI and SNCI located to the east of the site. Broadmead Field SNCI
and River Avon SNCI located within the site boundary.

Access is currently restricted due to the site’s location between the railway line
and the River Avon. Narrow access points exist via bridges and tunnels
connecting the site to Keynsham. Poor access to the site exists from Keynsham
Train Station.

The north-western side of the site is located in Flood Zone 3. Part of the site is
also located in Flood Zone 2.

Relocation of Avon Valley Wildlife Park required. Odour zone from water
recycling centre restricts some land uses in its immediate surroundings.

Page 186
170




High-pressure gas main running along the eastern side of the site restricts most
land uses within HSE explosive standoff areas.

Mitigation required

Requires significant improvement to walking and cycling routes between the site,
Keynsham Train Station and the wider town,

Significant green infrastructure buffer likely to be required to the east of any
development, to reduce impact on the Cotswold National Landscape, -

, as well as interspersing significant tree planting and green space
within development to help soften and break up any perceived mass of built
forms, strengthen green infrastructure, and enhance the integration of built form
within the landscape.

Ecological mitigation required to ensure safeguarding of SSSI and SNCI, and to
deliver fish recovery.

Village

Further evidence required

Green Belt assessment required to assess impact of removing land from Green
Belt, including cumulative impact when considering strategic removal across the
district.

Landscape assessment required to assess impact of development on Cotswold
National Landscape.

Evidence to consider whether mitigation at water recycling centre could allow for
development closer to the works.

Evidence to consider whether mitigation along gas pipeline could allow for
development within HSE explosive standoff areas.

Page 187
171




Click to comment

Page 188
172



East of Avon Mill Lane
Context

6.83 East of Avon Mill Lane is a narrow parcel of land located to the south of the
railway line, accessed via Avon Mill Lane and Vandyck Avenue. It currently
accommodates a number of medium sized industrial employment units.

6.84 The site is bordered directly to the south by residential homes. The close
proximity of the existing industrial units to the residential dwellings currently
causes localised issues relating to noise and pollution. This option therefore
explores the potential to redevelop the industrial uses for residential, in order
to improve the well-being of residents living to the south.

6.85 It should be noted that no discussion has taken place with the landowner or
existing business occupying the site.
Site Option
4 >y Key

\\ (‘. P [ e District boundary
\ ]‘ o Existing woodland
\ Residential parcel

“ W Green spaces

\ - B&NES Memorial Park
\ = Existing trees

@® New trees
- Existing hedges
=== 50m green buffer

\

\ .

\

\ \

) / wxmx Railway

' m— Existing roads
F B Hard surface
\ 1 Car parking
\,L,- N === Existing PRoW

i " —  Watercourse
/

---» Potential access
Keynsham ' 2

_— Improved/proposed
Memorial Park

walking and cycle route
@ Playarea
% Local Mobility Hub
% Town centre mobility hub
Active mode town centre
£ 17 connections
’ 7 5 ~  2m contours
C . (153 A ®  Modalfilter
§ fr> N
] 4 f —— - X
it Jmw RNy f

Figure 13: Indicative concept plan - East of Avon Mill Lane

East of Avon Mill Lane Description

Opportunities

Provision of around - homes, plus a playground for use by existing and new
residents, on brownfield site.

Opportunity to improve the well-being of existing residents living directly south
of the existing industrial units, through replacement with more compatible

Page 189
173



neighbouring residential use.

Potential to explore local food growing opportunities, such as provision of a small
orchard.

Opportunity to provide car free development in a sustainable location close to
Keynsham railway station.

Constraints

Loss of existing industrial employment land.

Site located directly adjacent to the railway line.

Active travel routes into town centre require improvement.

Mitigation required

Significant planting to the north of the site required to provide a visual and noise
buffer to the existing rail lines.

Consideration of active travel routes into town centre required.

Further evidence required

Holistic review of employment space across the district required, including the
impact of the loss of this industrial site.

Contamination assessment required due to current industrial land use.

Click to comment

Page 190
174




6.86

6.87

6.88

6.89

Central Keynsham
Context

The Sustainable Transport Plan for Keynsham town centre includes the
provision of improved public transport, walking and cycling infrastructure, with
the aim to encourage people to use sustainable modes of transport to get to
Keynsham town centre. This aims to lead to a reduction in the need for car
parking spaces in the centre of the town, over the 20-year Plan period.

As such, and depending on further analysis of car parking provision within the
town centre, the options below explore the potential to redevelop some of the
existing car parks close to Keynsham High Street to provide mixed-use,
residential-led development.

The sites are located in highly sustainable locations, within easy walking
distance of the facilities and amenities of Keynsham’s main commercial and
retail centre, and with excellent access to key public transport links.

Ashton Way Car Park and Labbott North and South car parks are located just
behind Keynsham High Street and Temple Street. Both car parks serve town
centre visitors and those working in the town. The option explores the
opportunity to redevelop half of Ashton Way car park (retaining the other half
as car parking), and both of the Labbott car parks to provide residential
apartments.

Page 191

175



++++ District boundary
e  Listed buildings

[ Greenbelt

[ Woodland

== SNCI

_ Avon Valley Adventure

and Wildlife Park
Parks, open spaces and
local green spaces

0 Leisure / playing field

WA Scheduled Monument

Conservation area

Watercourse

Flood zone 2

Flood zone 3

. = Road

=== PRoW

- &++> Longdistance routes
5m contours

wcxs Railway

== Railway station
Gas main
~ Hedges

I‘ L W f-‘g“ ~ o '[ ‘ ’ 1l ' 1
Figure 14: Context plan - Central Keynsham

Site Options

Public rights of way
Possible mixed use
Green infrastructure
Existing trees

Bus stop
Watercourse
Existing woodland
2m contours

Keynsham station

Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)

@9 100 200 500

e

fatN=tl=nt gt

Figure 15: Indicative concept plan - Central Keynsham

Page 192
176



Central Keynsham

Description

Opportunities

Provision of around 20—30_. If these sites were

developed solely for residential use a greater number of homes could be
provided.

Optimise development on brownfield land, located in highly sustainable town
centre location.

Creates active frontage on Ashton Way.

Opportunity to explore urban greening through planting of street trees and
provision of green infrastructure.

Constraints

Requires redevelopment of car parking spaces in town centre location -
dependant on further analysis of car parking provision within the town centre
over 20-year Plan period.

Embodied carbon considerations relating to redevelopment of existing building.
Located adjacent to Keynsham Conservation Area, and multiple listed buildings.

Constrained brownfield sites with little opportunity for green space provision.

Mitigation required

Linked to sustainable transport plan for the town, which seeks to improve
infrastructure to encourage active and sustainable modes of travel, therefore
reducing the need for car parking spaces in the town centre.

Further evidence required

Further analysis of car parking use in Keynsham Town Centre.

Embodied carbon analysis relating to redevelopment of existing building.

Page 193
177



Click to comment

Page 194
178



West Keynsham
Context

Page 195




District boundary
Listed buildings
Green belt

Woodland

Landscape setting of
settlements

SNCI

Local nature reserve
Parks, open spaces and
local green spaces
Scheduled Monument
Conservation area
Grade 3a Agricultural land
Allotment

Golf course
Watercourse

Flood zone 2

Flood zone 3

Road

PRoW

Long distance routes
Hedges

5m contours

Railway

Railway station

Gas main

Gas main high pressure
with inner zone (20m).

middle zone (40m) and
niiter zona (5Om)

3 77
‘ A J A F’
(R -

Figure 16: Context plan - West Keynsham

Site Options

Page 196

180

40m HSE Consultation zone
80m HSE Consultation zone
150m HSE Consultation zone



Key

- -) Possible access

J

Primary access
. -) Key route network
=== = Public rights of way
Possible residential-led
[ Existing employment
. Green infrastructure
@ Possible landscape mitigation
@ms Existing trees
e Hedges
= Bus stop
I Watercourse
[ Existing woodland
——  2m contours
A

Current Connectivity

rating (A-F)
é 0o 100 200 500
— —

\ \ -
\ -
l - (!
S ¢ s

Figure 17: Indicative concept plan - West Keynsham (Option 1)

West Keynsham Description
Option 1

Opportunities Provision of- homes

Constraints Located in the Green Belt

Existing employment land at Lays Farm Industrial Estate _

Page 197
181



Loss of agricultural land

Single vehicular access only from Charlton Road

Pedestrian access to the north of the site linking to town centre currently very
narrow — improved access required

Site lies within area designated as part of the Landscape Setting of Settlement,
therefore development must consider conservation and enhancement of
landscape character and landscape setting of Keynsham.

Mitigation required 50m minimum Green Infrastructure (Gl) buffer along western edge of site to
mitigate harm to views from west.

Tree-lined streets, and tree-line avenue to run north to south at highest point to
enhance screening.

SNCI to be retained and protected.

Further evidence required Green Belt assessment required to assess impact of removing land from Green
Belt, including cumulative impact when considering strategic removal across the
district, and considering opportunities for enhancements to retained Green Belt
land

Landscape assessment required to consider impact of development on
Landscape Setting of Settlement.

Consideration of potential risk to watercourse due to elevated position of site.

Page 198

182




Click to comment

Page 199
183



West Keynsham Option 2
(southern half of western edge below)

Key

" -) Possible access
-t / - Primary access
,© ==) Key route network
=== Public rights of way

" .

/4
/7
Possible residential-led

j Green infrastructure

3
QUEENGQHARLTON
2y

{
S 4
,/ Possible landscape mitigation

4

/ Existing trees

Hedges
Bus stop

JH )

1
8]

Watercourse
Existing woodland
2m contours
Possible roundabout

Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)

- oc| 11

@ 0 100 200 500
[ I e

Figure 18: Indicative concept plan - Option 2

West Keynsham Option 2 Description

Provision of homes.
Opportunities

Constraints Located in the Green Belt

Site lies within area designated as Landscape Setting of Settlement,
therefore development must consider conservation and enhancement of
landscape character and landscape setting of Keynsham.

Limited access to green space and local food growing provision. Green
space would need to be accommodated on site.

Mitigation required 50m Gl buffer along western edge of site to mitigate harm to views from

Page 200
184



west

Further evidence required

Green Belt assessment required to assess impact of removing land from
Green Belt, including cumulative impact when considering strategic
removal across the district and considering opportunities for
enhancements to retained Green Belt land.

Landscape assessment required to consider impact of development on
Landscape Setting of Settlement.

Consideration of potential risk to watercourse due to elevated position of
site.

Click to comment

Page 201
185




South Keynsham

Key

===) Possible access
Primary access
===) Key route network
Public rights of way

l

Possible residential-led
Green infrastructure

Possible landscape mitigation
Existing trees

Hedges

Bus stop

Watercourse

Existing woodland

2m contours

Possible roundabout

Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)

.
- 1 ]
- o Il=|t0) i

©
:
2
g

Figure 199: Indicative concept plan - South Keynsham

Page 202

186



South Keynsham Description

Page 203




Page 204

188



Possible access
Primary access

Key route network
Public rights of way
Possible residential led
Green infrastructure

Existing trees
Hedges
2m contours
Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)

100 200

Figure 20: Indicative concept plan: East Keynsham

Page 205
189



East Keynsham Description

Page 206




South East Keynsham
Context

6.99

6.100

6.101

6.102

6.103

South East Keynsham is located to the south of the east side of Keynsham,
comprising two parcels of land located to the east and west of Wellsway (the
B3116). Wellsway connects the town to the A39 to the south.

The parcel located to the west of Wellsway is used as arable land and is
bounded by residential homes to the south and north, and woodland to the
west.

The parcel located to the east of Wellsway is also used as arable land, and
extends up to Courtenay Road to the north, to provide a walking and cycling
route up into Keynsham, as no permeability exists between the land parcel
and the residential development adjoining it to the north.

A bus stop providing a twice hourly bus service into Bristol to the north, and
the Somer Valley to the south, is located on Wellsway close to the site.
However, improvements to walking infrastructure to reach the bus stops from
the site would be required as limited pavement currently exists.

The nearest existing convenience shop is located on Chandag Road,
approximately 1 mile away from the site.

Page 207
191



Listed buildings

Green belt

Woodland

2 Landscape setting of

Hlanor Rgdle ; settlements

Communﬁb\v NURE > SNCI

Woodland . s | Local nature reserve

Parks, open spaces and
local green spaces
Conservation area

Grade 2 Agricultural land
Allotment

Golf course

Watercourse

Flood zone 2

Flood zone 3

Road

PRoW

Hedges

5m contours

Gas main

40m HSE Consultation zone
80m HSE Consultation zone
150m HSE Consultation zone

Gas main high pressure
with inner zone (20m),
middle zone (40m) and
outer zone (50m)

¢

N
S
|

Figure 21: Context plan - South East Keynsham

Site Option

Key

== Possible access
Primary access

Key route network
Public rights of way
Possible residential led
Possible employment
Green infrastructure
Possible landscape mitigation
Existing trees

Hedges

Bus stop

Watercourse

Existing woodland

il

2m contours

Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)

- o | Hl=11011

©

S - S
Figure 22: Indicative concept plan - South East Keynsham (bottom left)

Page 208

192



South East Keynsham Description

Opportunities Provision of around - homes.

Potential to provide a convenience shop on Wellsway, to serve existing and new
residents.

Opportunities to link development into Manor Road Community Woodland
Improvement Project work, including potential for expansion of the existing
woodland to the east of the development parcel (noting potential constraint of
gas pipeline in this location).

Opportunity for provision of local food growing.

Constraints Located in the Green Belt.
Poor active travel route availability into Keynsham town centre.

Significant walking times to nearest convenience shop on Chandag Road, and to
Chandag Primary School.

No permeability between the site and the existing housing to the north, with
potential impact being the creation of an isolated development, severed from
the existing town.

Gas pipeline between Keynsham and Saltford Village may restrict the types of
Green Infrastructure that could be provided between the two settlements.

Mitigation required Significant improvements to walking and cycling infrastructure required, both
into Keynsham and across to Saltford Village.

Significant tree buffer required along eastern boundary of the site, to reduce
impact of built development in views from the Cotswold National Landscape.

Significant street tree planting required throughout development parcels, to

Page 209
193



reduce impact of development in views from the Cotswold National Landscape.

Further evidence required Green Belt assessment required to assess impact of removing land from Green
Belt, including cumulative impact when considering strategic removal across the
district and considering opportunities for enhancements to retained Green Belt
land.

Exploration of extent of possible green infrastructure enhancements between
Keynsham and Saltford Village required (noting constraint of gas pipeline in this
location).

Click to comment

Page 210
194




Saltford Village Site Options

6.105

6.106

6.107

A variety of site options for development are set out below, which have been
prepared in response to the key issues, priorities and objectives set out
above. Not all of the site options presented will necessarily be taken forward
for allocation for development in the Draft Local Plan. Explanation as to how
each of the site options responds to the key issues, priorities and objectives is
set out within the opportunities and constraints tables for each site option.
Where mitigation or additional evidence work is required to achieve priorities
and objectives, this is referenced within the table. Conflicts with priorities and
objectives are also referenced.

The land parcels which make up the site options below have been assessed
in more detail in various supporting documents, including the Housing and
Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA), the Future Economic
Needs Assessment Update (May 2025) the Sustainability Appraisal (SA), the
Keynsham and Saltford Area of Search Assessment, and the Strategic

Planning Options Document (SPO). Fliftigtinformationtis availablsinthie Site
Selection Topic Paper.

Within these documents, a number of additional sites have also been
assessed, and discounted, for various reasons. These sites are not included
in the site options below, for the reasons set out in the evidence base.
However, this Options Document consultation provides an opportunity for
stakeholders and communities to provide comments on these discounted
sites, by answering the question: Are there any other sites that haven’t been
identified, that need to be considered?

Location Option New sites - appx.
housing capacit

West Saltford (south of A4)* dwellings

South Saltford

Page 211
195



West Saltford Context

6.112 West Saltford is located on the western edge of the village of Saltford Village.
The area is mostly flat arable fields with some hedgerows containing
hedgerow trees.

6.113 Two site options for development are under consideration at West Saltford,

directly onto the A4 corridor, providing good access to frequent bus stops

providing services into Bath and Bristol. [Thesite to the north of the A4is'a

Page 212

196



6.114 The land parcel SoUthlofthe’AZls! ocated to the west of Grange Road in
Saltford Village. However, no permeability currently exists between Grange
Road and the parcels, due to the continuous configuration of dwelling plots
along the road. As such, walking and cycling routes into the village would
need to be provided from the south side of the site, connecting to Manor
Road, and to the north along the A4, though there may be scope, through
discussions with local landowners, to provide a walking route through an
existing residential plot, to provide a link into the village.

6.115 A key priority for the Keynsham and Saltford Village area of the district is to
retain a significant green gap between the two settlements. As such, any
development located to the west of Saltford Village will need to be carefully
assessed in conjunction with the options at North Keynsham (see page 94)
and South East Keynsham (see page 113), as well as in relation to land
already allocated to the east of Keynsham. Development will need to include
requirements to strengthen and enhance the remaining green infrastructure
between Keynsham and Saltford, seeking to make it more accessible and
useable.

Page 213
197



Listed buildings
Green belt
Woodland
Landscape setting of
settlements
SNCI
AONB
"% Local nature reserve
Parks, open spaces and
local green spaces
SN Scheduled Monument
Conservation area
Ancient woodland with
- 25m buffer
\ [ Golf course

- \Natercourse

Hood zone 2

Hood zone 3

National cycle route
W == Road

# === PROW

-~ Hedges

5m contours
' «ama Railway
- =~ Gas main
------ 40m HSE Consultation zone
80m HSE Consultation zone
150m HSE Consultation zone

IR

b2

Possible access
Primary access

Key route network
Public rights of way
Possible residential led
Green infrastructure
Existing trees

Hedges

Bus stop

2m contours

Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)

100 200

Figure 24 Indicative concept plan - West Saltford (south of A4)

Page 214
198



West Saltford (south of Description

the A4)

Opportunities Provision of around homes, a new primary school

and a public green space.

Opportunity for provision of local food growing.

Direct access to A4, providing easy access to sustainable travel options,
with potential for employment land development. Opportunity to
strengthen and enhance the remaining green infrastructure gap between
Keynsham and Saltford Village, seeking to make it more accessible and
useable. Further evidence is required to understand the extent of possible
enhancements.

Opportunity to explore and fund Manor Road becoming a “Quiet Lane”
between Keynsham and Saltford Village, through introduction of a modal
filter, or other traffic restrictions, to ensure traffic flows and speeds are
low enough to enable active travel between the two settlements.

Constraints Located in the Green Belt.

Reduces green gap between Saltford Village and Keynsham, particularly
when considered in addition to option at North Keynsham.

The defined landscape setting of settlement designation is proposed to be
amended and would be directly adjacent to the southern boundary of the
potential development parcels. In order to ensure no impact on setting,
building heights must not exceed 2-storeys in height. Gas pipeline between
Keynsham and Saltford may restrict the types of Green Infrastructure that
could be provided between the two settlements.

Grade Il listed Keynsham Manor house located on Manor Road. Impact on
setting to be considered, particularly impact of new primary school
building.

No permeability between site and existing housing to the east on Grange
Road. Walking and cycling links would be from the north and south only.

Mitigation required Strengthening and enhancement of the remaining green infrastructure gap
between Keynsham and Saltford Village required.

Page 215
199



Further evidence required

Green Belt assessment required to assess impact of removing land from
Green Belt, including cumulative impact when considering strategic
removal across the district, and considering opportunities for
enhancements to retained Green Belt land.

Consideration in conjunction with extent of options at North Keynsham
and South East Keynsham, to ensure significant green gap between
Keynsham and Saltford Village remains.

Exploration of extent of possible green infrastructure enhancements
between Keynsham and Saltford Village required (noting constraint of gas
pipeline in this location).

Discussion with landowners on Grange Road to understand if walking
route between plot and village could be created.

Page 216
200




Possible access
Primary access
Key route network
Public rights of way
Possible residential led
Green infrastructure
Possible landscape
mitigation

Existing trees

Hedges

Bus stop

Watercourse

2m contours

Possible option for new
railway station

Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)

100 200

Figure 25: Indicative concept plan — West Saltford (North of the A4)

Page 217
201



West Saltford (North Description
of the A4)

Page 218




South Saltford
Context

6.118 Land parcels at South Saltford would be accessed from Manor Road via two
junctions.

Page 219

203



Key
e Listed buildings

[ Greenbelt

8 Woodland
Landscape setting of
settlements

== SNCI
AONB

5% Local nature reserve
Parks, open spaces and
local green spaces

S Scheduled Monument
Conservation area
Ancient woodland with
25m buffer

[7) Golf course

- Watercourse
Flood zone 2
Flood zone 3
National cycle route

w— RoOad

=== PRoW

~ Hedges
5m contours

+ w==a  Railway

=== Gas main

------ 40m HSE Consultation zone
80m HSE Consultation zone
150m HSE Consultation zone

Figure 26: Context plan - South Saltford

GBS GRS

'y v/ S

b U

==3 Possible access
==3 Primary access
==23 Key route network
=== =  Public rights of way
Possible residential led
" Green infrastructure
e Possible landscape
mitigation
@@ Existing trees
@ Hedges
= Bus stop
L Watercourse
®

2m contours

Current Connectivity

: . rating (A-F)
R ‘ _,5 A e S 0 100 200
=4 1 ¢ T —

Figure 27 1: Indicative concept plan - South Saltford

Page 220
204



South Saltford

Description

Opportunities

Provision of around B50#B8 homes, a new primary school
(if delivered in combination with West Saltford _
AZERAINCHAIGHRENAE), 2 village green, and a small local
centre, with facilities such as a village shop to serve
residents to the south of the village.

Opportunity to explore and fund ‘Quiet Road’ along Manor
Road between Keynsham and Saltford Village, through
introduction of a modal filter, or other traffic restrictions, to
ensure traffic flows and speeds are low enough to enable
active travel between the two settlements. Opportunity to
explore Modal filter along Manor Road to the north of the
development, to prioritise active modes along the route
closest to the new community facilities and primary school.

Constraints

Located in the Green Belt.
Relationship with the Golf Club and the floodlit driving range
needs to be considered.

Grade Il listed Keynsham Manor house located on Manor
Road. Impact on setting to be considered, particularly
impact of new primary school building.

The defined landscape setting of settlement designation is
proposed to be amended and would be directly adjacent to
the western boundary of the potential development parcels.
In order to ensure no impact on setting, building heights
must not exceed 2-storeys in height.

Mitigation required

Requirement for a woodland belt at least 50m wide along
the southern edge of the development area to provide a soft
backdrop to the housing on shallow slopes.

Further evidence
required

Green Belt assessment required to assess impact of
removing land from Green Belt, including cumulative impact

Page 221
205



when considering strategic removal across the district.

Exploration of extent of possible green infrastructure
enhancements between Keynsham and Saltford required
(noting constraint of gas pipeline in this location).

Page 222
206




Hicks Gate

Place Profile

6.120 The Hicks Gate area is in the Green Belt and stretches west from the Hicks
Gate roundabout to the local authority boundary with Bristol, including land to
the north and the south of the A4. The wider area, which includes land within
Bath and North East Somerset as well as Bristol City Council, largely
comprises agricultural fields typically used for grazing, with a network of public
rights of way. This wider area includes a range of sports pitches, Brislington
House, St Brendan’s Sixth Form College, allotments and the Brislington Park
and Ride Site.

6.121 The centre of Bristol is within 4km and Keynsham town centre is within 2km.
6.122 The A4 is a strategic transport corridor between Bath and Bristol. It

experiences significant congestion in both directions during peak times.

m g R [ ¢ Key

Local Nature Reserve

Parks, open spaces and
local green spaces

Leisure / playing field
Conservation area
Employment

=71 HELAAsites

Ancient Woodland with
25m buffer

- Registered Parks and
Gardens

Grade 2 Agricultural land
Grade 3a Agricultural land
Allotment

=1 Golf course

Flood zone 2

Flood zone 3

High Points

Cycle route

Road

PRoW

> Long distance routes
Hedges

5m contours

Gas main high pressure
with inner zone (20m),

~ middle zone (40m) and

outer zone (50m)

Figure 28: Context plan - Hicks Gate

Page 223

207



6.123 Bristol City Council submitted the Bristol Local Plan Publication Version
(November 2023) for independent examination in April 2024. The examination
hearings have concluded and the Inspectors have published an Interim Post
Hearing Advice note. The council is currently working on outstanding actions
from the examination hearings.

6.124 ‘Policy DS12: New neighbourhood — Bath Road, Brislington’ proposes
removing land from the Green Belt to the south of the A4 as identified on the
aerial photograph below, for the development of 500-750 dwellings. The
published Bristol Local Plan also states that if appropriate proposals adjacent to
this location come forward, Bristol City Council will work with Bath and North East
Somerset Council to consider the impacts and opportunities, to assess
infrastructure requirements and to ensure integrated and well-planned
communities are created.

Allotments
% (retained)

Scotland
Bottom

BATH AND
NORTH EAST
SOMERSET

v g Plc e sluesky Intel ; 0. : . £
Figure 29: Extract from Bristol City Council Draft Local Plan showing area proposed to be removed from the
Green Belt

Page 224
208


https://www.bristol.gov.uk/files/documents/6894-bristol-local-plan-main-document-publication-version-nov-2023/file#page=60
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/files/documents/6894-bristol-local-plan-main-document-publication-version-nov-2023/file#page=60

Key Issues and Opportunities

Land at Hicks Gate is designated as Green Belt. Any new site allocations
would require the removal of land from the Green Belt, and removal
would require exceptional circumstances to be fully evidenced and

justified in the context of revised national policy. Méasures tolimprove
the quality of the remaining Green Belt should be explored, including

accessible green spaces and nature recovery, with funding to deliver

such improvements identified.

The wider area lies within Bristol City Council and B&NES Council. The
local authorities would need to collaborate to enable the preparation of
a comprehensive masterplan to deliver a high quality place to live and
work.

This area has primarily been considered for its potential as a residential
led development, with the opportunity for employment led regeneration
within the existing and adjacent areas of Bristol. One of the issues to
be considered as part of this consultation is whether there should be a
section of the development area within Bath and North East Somerset
that is more focused on the provision of employment floorspace.

The A4 is a strategic route for movement. The introduction of segregated
facilities for walking, cycling, public transport, plus green infrastructure
and crossing points would be expected to ensure mobility for residents
and mitigate the severance effect of the strategic road.

Page 225
209



As part of comprehensive development there is potential for the Brislington
Park and Ride facility in Bristol to be relocated to land within Bath and
North East Somerset closer to the Hicks Gate roundabout and in so
doing becoming a transport interchange. This would mean that in-
bound traffic using the Park and Ride would not pass through the
proposed development area.

The delivery of a transport interchange at Hicks Gate offers the potential to
provide a broader range of sustainable connections with surrounding
communities, including Keynsham and Bristol’s East Fringe. This could
include additional bus services, active travel connections, and shared
mobility facilities such as car clubs, hire bikes and e-scooters. It also
would provide access to bus services on the Bristol Bath Strategic
Corridor (BBSC), which will benefit from journey time improvements
provided by the BBSC project.

Whilst there are many footpaths south of the Hicks Gate site there are no
footpaths in the Hicks Gate site allocation, reducing connectivity within
and through the area. The A4 severs movement across the area and
cycling is restricted along this busy route. Cycle routes could be
relocated away from the A4 to provide active travel links and improve
the air quality.

In terms of access to natural spaces, there is no connection to the River
Avon and Stockwood Vale Golf Course restricts access to the wider
countryside to the south.

The landscape setting within the Hicks Gate area is sensitive, particularly
in relation to the land immediately to the south of the A4 before the
land slopes upwards. This area has a coherent landscape with small to
medium late or post medieval permanent pasture (mostly) fields and
excellent original, tall hedgerows.

Existing hedgerows within the area are an important resource for
associated wildlife. They need to be substantively integrated in the new
development and any unavoidable hedgerow loss must be
compensated at some other areas in line with the Biodiversity Net Gain
(BNG) and nature recovery requirements and strategies.

The issue of the potential adverse impact on the water quality of the
stream within the site should taken into account and mitigations should
be applied.

There are very few residents currently in the Hicks Gate area. One of the
challenges will be to create a community with appropriate infrastructure
and mix of uses.

Page 226
210



Emerging Vision and Priorities

6.125 The priorities for the Hicks Gate Area are set out below and these will inform a
vision for the area should it be allocated for development in the Draft Local
Plan. Many of the priorities can be addressed by new development, and the
site options have been selected in response to the key issues, priorities and
objectives. However, there are some priorities that won’t be addressed
through new development but will be addressed through other policies in the
local plan or initiatives undertaken by the council or by other stakeholders.

6.126 The options proposed have been informed by a suite of evidence base
material covering transport, landscape character, ecology and many other
subjects. Following a comprehensive analysis of the constraints and
opportunities, partly formulated through a series of design workshops, the
following emerging priorities are proposed to help shape the placemaking
aspirations and provide substance to the opportunity for strategic
development at Hicks Gate. These are:

Maximise the delivery of housing that is affordable in response to social
and economic needs, and local demographics.

Deliver zero-carbon homes and a built environment that seeks to meet the
challenge of climate change by delivering a development that is both
resilient and enduring.

Consider the opportunities to deliver a greater proportion of employment
led development within the Bath and North East Somerset area.

The development will be compact, with an efficient use of the available
land predicated on a well-balanced housing density, and a mix of
house sizes, typologies and tenures.

Development at Hicks Gate will seek to complement existing provision of
services and amenities providing for the needs of both new and
existing communities.

The land use mixes across the site should be flexible, balanced and
complementary with residential, community and leisure facilities, local
services, retail, employment, offices and studios, all woven together to
create a place that is truly designed for a healthy work-life balance.

Reduce the need to travel, particularly by retaining and providing jobs,
services and community facilities at suitable locations close to
residential areas.

Page 227
211



Safeguard existing habitats and seek opportunities to deliver significant
biodiversity net gain with a strong network of hedgerows and flower
rich verges throughout.

Promote strategic green infrastructure and compensatory improvements in
the remaining Green Belt gap between Bristol and Keynsham.

Provide a range of sports, recreational facilities, parks and open spaces
incorporating existing landscape assets to enable new residents to
have easy access to nature and promote active modes of travel.

Provide tree-lined streets and public spaces to promote a sense of well-
being as well as providing shading and cooling in the summer months
and contributing towards the development’s climate change resilience
capabilities.

Integrate natural water management solutions to achieve resilient places
to respond to the challenge of water stress by integrating sustainable
urban drainage systems (SuDS), rain gardens, permeable pavers and
rooftop gardens.

The diagram below represents these conceptual themes:

\ Key
Built-up areas
i Schools

Area of potential change
Green Belt

Strategic Green
Infrastructure Opportunity
oo Railway
s Hillside
=== Road network
= \Natercourse
<« Green corridor
.. . Potential pedestrian and
cycle links

/ 3
» .
INTERCHANGE - /

I_:igL}ré 30: Indicative concept plan - Hicks Gate

Page 228
212



Transport Opportunities

6.127 Some of the key issues in the Hicks Gate area relate to transport and
highways and a number of opportunities and potential interventions have
been identified. These interventions will need more detailed consideration
whilst working up the Draft Local Plan, including mechanisms for funding
them:

As part of the City Regional Sustainable Transport Settlement, the Bristol
to Bath Corridor project is being led by WECA and delivered in
partnership with B&NES Council and Bristol City Council. It aims to
improve travel between Bath and Bristol through better bus services
and enabling more cycling and walking, through the delivery of a Mass
Transit corridor which will pass along the A4 through Hicks Gate. The
current scope of the project includes bus priority measures, road space
reallocation, enhancement to bus stops, improved walking and cycling
facilities and improvements to the public realm. The project intends to
improve sustainable movement along the corridor.

Page 229
213



The new community will integrate with existing communities via a network
of sustainable, accessible and green movement corridors, allowing
people to access amenities and services in the Hicks Gate area and
across the wider Keynsham and southeast Bristol area. Hicks Gate will
be a low-car settlement, promoting limited through routes within the
development and focusing on walking and cycling, and accessible and
competitive public transport opportunities.

Improving public spaces and routes, including crossing facilities on the A4
to encourage people to use public transport and active modes of travel.

Existing pedestrian and cycle connections can be enhanced and
integrated with new proposals across the area to ensure wider
commuter routes north-south and east-west. It can connect the Hicks
Gate area to Bristol, Stockwood, and Keynsham.

Extension of short-term e-scooter and e-Bike rental within the Hicks Gate
area.

Additional bus routes to link with a greater range of places such as
Keynsham, Whitchurch Village and Bristol’s East Fringe.

WEST Link Demand Responsive Travel (DRT) zones in Bath and North
East Somerset and Bristol shows zones are currently located
immediately to the east and west of the Hicks Gate study area. DRT
could be used to connect an Interchange Hub at Hicks Gate, where
passengers can gain access to a connecting bus service to complete
their journey.

Work with bus operators and other key stakeholders to decarbonise the
bus fleet in the Hicks Gate area.

Introduce more Electric Vehicle charging points in the Hicks Gate area.

Page 230
214



KEY

BBSC Project
, 3 < ] =sssssss: Possible Active Travel Route
Hicks Gate Area Wider Improvements: : = = = m Possible Bus Route

- Living Locally
. Demand Responsive Transport
. Zero Emission Buses

- EV Charge Points
. Public Realm Improvements

Pedestrian Crossing HICKS GATE

Segon
= --n-u.-.-----.-.--.---

Transport Interchange
Car Clubs

E-Bike/ E-Scoofers

Figure 31: Transport opportunities in the Hicks Gate area

Page 231

215



Strategy

Page 232




Location Option

New sites - appx. housing capacity range

Bristol to Bath Corridor

Hicks Gate

1,200 — 1,550 (for Option 2, see below)

Note — Hicks Gate could be mixed use with an increased employment role. This

would reduce the housing capacity anticipated.

Page 233

217




Hicks Gate Site Options

Page 234

218



6.139 It should be noted this area has primarily been considered as a residential led
development, with the opportunity for employment led regeneration within the
Brislington Retail and Trade Parks. This area is within Bristol City Council’s
jurisdiction and any proposed changes will be in their own local plan or other
regeneration initiatives. However, as set out in chapter 3 above there is a
need to plan for additional employment space within Bath and North East
Somerset in order to help facilitate a more prosperous, sustainable and fairer
economy and this location may have the potential to accommodate
employment uses. Therefore, an issue to be considered for these options is
whether there should be a section of the development area within Bath and
North East Somerset that is focused on the provision of employment
floorspace. This would rebalance some of these development parcels and
provide a greater proportion of employment and less housing development. A
logical location for an employment element could be adjacent to the proposed
Hicks Gate Interchange.

-===) Possible access

==) Primary access
-===) Key route network

BRISLINGTON \'\ 7
7 Ny 0 0 | QR RN
/’"' | ememm Public rights of way
/ mem Primary cycle route
Possible residential led
7/ Possible transport interchange
Green infrastructure
BB Possible landscape mitigation
I Allotments
@me Existing trees
=== Hedges
[=] Bus stop
I Watercourse

Existing woodland

2m contours
o e B&NES boundary

@ Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)

N B >

/ & > yEes 1O 100 200 500
/ A : i by > h

(5 ‘ 88 v D e —

Figure 32: Indicative concept plan - Hicks Gate Option 1

Page 235
219



Las: oL

/

-===) Possible access
== Primary access
-===) Key route network
====+ Public rights of way

.
1
i
1
1
[t
1
1

S~

memi Primary cycle route

Possible residential led

Possible transport interchange ‘
Green infrastructure
Possible landscape mitigation

Allotments

=
==
|
@me Existing trees
esmme Hedges
[%] Bus stop
I Watercourse
[ Existing woodland
—— 2m contours
------- B&NES boundary
@ Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)

2 0 100 200 500
@

5 ey v . i ST

Figure 33: Indicative concept plan - Hicks Gate Option 2

Page 236
220



Hicks Gate

Description

Opportunities

The delivery of a vibrant, well connected, _ low carbon community,
within a high-quality, nature positive, urban environment that is in harmony with
its attractive landscape setting. It will be an exemplar for sustainable living and
working, providing new approaches to sustainable transport, with high levels of
public transport and active travel use. It will have integrated green and blue
infrastructure, rich in biodiversity, and unlock improvements to the quality and
accessibility of the surrounding countryside.

Constraints

Located in the Green Belt.

The A4 corridor is an important strategic transport corridor into Bristol and can
get congested.

Secondary school pupils within B&NES would need safe access to Broadlands in
Keynsham.

Delivery requires co-ordination between B&NES and Bristol City Council. It will be
crucial for the local authorities to collaborate to enable the preparation of a
comprehensive masterplan and the delivery of social infrastructure to deliver a
high quality place to live and work.

Mitigation required

Careful consideration of the location, accessibility and integration of bus stops on
the A4 to optimise public transport use by residents. Pedestrian and cycle
crossings will be required over the A4 to alleviate severance issues and allow
access to public transport.

Significant green infrastructure and planting required throughout and along the
edge of the development sites. An area to the south has been identified for
landscape mitigation, but this area is in different ownership to the main area
proposed for development and delivery of this landscape mitigation is uncertain
and based wholly on the consent of the landowner. If this is not deliverable, then
appropriate landscape mitigation must take place within the proposed
development area and the overall quantum of development will be reduced.

Seek to make improvements, including enhanced access, to the remaining Green
Belt land, providing opportunities for outdoor sport and recreation, retaining and
enhancing landscapes, visual amenity and biodiversity.

Page 237
221



Further evidence required Green Belt assessment required to further assess the impact of removing land
from Green Belt, including cumulative impact when considering strategic removal
across the district.

Landscape sensitivity assessment and mitigation.

Click to comment

Page 238
222




Whitchurch Village

Place Profile

6.140 Whitchurch Village is located within the northern part of B&NES, with a

6.141

population of around 2,000 people. It sits directly south of Stockwood and
east of Hartcliffe in Bristol. The administrative area of Bristol City Council lies
immediately to the north and east of the Village. The village of Queen
Charlton lies to the east, and the town of Keynsham to the north east. More
recent development has increased the number of houses in the village by
around 250 homes, but did not bring with it any supporting facilities. The
existing village lacks certain amenities such as a village shop, although the
existing music shop sells some convenience goods.

Whitchurch Village is surrounded nearly entirely by Green Belt, separating it
from Bristol to the north and west, and Keynsham to the east. Any new
development adjoining the village would require the removal of land from the
Green Belt, and removal would require exceptional circumstances to be fully
evidenced and justified within the context of revised national policy, including
consideration of whether any land meets the definition of the newly introduced
concept of grey belt. This will be informed by Green Belt assessment which is
being undertaken to inform the Draft Local Plan.

&

Key
e Listed buildings

Green belt

Woodland

SNCI

Parks, open spaces and

Local Green spaces

Leisure / playing field

% Golf course

Flood zone 2

Flood zone 3

Recycling

Road

PROW

National cycle way

Gas main high pressure

with inner zone (20m),

middle zone (40m) and

NG outer zone (50m)
T~ Watercourse

5m contours

Hedges

HER  /
/ {LT,!,"
A |

\
\

Z50M \
2
A0

=

A

/q\}(‘y
g By

/

B=
g
&

Figure 34: Context plan - Whitchurch Village

Page 239
223



6.142

6.143

6.144

6.145

6.146

The local transport network for Whitchurch Village is characterised by the
dominance of private car journeys. This contributes to the high traffic volumes
on the A37 which bisects the village. The lack of high quality sustainable
alternatives, notably a railway station, results in a high proportion of private
car journeys, particularly to Bristol. For local journeys, walking, cycling and
wheeling are not popular choices because of the lack of safe, attractive and
convenient routes. There are a limited range of destinations served by direct
bus services, although Whitchurch Village is well-served by frequent bus
services to Bristol City Centre.

Sustrans National Cycle Network (NCN) Route 3 links central and south
Bristol to the Chew Valley and Wells, passing through Whitchurch Village,
along Staunton Lane and Sleep Lane.

The WECA Joint Local Transport Plan 4 (JLTP4) identified the South East
Bristol Orbital Low Carbon Corridor project as an opportunity to provide a
multimodal orbital corridor close to Whitchurch Village to facilitate north/south
connectivity. However, this project is now under review through the
preparation of the WECA Joint Local Transport Plan 5 (JLTPS), which is being
prepared in the context of the climate emergency declared by each of the
local authorities.

Various important heritage assets are located within and surrounding the
village. Of particular note is Maes Knoll Scheduled Ancient Monument, which
is located around 2km to the south west of Whitchurch Village (see figure 36).
Maes Knoll is a substantial, univallate fort enclosing the eastern end and
highest point of a plateau of high ground running approximately west to east
for around 3km from East Dundry. Maes Knoll is a visually prominent local
landmark, with its distinctive flat-topped profile visible across large areas of
Bristol and north-east Somerset. In turn, views from the site are very
extensive, reaching as far as both Severn crossings and a swathe of historic
Somerset. The setting of Maes Knoll is defined by its hilltop location. Its
elevated location affords panoramic views of the immediate fields on the
hillslopes and the green buffer surrounding suburban Bristol.

A Statement of Heritage Significance and Appraisal of Risk of Harm for all
heritage assets in and around Whitchurch Village, including Maes Knoll
Scheduled Ancient Monument, has been carried out to inform the preparation
of the options set out in this chapter. The diagram below provides a summary
of this assessment, indicating, using a RAG rating, the parcels of land on
which development would likely cause the most harm to the significance of
one or more heritage assets.

Page 240
224



6.147 With the exception of Option 4 which is a larger development of a scale that
could potentially deliver significant public benefits as part of a comprehensive
andivelPplannedinewidevelopment the options shown below for Whitchurch

Village have been directed to locations where harm to heritage assets would
likely fall within the NPPF definition of ‘less than substantial harm’ or could be
reduced by appropriate mitigation such as landscape design solutions. Any
future development on land parcels assessed to cause less than substantial
harm to a heritage asset will need to weigh this harm against any public
benefits that are provided by developing the parcel.

6.148 The area covered by Option 4 is shown in the Whitchurch Heritage

6.149 The full heritage assessment can be viewed in the supporting evidence base.

Page 241
225



x 1129500 "™ Bath and North East Somerset Local Plan
New. Fossewsy - Ros® & - Whitchurch Heritage Assessment
Bath and North East Somerset Council

) 1384835
A Chariton
2 2 Bottom . i
& 1436044 —ala - 1202673% 13846337 — 1384637 ; Figure 4.8: Overall risk of harm for the
L Stockwood 1384638 site

Qc’irl

ife Gaigens. 1282052

Wharnec

[ 2025 site boundary
[ 2023 site boundary
I Scheduled monument
[ Conservation area
Listed building
A Grade Il
A Grade I
Overall risk ratings for the site
I Very high
I High

Queen Charlton | High-medium
Queen 1 Medium
Charlt —
haritor [‘% 1 Medium-low
Low
Lo Popli
Cotts

¢
an,

w,,,,[h%" =3
Whitchurch 1136453

1202259 F i >

3

&
)
0

136!

5670
Whitewood Farm-#,

hary,

1005424

Gibbet

1007009

3207781 ew Barn Farm
1385668
4 Form
& 1003066
o«
toneycrof
s Knoll Farm Oa State
L | 1°°7°1°__ The Sungaiow * Publow Hill
1120483 | 1136356 stonewel {2680
& 3 41312818 112480 X
A—1365669 . & k- 5 Park Cott
0 0.5 1 -
@ ME%::{G km Ameroriben Map scale 1:15,000 @ A3
© Historic England 2025. Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2025. 16214_r0_Fig 07/08/2025

Figure 35: Extract from LUC Heritage Impact Assessment, Addendum (August, 2025)

Rating Level of Risk of Harm to Asset

Very high An area of high importance and sensitivity, where development would have the

greatest impact. The development of the site is likely to be of such a scale that the
significance of the heritage asset would experience significant harm, up to and
potentially including ‘substantial harm’ for the purposes of the NPPF, with no
potential for meaningful mitigation.

An area of high importance and sensitivity, where development would have a
significant impact. Development of the site is likely to result in a significant harmful
impact on the significance of the heritage asset, but this could be reduced (but not
removed) via appropriate mitigation.

medium

Area of medium-high importance and sensitivity where development would have a
harmful impact if no mitigation occurred. Development of the site could result in a
harmful impact on the significance of the heritage asset but this impact is likely to
fall within the definition of ‘less than substantial harm’, and/or could be reduced
via appropriate mitigation (such as via landscape design solutions).

Page 242
226



Medium

Area of medium importance and sensitivity. The development of the site may
result in a harmful impact to the significance of a heritage asset but it is likely that
these impacts could be avoided via appropriate mitigation (such as via landscape
design solutions).

Medium - Area of medium to low sensitivity. Potential impact will be of such a minimal scale
low that the significance of the heritage asset will not be harmed.
Low Area of low sensitivity. Development of the site is likely to result in minimal impact

on the significance of the asset. It is likely that no mitigation would be required.

Page 243
227




6.150 The area surrounding Whitchurch Village is also highly sensitive in terms of
landscape impact. A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment was carried out
in 2017, which assessed the significance of effects of development on landscape
and views for land parcels surrounding the village. The summary results of the
assessment are shown on the diagram below. All of the site options for
Whitchurch Village include development of parcels rated as having a high or
medium-high negative significance of effects. These are noted in the constraints
for each site, and if any allocations are proposed in Whitchurch Village at Draft
Local Plan stage, these will need to be informed by additional landscape
sensitivity work, and consideration of potential mitigation.

Legend

- High negative significance of effects
Medium-high negative significance of effects
] Medium negative significance of effects
Low-medium negative significance of effects
- Low negative significance of effects

Figure 36: Extract from 2017 Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment

Key Issues and Opportunities

Lack of employment in the local area results in out-commuting, mostly by
car.

Whitchurch Village is surrounded nearly entirely by Green Belt, separating
it from Bristol to the north and west, and Keynsham to the east.

A number of important heritage assets are located in and around the
village, including Maes Knoll and Wansdyke Scheduled Ancient
Monuments located to the south west.

Page 244
228



Landscape sensitivity assessments carried out in the area surrounding
Whitchurch Village indicate that land located to the south of the village,
between the village and Maes Knoll, is of particularly high landscape
sensitivity, apart from a small parcel of land directly adjoining the A37
to the west, which is assessed to have a medium landscape sensitivity.
Parcels of land directly adjoining the village to the east are also
assessed as having a medium landscape sensitivity, becoming more
highly sensitive moving further east.

There is currently no dedicated shop in the village to buy convenience
goods, though the existing music shop sells some convenience items.
There are a limited number of commercial units, a pub / restaurant, a
primary school and sports facilities. Growth of the village in recent
years did not include provision of any supporting facilities.

The existing village primary school could accommodate pupils from around
150 new homes, but any larger scale of development would need to be
supported by the provision of a new primary school as there is
insufficient space for on-site expansion.

Without the provision of a new secondary school at Whitchurch, secondary
age pupils from any new development at Whitchurch Village will need
to be transported to school in Keynsham or the Chew Valley, at cost to
the council. These pupils will not be able to travel to school sustainably
by active modes.

High traffic volumes cause congestion issues along the A37 corridor,
particularly at peak times. This can lead to poor air quality.

Footway widths are narrow at points along the A37, and the carriageway
width is frequently constrained by on-street parking.

The village play park is well-used, but is located along the A37 at the
southern end of the village, accessed via a very narrow footpath along
A37. A new signalised crossing to be installed as part of the
Whitchurch Liveable Neighbourhood Scheme will improve access to
the play park from the east.

The A37 severs the east and west parts of the village, and there are
limited pedestrian crossings across the busy road.

There are inadequate walking and cycle facilities on the A37 corridor,
owing to the constrained carriageway and footway widths along parts
of its length.

There are limited orbital routes available for journeys to the northeast and
northwest of the Whitchurch Village for sustainable modes.

Page 245
229



Emerging Vision and Priorities

6.151 The following list sets out the key priorities for Whitchurch Village. These
priorities will inform a vision for the village that will also cover and reflect areas
that are proposed for development in the Draft Local Plan. Many of the priorities
can be addressed by new development, and site options have been selected in
response to the key issues, priorities and objectives. However, there are some
priorities that won’t be addressed through new development but will be
addressed through other policies in the local plan or initiatives undertaken by the
council or by other stakeholders.

Maximise the delivery of affordable housing responding to local social and
economic needs, and local demographics, including provision of homes
fit for downsizing and single people.

Provision of small-scale local employment space in order to provide the
opportunity for local residents to be able to access and thrive in good
work.

Retain green buffer between Bristol and Whitchurch Village, in order to
ensure that the two do not merge

Preserve and enhance the settlement’s village identity

Provision of new local facilities such as a village shop, community facilities
and spaces to increase social interaction and encourage local living.

Protect heritage assets and their settings.
Protect areas of landscape sensitivity.
Maximise ecological mitigation and Biodiversity Net Gain.

Create a safe and attractive walking route between the village centre and
the existing playground located to the south of the village.

Enhance connectivity and access to the surrounding countryside including
to Maes Knoll through better provision of active travel routes.

Encourage the use of sustainable travel choices and reduce reliance on
car use.

Click to comment

Transport Opportunities

Page 246
230



6.152 Some of the key issues in Whitchurch Village relate to transport and
highways, as listed above. A number of transport opportunities and potential
interventions have been identified for Whitchurch Village. These interventions
will need more detailed consideration whilst working up the Draft Local Plan,
including mechanisms for funding them.

Improving the connectivity for active travel, reducing the severance of the
A37 corridor.

Improving access routes for pedestrians to facilities including the South
Bristol hospital and Leisure Centre, to reduce the need to travel further
afield.

Improving public spaces and routes, including crossing facilities, to
encourage people to use active modes of travel, including:

Building on the success of the existing Liveable Neighbourhood
scheme at Queen Charlton Lane to create greener, safer spaces for
people, and;

New signalised pedestrian and cycle crossings on the busiest routes to
improve safety of those using active travel modes.

Identifying minor rural roads to be designated as Quiet Lanes to provide
safer routes for active travel, away from speeding traffic.

Extension of short-term e-scooter and e-bike rental within Whitchurch
Village.

Provision of a mobility hub in Whitchurch Village on the A37, providing a
host of transport options in one place, allowing people to change
modes easily between shared transport such as car clubs and e-
scooters, public transport and active travel modes.

Bus priority measures could be considered and provided along the A37
corridor.

There is a need for Whitchurch Village to have good access to the facilities
and services in Keynsham, such as Broadlands Academy. A new bus
service between Keynsham and Whitchurch Village would fill a gap in
the existing provision.

Demand Responsive transport (DRT) can complement fixed route public
transport on the main corridors by providing connections into these
existing services. WESTLink South zone currently runs through the
middle of Whitchurch Village. DRT could be used to connect to the
proposed mobility hub within Whitchurch Village, where passengers
can gain access to a connecting bus or rail service to complete their
journey.

Page 247
231



ettt hanann

Whitchurch Village Wider Improvements:

. Living Locally
.Demand Responsive Transport

.EV Charge Points

KEY
() Public Realm Improvements
@ Possible Liveable Neighbourhood

' Possible Active Travel Route
INNINN Possible Bus Route
% Mobility Hub

' Car Clubs
0 Pedestrian Crossing Improvements

@ E-Bike/ E-Scooter
* Bus Priority

Figure 37: Transport opportunities in Whitchurch Village

@
<

.
T L
:
;
3
°* -
STOCKWOOD
2
X

Zavay,
3

e
....... LT
" QUEEN
CHARLTON = ,*
.'u.. ..-v'
~'.:.“0
e
-.---........ & Q“@ .‘a "
N "".E?CharﬂonLane . )
Yerwmun Treeaawsad ‘%
n. ."
4 .
. ol
: Ay
: .
%, :
2, ;
*, s <
%, : &
K7 § K
4, : $
%, 3 5
I', : :
/ . Es
%, s N
£/ | &
4 o
&

”,
4,
a
Mll",“un,"'

LTI

o
"
.

Page 248

232



Click to comment

Options Consultation 2024

Page 249
233



Figure 38:

OPTIONS MAP showing all the potential site allocations in Whitchurch Village and adjacent to Stockwood

0G¢ abed

Current Site Connectivity - Possible residential-led development  The grading within the map illustrates the current transport

connectivity based on the existing network, where A indicates the
highest level of connectivity. They are intended for reference only.
They do not account for future infrastructure improvements, which
are expected to enhance connectivity in line with the emerging
transport vision.

e A-rated e B-rated G C-rated
@ D-rated G E-rated e F-rated

Whitchurch and Stockwood
Options Map

Possible access

Key route network

Possible active travel routes
Primary cycle route

Primary bus route

Possible future bus route
Possible mobility hub

Town Centre

Possible residential-led
Green infrastructure
Possible landscape mitigation
Existing Woodland

SNCls

Possible Green
Infrastructure corridors

Existing Trees

Possible Rugby pitch
Existing Cricket pitch

Gas pipeline and easement
Watercourse

Hedgerows

B&NES Boundary

N

|- 0 100 200 500 1000 m
>/ \‘ —_' | |
N

234



Strategy

Site Options

6.158

6.159

A variety of site options for development are set out below, which have been
prepared in response to the key issues and priorities set out above. Some of
the site options comprise more than one land parcel or area that means they
are not in single ownership. Not all of the site options presented will
necessarily be taken forward for allocation for development in the Draft Local
Plan. Explanation as to how each of the site options responds to the key
issues and priorities is set out within the opportunities and constraints tables
for each site option. Where mitigation or additional evidence work is required
to achieve priorities and objectives, this is referenced within the table.

The land parcels which make up the site options below have been assessed
in more detail in various supporting documents, including the Housing and
Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA), the Sustainability Appraisal
(SA), and the Whitchurch Village Strategic Planning Options Document
(SPO). The table below sets out the HELAA and SA references relevant to
each site option:

Page 251
235



* denotes a site option with potential for mixed use and/or economic development

Page 252
236



6.160 Following consultation on these site options, a detailed assessment of the
transport impact of each site will be undertaken, to inform selection of sites to
be included in the Draft Plan. The cumulative impact of all sites included in the
Draft Plan will also be assessed. Any site allocations in the Draft Plan will
define site specific interventions required.

Click to comment

Page 253
237


https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/creating-sustainable-communities-whitchurch-village
https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/creating-sustainable-communities-whitchurch-village

Whitchurch Village Option 1: West Whitchurch (land to the west of
the A37) (range between 350 and 450 dwellings)

6.164 Option 1 includes:

Land located to the west of the A37, between Norton Lane to the south, and
Blackacre to the north.

6.165 The land is primarily used as arable fields. However, the Bristol Barbarians
RFC club is located in the southeastern part of the area, which would need to
be relocated to the south if this option was to be taken forward.

Page 254
238



S
| —
|
=1
—igd
-
—d
L
-
O

1

*===> Possible access

= Primary access

+==<>» Key route network

EEE  Primary cycle network

= = = Public rights of way
Possible residential led

W Greeninfrastructure

W Possible landscape mitigation

* Possible green infrastructure
corridors

@me  Existing trees

&mm» Hedges

[  Busstop

Existing cricket club
Possible rugby pitch

[E—1] Site of Nature Conservation
Interest
Existing woodland

—— 2m contours

*e*e+++ B&NES Boundary

C—-] Gas pipeline and easement

Current Connectivity
@ rating (A-F)

N
@ 0 100 200 300
— —

Figure 39: Indicative concept plan — Whitchurch Village Option 1

Whitchurch Village Description
Option 1:

West Whitchurch

Opportunities Provision of around - homes, plus extension of existing village centre
along A37, with provision of a primary school (if brought forward in combination
with other options), village green, village shop, and other community facilities.

Located close to the existing village centre, and with good access by active travel
modes to facilities located in Whitchurch Bristol.

Safe and attractive walking route from north west end of village to existing
village playground.

Public realm improvements along the A37 to improve pedestrian and cycle
connectivity, with local mobility hub connecting to national cycle route.

Page 255
239



Constraints

Located in the Green Belt.
Requires relocation of rugby club further south.

Further exploration required relating to whether relocated rugby club could be
adequately accommodated within the existing hedgerow network, with buffers.

The majority of this option is located within areas assessed to have either a high-
medium, or medium risk of harm to heritage assets in the area. In these areas it
is considered that development could result in a harmful impact on the
significance of heritage assets but this impact is likely to fall within the definition
of ‘less than substantial harm’, and/or could be reduced via appropriate
mitigation (such as via landscape design solutions). Some of the land parcels
located to the south west of the option are located in areas assessed to have a
high risk of harm to heritage assets, where it is considered that development
would likely result in a significant harmful impact on the significance of heritage
assets, but that this could be reduced (but not removed) via appropriate
mitigation. Any harm will need to be weighed against public benefits that are
provided by developing the parcel.

Development would impact historic field pattern to the west of A37.

Located in area of high landscape sensitivity — further assessment and
consideration of appropriate mitigation required.

Secondary school pupils would need to be transported to school at cost to the
council, and would not be able to reach school using active travel modes.

Although located close to the existing village centre and facilities within
Whitchurch Bristol, without improved public realm and crossings along A37,
severance with the existing village could occur.

Mitigation required

Careful consideration of pedestrian and cycle crossings required within public
realm improvements to alleviate severance issues.

Significant green infrastructure and planting required throughout and along the
edge of the development parcels, to provide softening to edges of development,
and mitigate impact on landscape and heritage assets located to the south.

Further evidence required

Landscape sensitivity assessment and mitigation.

Green Belt assessment required to assess impact of removing land from Green

Page 256
240




Belt, including cumulative impact when considering strategic removal across the
district.

Further heritage assessment required relating to levels of harm to heritage
assets, and consideration of weight of harm against public benefit.

Impact of development on historic field patterns to be considered.

Page 257
241




Whitchurch Village Option 2: Eastern extension of the village
Horsauord) and Vicolard Lo (range between 1,000 and 1.300
6.167 This site option comprises two main parcels or areas of land, namely:

A triangle of land located directly east of the A37 between the A37 and
Queen Charlton Road, and

Land adjoining the village to the east, currently occupied by Horseworld.

Comments are invited on the extent of this site option and whether it is
considered appropriate and deliverable that it comprises two main areas or
parcels of land that mean it is not in single ownership.

Page 258
242



*===> Possible access
=> Primary access
+===> Key route network
WEE  Primary cycle network
=== Public rights of way
Possible residential led
e Green infrastructure
I Possible landscape mitigation
» Possible green infrastructure
corridors
&  Eyisting trees
@& Hedges
Bus stop
[ site of Nature Conservation
Interest
[ Existing woodland
——— 2m contours
«eee+ B&NES Boundary
@ Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)
N

100 200 300

<

Figure 40: Indicative concept plan - Whitchurch Village Option 2

Page 259
243



Whitchurch Village
Option 2:

Horseworld &
Staunton Lane

Opportunities

Description

Provision of around _ homes.

Residential-led mixed-use development, including provision of a primary school
and small-scale employment space.

Public realm improvements along the A37 to improve pedestrian and cycle
connectivity, with local mobility hub connecting to national cycle route.

Development in location less sensitive in heritage and landscape terms.

Opportunity to improve access for residents into Stockwood Vale Valleys, and
walking routes across to Keynsham.

Constraints

Located in the Green Belt. The site is in a sensitive gap between the village and
the City of Bristol.

Not considered to be a particularly good location to provide a village shop, due to
distance from existing village centre and the A37.

Significant walking distances from eastern edge of development parcels to
existing village centre, and facilities located in Whitchurch Bristol.

Land parcels making up this option are located within areas assessed to have
either a low risk of harm to heritage assets, or in areas of high-medium, or
medium risk of harm to heritage assets. In the latter two areas it is considered
that development could result in a harmful impact on the significance of heritage
assets, but this impact is likely to fall within the definition of ‘less than substantial
harm’, and/or could be reduced via appropriate mitigation (such as via landscape
design solutions). Any harm will need to be weighed against public benefits that
are provided by developing the parcel.

Secondary school pupils would need to be transported to school at cost to the
council, and would not be able to reach school using actives modes.

Page 260
244



Mitigation required Significant green buffer required to eastern edge, to protect views from Queen
Charlton Conservation Area.

Green infrastructure required along A37 to soften edge of development parcel
when viewed from heritage assets located to the south west.

Further evidence required Landscape sensitivity assessment and mitigation.

Green Belt assessment required to assess impact of removing land from Green
Belt, including cumulative impact when considering strategic removal across the
district.

Further heritage assessment required relating to levels of harm to heritage
assets, and consideration of weight of harm against public benefit.

Page 261
245



Whitchurch Village Option 3: North of Whitchurch, Staunton Lane
(range between 300 and 400 dwellings)

+===» Possible access
=2 Primary access
=== Key route network
EEE  Pprimary cycle network
=== Public rights of way
Possible residential led

Green infrastructure
Possible landscape mitigation
Possible green infrastructure
corridors

Existing trees

Hedges

Bus stop

Site of Nature Conservation
Interest

Existing woodland

2m contours

B&NES Boundary

Current Connectivity

rating (A-F)

- i1 D=1t 01

100 200 300
— —

o

/l HINZON, =8 --
Figure 41: Indicative concept plan - Whitchurch Village Option 3

Page 262
246



Whitchurch Village
Option 3:

Staunton Lane

Opportunities

Description

Provision of around - homes

Located close to the existing village centre, and with good access by active travel
modes to facilities located in Whitchurch Bristol.

Public realm improvements along the A37 to improve pedestrian and cycle
connectivity, with local mobility hub connecting to national cycle route.

Constraints

Located in the Green Belt.

Secondary school pupils would need to be transported to school at cost to the
council, and would not be able to reach school using actives modes.

Page 263
247



Mitigation required Significant green infrastructure and planting required throughout and along the
edge of the development parcels.

Further evidence required Green Belt assessment required to assess impact of removing land from Green
Belt, including cumulative impact when considering strategic removal across the
district.

Evidence to consider secondary school place planning in the Wellsway and
Broadlands catchment areas, in combination with other proposed allocations in

the area.

Air quality assessment

Whitchurch Villaie Oition 4: South East Whitchurch (Range between

Page 264
248




*===> Possible access
=> Primary access
*===> Key route network
WEE  Primary cycle network
Public rights of way
Possible residential-led
Green infrastructure
Possible landscape mitigation

Possible green infrastructure
corridors

Existing trees

Hedges

Bus stop

Site of Nature Conservation
Interest

Existing woodland

1 0=0t 00

2m contours

=3 Gas pipeline and easement

Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)

éo 100 200 300
e —

Figure 42: Indicative concept plan - Whitchurch Village Option 4

Page 265

249



Whitchurch Village
Option 4:

South East
Whitchurch

Opportunities

Description

Opportunity to improve access for residents into Stockwood Vale Valleys.

Constraints

Located in the Green Belt.

Significant walking distance to existing village centre, and from facilities located
in Whitchurch Bristol.

Page 266

250



Mitigation required

50m green buffer required to eastern edge, to protect views from Queen
Charlton Conservation Area.

Further evidence required

Landscape sensitivity assessment and mitigation.

Green Belt assessment required to assess impact of removing land from Green
Belt, including cumulative impact when considering strategic removal across the
district.

Stockwood Lane (Range between 300 and 380 dwellings)

Page 267
251



Figure 43: Indicative cohcept plan - Stockwood Lane

Page 268

{ e

B0=1f 410

Possible access

Primary access

Key route network

Primary cycle network
Public rights of way

Possible residential-led
Green infrastructure
Possible landscape mitigation
Possible green infrastructure
corridors

Existing trees

Hedges

Bus stop

Site of Nature Conservation
Interest

Existing woodland
2m contours
B&NES Boundary

Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)

100 200 300

252



Option 5: Description

Stockwood Lane

Page 269




Click to comment

Page 270
254



7. Somer Valley: Vision, Strategy and Options

Strategy Overview

BRISTOL

BATH

Figure 44: Somer Valley Location

7.1 The section below relates to the Somer Valley area illustrated on the map
above and primarily outlines context, key issues, priorities and opportunities.

It is followed by sections on specific places within the Somer Valley.

7.2 The Somer Valley area covers a large area including many larger and smaller
settlements surrounded by hilly countryside and attractive green spaces. The
larger settlements are Midsomer Norton, Radstock, Westfield, Paulton and
Peasedown St John and these settlements all have their own character and

different amenities.

7.3 The area has a rich industrial and mining history, and this heritage is visible in
both the settlements and landscape. Some of the paths to the old mines are
still in use and old railway lines and the canal have found a more recreational
use. The batches from former mining work characterise the surrounding

landscape and can have high ecological value and nature recovery potential.

Page 271
255



7.4 There has been significant population growth in the Somer Valley between
the 2011 and 2021 censuses with 36,546 people recorded in the 2011
Census, which increased to 52,264 residents in 2021. In terms of household
size, the largest percentage of households in the Somer Valley are made up
of two people. There is a high level of out commuting and a high level of car
use.

7.5 Manufacturing, Construction, and Transport & Storage are the most
concentrated sectors for employment in the Somer Valley relative to Bath and

North East Somerset as a whole. There have been significant employment

losses in Manufacturing in the Somer Valley in recent decades.

Page 272
256



Duty to co-operate

712 Somerset Council administrative area is located directly to the south of
the Somer Valley. Therefore, we are engaging with Somerset Council to
discuss strategic cross-boundary matters such as housing provision,
transport and other infrastructure.

Transport

713 The Somer Valley has a dispersed settlement pattern, an undulating
topography and is physically distant to other key settlements such as Bristol

Page 273
257



and Bath. The Somer Valley has relatively limited dedicated cycle
infrastructure to connect towns and villages and no railway provision and
therefore, to access rail services residents need to travel to Bath, Bristol or
Frome. There is a lack of bus connections between the east and west of the
Somer Valley, poor services in more rural areas and lack of connections
between villages. The principal roads within the Somer Valley are the A367,
A37, A362 and A39.There is typically congestion during peak hours on the
A367, A362 and A39. Congestion and the associated impact of traffic is also

experienced within the Somer Valley, notably in the centres of Radstock and

Midsomer Norton.

Key Issues

e Restructuring of the local economy has resulted in some businesses
closing and an increase in out-commuting.

e The Somer Valley area has had significant housing development over
the adopted local plan period from 2011. However, that has been delivered
on a piecemeal basis with little infrastructure provision resulting from and
needed to serve development.

e There is a lack of integrated high quality sustainable and active travel
links in the area, and steep topography creates a constraint to active
travel. Access to public transport is patchy, and within some areas access
is very limited. Bus provision has been reduced in recent years.

e There is a lack of wayfinding which impacts residents and visitors
ability to access the countryside.

¢ A significant amount of housing growth has been permitted in the
Somerset Council area connected to the Somer Valley. This will result in
additional pressure on services and infrastructure.

Page 274
258



e There is an identified need for accessible greenspace of at least 100
ha to serve the Somer Valley. There are a number of opportunities to be
taken forward through the Somer Valley Rediscovered project linking
Waterside valley; Haydon Batch, Grove Wood, and Norton Radstock

Disused Railway Line, with the Midsomer Norton Town Park and beyond.

Page 275

259



Emerging Vision and Priorities

Affordable Housing

Employment

Transport

Page 276

260



Town Centre and Local High Streets

Green Spaces

Opportunities

Economic Development

Page 277

261



Transport Opportunities

Page 278




f Somer Valley Wider Area Improvements
. Living Locally g W
. Active Way 1 e " ;,-a“““‘““‘
i . Demand Responsive Transport "
. Zero Emission Busses
. EV Charge Points
. Liveable Neighbourhoods

PEASEDOWN
JOHN

L g
W

i

ALLATROW

FARAINGTON
URNEY

KEY v'." .......
Y Bus Priority )
e MSN Pedestrian Improvement MIDSOMER NOR'
............ Possible Active Travel Route
mmt Possible Bus Route

Mobility Hub

E-Bike/E-Scooter

Car Club

Figure 45: Somer Valley wider area improvement plan

Green Infrastructure Opportunities

7.30 Green infrastructure (Gl) is a network of multi-functional green and blue
spaces and other natural features, urban and rural, which is capable of
delivering a wide range of environmental, economic, health and wellbeing
benefits for nature, climate, and communities. To enhance and extend the
network, Gl should be central to the design of new developments, and

development proposals should demonstrate strong links to the wider green

infrastructure network.

7.31 Some of the site options set out in this chapter include reference to
‘Strategic Green Infrastructure Opportunities’, which are located outside of
the area shown for potential development. Identifying where these are is work
in progress, but the aim is to indicate where the council consider that Gl could
be provided or improved to meet B&NES Gl standards, and where they also

Page 279
263



offer nature based solutions to address issues such as flooding and nature
recovery. New and enhanced green infrastructure will either be funded by
development in the area, or through other mechanisms to be explored as we

prepare the Draft Local Plan.

Ecology

7.32 The West of England Local Nature Recovery Strategy and Toolkit
(LNRS) was published in November 2024. The LNRS identifies the following

areas:

e Areas that are already of importance to biodiversity. These are sites
that are nationally designated for their value to nature (SSSls, SACs and
SPAs); are designated as Local Nature Reserves; are locally designated
as ‘Sites of Nature Conservation Interest’ (SNClIs); and/or are
irreplaceable habitat including ancient woodland.

e Focus Areas for Nature Recovery. This is where action to recover
nature will have the biggest impact and is most feasible. These have been
mapped to reflect the priorities for nature recovery, and include all of the
mapped measures for nature recovery. The focus areas for nature
recovery are referred to as ‘areas that could become of particular
importance’ in regulation.

7.33 The diagram below shows where these areas are located in the Somer
Valley and the relationship between these areas and the Site Options under

consideration in this Options consultation. Constraints and opportunities are

referenced for each Site Option where appropriate.

Page 280
264



Hiiy Bank ™

Gallantnil Barn

Huish Farm
House

I Huish House' s

_ ' wWhitchurch

“Cottages ., CaRtans

D BANES Boundary

LNRS Focus Areas for Nature
Recovery

LNRS Areas of Importance

to Biodiversity

. Strategic Site Options

' Lentney Farm

&

Figure 46: Somer Valley Local Nature Recovery Sites

Page 281

265



Strategy

Page 282




Site Options

Somer Valley
o PEASEDOWNp«j Options Map

Key vehicular route
network

Possible main site
entrance

iy Possible active travel
routes

u  Primary bus route
Existing Cycle Network
Public rights of way
B&NES Boundary

" High Streets

(0 Residential sites with
planning permission

Existing allacated
development

Possible residential-led

Possible industrial

Existing industrial
Proposed SVEZ site
Development in Somerset
County Council Area

Grade 1 agricultural land
Green infrastructure
Possible landscape mitigation
Existing trees

Hedgerows

SSSls

Existing woodland

SNCIs

Somer Valley Rediscovered
Watercourse

Current Site Connectivity - Possible residential-led development The gradling within the map llustrates the current
transport connectivity based on the existing network,
where Aindicates the highest level of connectivity,
They are intended for reference only. They do not

A-rated e B-rated e C-rated 0 D-rated G E-rated G F-rated account for future infrastructure improvements, which

are expected to enhance connectivity in line with the

emerging transport vision.

Figure 47: Somer Valley site options map
Click to comment
7.40 A variety of site options for development are set out for each place

below, which have been prepared in response to the key issues, priorities and
opportunities. Explanation as to how each of the site options responds to the
key issues, priorities and objectives is outlined within the opportunities and
constraints tables for each site option. Where mitigation or additional
evidence work is required to achieve priorities and objectives, this is
referenced within the table, as well as any conflicts with priorities and

objectives.

7.41 The land parcels which make up the site options below have been

assessed in more detail in various supporting documents, including the

Page 283
267



Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA), the
Sustainability Appraisal (SA), the Somer Valley Area of Search Assessment,
and the Strategic Planning Options Document (SPO).

7.42 Within these documents, a number of additional sites have also been
assessed, and discounted, for various reasons. These sites are not included

in the site options below, for the reasons set out in the evidence base.

7.43 Following consultation on these site options, a detailed assessment of
the transport impact of each site will be undertaken, to inform selection of
sites to be included in the Draft Plan. The cumulative impact of all sites
included in the Draft Plan will also be assessed. Any site allocations in the

Draft Plan will define site specific interventions required.

Page 284

268



Peasedown
Place Profile

7.47 Peasedown St John is located to the south west of Bath. The village
sits on top of a plateau above the Cam Brook and Wellow Brook Valleys. Both
brooks, whilst designated as SNCIs, have potential for nature recovery and

habitat enhancement. The village has a population of approximately 6,500.

7.48 The small hamlet of Carlingcott existed before the large 19th century
expansion when the Somerset coalfield was expanded as the Industrial
Revolution increased demand for coal. By the second half of the 20th century
there were at least six collieries within 3km of Peasedown St John. Evidence
of the area’s mining heritage can be seen within the landscape, most notably

Braysdown Colliery batch which sits to the south of the village.

7.49 The south east side of the village was greatly extended in the 1990s
which included the provision of a bypass on the A367. The southern boundary
of the village is now formed by the Peasedown by-pass. Bath Business Park

is located to the south east and is now nearing full occupation.

7.50 The village is served by a number of existing amenities such as a
primary school, local shops and sports facilities. There are bus connections
along the A367 to both Bath and Radstock.

Page 285
269



Map 18: Peasedown St John site map

Page 286

AN\
=

District boundary
Listed buildings

Green belt

Woodland

SNCI

Parks, open spaces and
local green spaces
Leisure / playing field
Conservation area
Scheduled Monument

Ancient woodland with
25m buffer

Allotment

Flood zone 2

Flood zone 3

Road

PRoW

5m contours
Watercourse

Hedges

270



Key Issues and Opportunities

e The bypass is a hard boundary to the settlement and residential
development on the southern side of the bypass could result in severance
issues if not carefully designed.

e There is an increased requirement and opportunities for employment in
the area in order that local residents can access good jobs.

e The village sits on a busy commuter route between Radstock and Bath
Priorities and Objectives

7.51 The following list sets out the key priorities and objectives for

Peasedown.

e Expansion of the Bath Business Park would allow for job growth
providing local employment opportunities within the Somer Valley, whilst
not impacting on the delivery of employment space at the Somer Valley
Enterprise Zone.

¢ New housing development in Peasedown St John should be well
connected for pedestrians to the existing village centre to allow for
pavement access.

Page 287
271



Site Options

South Peasedown

7.52 The area to the south west of Peasedown St John comprises three
fields aligned along the northern side of the A367. While this parcel projects
beyond the current boundary of the settlement, it is well connected to the
existing urban area and there are clear opportunities to create better
connections, particularly in terms of active travel. The land is nestled adjacent
to an ancient woodland as well as having a well treed road frontage with
hedgerows that reduce intervisibility with other parts of the wider landscape.
All of these features and especially the ancient woodland are vulnerable to

damage or loss from new development.

7.53 The area has the potential to be developed for residential uses
providing an estimated 250 — 300 homes, together with landscape and habitat
enhancement/creation. There is also scope for the creation of new public
transport and active travel connections back into the village and towards key
destinations such as the village centre, the church and primary school.

Page 288

272



Page 289

273



TN
A

Figure 48: Peasedown St John site options

DOWN -

Page 290

Key

-

—
m-=)

Possible access
Primary access

Key route network
Public rights of way
Possible residential led
Possible employment
Green infrastucture
Possible landscape mitigation
Existing trees

Hedges

2m contours

Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)

100 200 500

274



Key

— 2m contours

= 3 Possible access === Public rights of way [ Possible landscape mitigation
== Primary access Possible residential led ~@#® Existing trees O Clt‘,"e'&c;;mec“"ity
rating (A~
= 3 Key route network I Green infrastructure = Hedges N
@ﬂ 50 100 250
Nadhe A
Ty
| ] T
n W s,
i La agd 10| S b
= rEp & \©
. -i—‘f 2 !
J I e LY . e
] A =t 1
-
NS
e, \UEY . o e - N ey T T T T T 2,
4 / 9 -7
/ e
. y / _
e 4 B / P -
4 [ 1 o
i y 4 = 1 \ 7
s 4 P ) I ‘ \ //
’)’ p ..{’ . \\ P
‘/// /// e P I 1 | v /;'
/ o I \ = f
v ] L = W

= ~

Figure 49: South Peasedown Options

Click to comment

Page 291
275



Bath Business Park

Page 292

276



}

T

Click to comment

Page 293

= » Possible access

- Primary access

- ) Key route network

=== Public rights of way

I Fossible employment

0 Greeninfrastructure

[ Possible landscape mitigation
@me Existing trees

@ Hedges

—— 2m contours

Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)

277



Peasedown St
John

Opportunities

Description

Addition of approximately 800 to 1,000 homes (250 to 300 to the north
and 550 to 700 to the south), of which an element would be affordable
housing

Expansion of Bath Business Park

Highway improvements to existing junctions.

Quiet lanes proposed by the Somer Valley Links project.

Constraints

Landscape character, Conservation Area, highways, Ancient Woodland,
green space provision

Secondary school pupils may need to be transported to Writhlington
School in Radstock at cost to the council, and would not be able to reach
school using actives modes of travel.

17" century landscape of Woodborough Court and Medieval fishpond.
A367 is a barrier to the village.

Close to an SNCI

Mitigation required

Landscape buffers
Protection of nearby SNCI
Highway improvements

Biodiversity net gain, planting, provision of on site green space and access
to local food growing.

Alterations to the A367
Addition of a new roundabout

Pavement access to the village centre

Further evidence required

Archaeological assessment
Heritage assessment

Confirmation of highways improvements

Page 294
278



Landscape Visual Impact Assessment.

Transport Assessment

Smaller non-strategic sites

7.63 Alongside the strategic development options above some additional

smaller sites have been identified within Peasedown as potential

opportunities for additional housing.

Opportunities Constraints
PEA 05a, 05b Opportunity for small scale | Impact on the existing landscape.
and 06 additional housing of

around 100 to 150 homes Setting of Grade Il church
Affordable housing

Improve pavement access
to the village centre

Page 295
279




Figure 51: Lower Peasedown Options

Click to comment

Page 296

Key

- =3 Possible access

== Primary access

=== Public rights of way
Possible residential led

I Green infrastucture

@®» Existing trees

@» Hedges

=== 2m contours

G Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)

280



Opportunities

Figure 52: North Peasedown Options

Click to comment

Constraints

Page 297

Key

- =3 Possible access

=3 Primary access

= — = Public rights of way
Possible residential led

I Green infrastucture

@me Existing trees

@S Hedges

= 2m contours

(2) cument Connectivity
rating (A-F)

281



Radstock

Place Profile

7.66 Radstock lies within the sunken valley of the Wellow Brook and is
surrounded by hillsides, once used by operating collieries. Radstock
Conservation Area is extensive, stretching from Lower Writhlington to
incorporate elements of Westfield, primarily designated due to the town’s well
preserved mining heritage. The Somerset Coal Canal first opened to support
the coal industry which was superseded by the tramway in 1814. It was the
role Radstock played as a railway logistics hub to the Somerset Coalfield
which spurred expansion. By 1874, the town had two stations on separate
lines, the first was the Great Western Railway (from Bristol to Frome via
Radstock) and the second was the Somerset and Dorset Railway (from Bath
to Poole via Radstock). This had implications for Radstock’s morphology,
which saw pockets of expansion focused on hillsides close to collieries and
away from the heritage core. The town incorporates smaller settlements such
as Clandown, Haydon and Writhlington which historically were separate

villages.

7.67 The residential areas in the town are served by the town centre which
provides a range of retail and other facilities and is proposed to be improved
through the Radstock Town Centre Regeneration Action Plan. Other
commercial areas are located to the east of the town centre in lowland areas
beside Wellow Brook, and the town’s sewerage facility is located further east.
Coombe End which runs parallel to the A367 in the west is an area which
lacks formal structure comprising small commercial enterprises and
residential housing, a former industrial rail line once passed nearby. The
Radstock and Somerset Coalfield Museum is located centrally, and Radstock
Town Football Club and Dragonfly Leisure are located towards the southern
extent of the town, south of Frome Road. Recently, investment in cultural
infrastructure has begun in the town centre including the Trinity Hub project
and the OId Print Works. Surrounding Radstock Town Football Club there is a
playing field, and there are further small scale play areas in other areas of the

Page 298
282



town and allotments north of Springfield Crescent and south of Manor Road.

Radstock has two primary schools and one secondary school.

7.68 Radstock is served by bus services including on the A367 towards
Peasedown St John and Bath. But to the south of Radstock in areas such as

Haydon and Writhlington public transport options are more limited.

Key Issues and Opportunities

e The pedestrian and cycle movement within Radstock town centre is
severed due to the convergence of the A362 and A367 which cuts through
the centre negatively impacting the quality of the public realm within the
town centre.

e Access to the Wellow Brook is limited within Radstock town centre.

e Radstock town centre is well serviced by public transport to and from
Bristol, Bath and Wells, however there are limited opportunities to access
other destinations by public transport.

e Radstock town centre has limited footfall due to the lack of diversity in
retail offers, as well as a lack of cultural amenity, night-time economy
businesses and an attractive food and beverage offer.

e There is a strong network of public rights of way. Local residents would
like to see access to the countryside improved.

e Public transport has been reduced in the Somer Valley with some
areas having very limited access to bus services.

e The Conservation Area covers a large proportion of the town and the
boundaries are being reviewed to possibly extend them.

e The town is surrounded by green hillsides which are integral to its
landscape character. The town’s mining heritage has shaped its landscape
character.

e There are limited employment opportunities
Priorities and objectives

7.69 The following list sets out the key priorities and objectives for Radstock.
Many of the priorities can be addressed by new development, and site
options have been selected in response to the key issues, priorities and
objectives. However, there are some priorities that won'’t be addressed

Page 299
283



through new development but will be addressed through other policies in the

local plan or initiatives undertaken by the council or by other stakeholders

e Provide homes to meet the needs of the local area, including provision
of homes that are affordable.

e New development should work with the Radstock Town Centre
Regeneration Action Plan and help to increase footfall to the town centre.

e New development should complement relevant elements of the Somer
Valley Rediscovered Project to provide greater opportunities for residents
and visitors to engage with and enable nature recovery.

¢ New development should enable a greater choice of transport via
sustainable and active travel (walking, cycling, wheeling and public
transport). New development should link into the existing public transport
network allowing for buses to become more viable.

e Ensure built and natural environments promote health and wellbeing
for all.

¢ Improving the town centre public realm, cultural assets, heritage
assets, facilities and infrastructure will help attract visitors and investment

North Radstock

Context

7.70 Land immediately to the north of Radstock currently consists of
agricultural fields, mostly on the plateau above the town. Bath Old Road, a
historic route, runs through the area of search and has a few homes dotted
along it. Trinity Church School (primary) sits at the southern edge with access
to Woodborough Lane. The area is close to Radstock town centre in the
south and is bordered by countryside to the north and east. The A367 runs
along the western edge of the area of search with the small settlement of

Clandown immediately beyond.

7.71 Landscape character is an important attribute in this area given that it
sits above the rest of the town and forms part of the green setting of Radstock
and the Conservation Area. The landscape and visual impacts of any new
development would therefore need to be minimised and mitigated by

Page 300
284



integrating new development within a robust landscape planting framework
and ensuring it blends in with the existing hillside that continue to provide a

green setting for Radstock.

7.72 A single Scheduled Ancient Monument lies to the north-west of the
area, comprising Camerton Romano-British town and associated prehistoric
and early medieval monuments. As a consequence of the close proximity to
the Scheduled Monument there is some potential for previously unrecorded
remains to be present within the area of search, although the part of the area
closest to the Scheduled Ancient Monument was subject to landfill and any
former archaeological remains would have been removed. There is no record

of any remains having been reported during those works.

7.73 Bath Old Road appears to be used as a ‘cut through’ and speed is only
limited in the built up areas to the south. There is currently no pavement
access to and through parts of the area. Existing walking, cycling and
wheeling connections into the town centre and to Trinity Church School are
poor. Any new development would require and could deliver significant

improvements to these connections.

7.74 Works to Bath Old Road to provide a Quiet Lane could help to facilitate
active travel. The speed limit would need to be reduced and a new pavement
provided giving better pedestrian access into the town centre. New vehicular
access onto the A367 would be needed so that any development is not
accessed solely from Bath Old Road and to ensure there is direct access to

nearby bus stops.

Page 301
285



v > ]} 31‘ Key

e [ Greenbelt
ol 5\ y B Woodland
% Y\ b\ T SNCI
8 \ 0y . :
e \ < >§‘ & 4 X\ ® Parks, open spaces and
\ o ~ \ Y 3 = ~al 3 .
\ TN ) Xy & 8 local green spaces
\ X N\ 2> & N 3 E
\ WX\ X el 3 X 3 SSS
Q \ s \ N L ‘ 3 ot Lt 5] Scheduled monument
N NN N % \ Conservation area
NN NN R e /
\ \\ \OX NN | B Allotment
| b, AN\ \ y = S Flood zone 2
¥ — = v 0
A NN NN e O\ : £ )
W\ N e P \ é_" { Flood zone 3
o 2 s - .
% \ L S % National cycle route
A { 0 N - ~
N oy tRgw g -
. - ¥ e — w—  Road
he ¢ . ? =
LN = 4;;"" 5 === PROW
\\ ¢ ¥ S N - 1 S -
e —~ e 5m contours
¥ = X5

. I > '
- . . é Watercourse
| T, H
e ¥ \ . 1 gy Hedges
. ) \‘ ’ -——-——-,.;

8 p, ¥ —
~ F, xR & \‘ ! "7"‘
/ ’ = { .
f >
) Q ¢
/ “\_ % A X, —— L
o s e e
/ ¥ > SESR
/ ¢ » Laet
% B
l-‘ d
B\ 2
i ‘. g
RADSTOCK P ;
- - e SO At =
ot =
35 o =
Y =S / =4
\/—"” TVO 100 200 500
A ) — e —

Figure 53: Map of North Radstock

Site Option

7.75 The site option presented below could provide up to 1,250 to 1,550
new homes in total, as well as supporting facilities and green infrastructure.
The site options have the potential to create a new neighbourhood with a
connection to the A367 and direct access to Radstock town centre via the
Bath Old Road. It is a residential and landscape led development with green
screening to the north and south and a tree-lined street running through the
middle of the development creating a sense of place when arriving at the new

neighbourhood and contributing to the landscape setting.

7.76 Development can also incorporate small scale economic uses that are

compatible with a residential area.

7.77 Other green links to the countryside will run north-south through the
development to create biodiversity links, support habitat improvement,
provide views to the countryside and improve the connectivity within the

neighbourhood.

Page 302
286



7.78 The proximity of the development to Radstock town centre will benefit
the regeneration strategy for the town centre and should help to increase
footfall. Creating a critical mass of residents with easy access to current and
new facilities would help the town centre to thrive. The town centre’s
regeneration will benefit from future public realm improvements focussing on
pedestrian safety and accessibility.

7.79 The development will extend to the west and east of the Bath Old
Road, with a direct link to Radstock town centre along both the existing Public
Rights of Way and routes through the new development. Development is

stepped away from the Bath Old Road to preserve its characteristic far-

reaching views towards Radstock to the south and open countryside to the
north.

Page 303
287



~

ey

== Possible access

l

Primary access
==3 Key route network

= = Public rights of way

Norton Radstock Greenway
Possible residential led
Green infrastructure

Possible landscape mitigation
Existing trees

Hedges

2m contours

of [#IN

Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)

0 50 100 250

Bz

Figure 54: North Radstock Options

Page 304
288



North Radstock

Description

Opportunities

Approximately 1,250 to 1,550 homes, of which an element would be
affordable housing.

The speed of traffic on Bath Old Road could be reduced and new
pavement provided. There is potential for a quiet lane.

A larger quantum of development can provide new community facilities.
Improved access to Trinity Church School.

Improved access to the countryside and surrounding public rights of way.
Strategic green infrastructure opportunities.

Green Space Provision and Allotments

New local centre

Connections to the bus route along the A367

Small scale economic uses compatible with residential uses

Constraints

Hillside location with landscape value and close to the Conservation Area.

Bath Old Road is used as a cut through and does not have pavement
access.

Nearby is Camerton Romano settlement which is a Scheduled Ancient
Monument.

Safeguarded existing sport and recreational facilities (Roundhill
Recreational Ground)

Proximity to the Conservation Area
Air quality
Cumulative impact on school places in particular secondary

Development between Radstock and Peasedown will impact on the
heritage assets

Trinity School may need to expand and be funded through developer
contributions

Page 305
289




Mitigation required Landscaping and green infrastructure.
Additional access to Trinity Church School.

Provision of on-site green space (including provision for local food
growing)

Consideration of site layouts to avoid canyoning and avoid harm to air
quality.

Further evidence required | Archaeological assessment.
Detailed Landscape Assessment
Heritage Assessment

Detailed assessment of primary school capacity

Click to comment

Page 306
290




Writhlington

Context

7.83 The area sits within the existing landscape comprising agricultural
fields, enclosed by the valley to the northeast, which forms part of the Wellow
Brook valley to the north. To the south of the valley, the landform rises to form

a shallow plateau, centred along Green Parlour Road.

7.84 The A362 runs through the area providing vehicular access to both the

northern and southern parts of the locality.
7.85 Writhington has one secondary school and one primary school.

7.86 New development would generate the need for new and improved links
to the town centre and to the surrounding countryside. The existing five-way
junction at Frome Road, Old Road and Manor Road is heavily congested. In
particular, there are schools and associated traffic either side of the junction.
Development would require and could help facilitate improvements to the
existing junction, which would provide better access to and within the area
also better supporting a local centre. In order to enable development and in
addition to improving the existing five-way junction, a new junction would
need to be created to relieve pressure on the existing five-way junction.
Manor Road is currently used as a ‘cut through’ to access Peasedown St
John. Braysdown Lane which connects to Manor Road is proposed to be
designated as a quiet lane which may help reduce use of Manor Road by

cars.

7.87 There are limited public transport connections into the town centre
therefore, currently people without a car struggle to access services. The
potential to improve public transport connections associated with any

development would also need to be explored.

7.88 The area is surrounded by gently rolling, open countryside, easily

accessible by existing lanes and new and improved connections. Nearby

Page 307
291



ancient woodlands would be a natural edge to the development and these
areas of planting could be expanded by the creation of a buffer zone, which

would provide protection for the ancient woodland and improve biodiversity.

7.89 The area is located at the edge of a rolling and indented plateau with
the steep sided valley of the Wellow Brook immediately to the north. It
occupies an elevated position on the skyline. It is therefore important that any
development retains a green landscape setting of the wider Writhlington area.
The existing network of hedgerows, along field boundaries and roads, would
also need to be strengthened and new open spaces created to form a
landscape setting for any new development. New landscape planting would
be needed to soften the visual impact of development. There are also walking
connections of paths and lanes into the countryside and scope for more and

improved connections.

7.91 Any future development would need to be on land within both B&NES

and Somerset Council administrative areas in order to provide a quantum of
development necessary to facilitate provision of shops, services and
improvements to the road network. This requires ongoing dialogue between
the two councils regarding the potential for future development. If
development were to be progressed the two councils would also then need to
co-operate on their respective local plans and work together on preparing a
placemaking strategy to facilitate creation of a high quality, sustainable and
healthy development well connected to the rest of Radstock and the

surrounding area.

7.92 In addition, the councils would need to liaise on identifying
infrastructure requirements and funding arrangements including developer

contributions. This will need to be carefully assessed from a school admission

Page 308
292



perspective as Somerset residents may look at school provision within

B&NES.

7.93 The area has the potential to support a reasonably large scale

residential-led development, which would also deliver open space, social

infrastructure, nature recovery and improved local facilities over the Plan

period. Development of this scale and in this location would also support

regeneration efforts in the local town centres.

Key

Figure 55: Map of Writhlington

Page 309

«+ District boundary

SSSI
Woodland

5 SNCI

Parks, open spaces and
local green spaces
Leisure / playing field
Conservation area
Ancient woodland with
25m buffer

Flood zone 2

Flood zone 3

National cycle route
Road

PRoW

5m contours
Watercourse

Hedges

293



Site Options

7.94 Development in this location could provide up to 950 to 1,150 homes. If
the site is to be developed then the quantum of the development must be

viable to allow for and help deliver junction improvements along the A362.

7.95 Development can also incorporate small scale economic uses that are

compatible with a residential area.

7.96 The new development would be located partially on the shallow
plateau, with existing hedgerows strengthened and new planting established
along key access roads and the new footpath and cycleway network, to help

integrate the development into the landscape and in views from the east.

7.97 The nearest frequent bus services are located in Radstock town centre,

although there may be potential to extend services if critical mass can be

achieved. WECA are currently traiing a new 768 service between
Writhiington, local vilages and Bath.

7.98 Vehicle access would be provided from routes which provide
connections to the A362. To the north, the A362 connects to Radstock town
centre and surrounding residential areas. Access points for active modes can
also be provided to both of these routes. Providing a vehicular access onto
the A362 offers the potential to reduce the number of traffic movements at the

nearby five-ways junction, which could reduce safety and congestion issues.

7.99 A larger development might provide the opportunity to deliver better
supporting facilities. Providing supporting facilities offers the potential to

improve access to amenities for the local population, reducing distances that

people need to travel.

Page 310
294



Figure 56: Map of Writhlington Options

Page 311

== Possible access

W

YL/

0

®B=

o |thl

Primary access

Key route network

Public rights of way

Possible residential led
Possible sports pitch

Green infrastructure

Possible landscape mitigation
Existing trees

Hedges

2m contours

Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)

50 100 250
[ T e ——

295

1S



Writhlington

Description

Opportunities

Provide up to 950 to 1,150 homes, encompassing an element of affordable
housing.

New community and recreation facilities.
Improvements to existing road junctions.
Improve access to the countryside

Small scale economic uses compatible with residential use

Constraints

The landscape setting of the existing site.
Existing traffic congestion.
Cumulative impact on school places, particularly secondary school

Knobsbury Lane is an important skyline view and would require significant
landscape buffering

Ancient woodland

Proximity to the Conservation Area
Limited access to public transport
Close to an SNCI

St Marys primary school may need to expand and be funded through
developer contributions

Mitigation required

Landscaping
Community facilities
Site drainage

Protection of nearby SNCI

Further evidence required

Landscape plan

Page 312
296



Ecological assessment,

Transport assessment

Click to comment

Smaller (non-strategic) Sites

7.101 In addition to the strategic locations the following non-strategic sites

has been identified.

Haydon

7.102 The site is located to the north east of Haydon village, sitting on a
plateau above Radstock Town Centre. To the north of the site is a Regionally

Important Geological Site and Site of Special Scientific Interest.

Opportunities Constraints

RAD 31C Opportunity for small scale | No public transport.
additional housing of
approximately 110 to 140 Environmentally sensitive location
homes. close to SSSI and SNCI.
Affordable housing Proximity to the Conservation Area
Infill development following
the contours of the existing
settlement.

Setting of nearby listed buildings

Opportunity for nature
recovery.

Existing infrastructure can
be used.

Page 313
297




e el el

N
2

U

.

=
=
-

o

R

Figure 57: Map of Haydon Options

Click to comment

Page 314

Key

9 Primary access

=-=3 Key route network
=== Public rights of way

Possible residential led

5 Green infrastructure
B possible landscape mitigation
L) Existing trees

~ 2m contours

(B

Current connectivity
rating (A-F)

0 50 100

298



Westfield

Place Profile

Page 315




Key Issues and Opportunities

Priorities and Objectives

Site Options

Westfield Industrial Estate East — Economic Use

Page 316

300



Westfield
Industrial
Estate East —
Economic
Use

Opportunities

Development could
facilitate additional
employment floorspace
and form an extension to a
successful industrial
estate.

Constraints
The presence of the stream will make it
difficult to develop.

Visual impact of the development on the
wider landscape.

Setting of Kilmersdon colliery and
Conservation Area

No pavement access to the main road
and bus routes

The North East boundary is adjacent to
the SNCI

Page 317

301



9 Primary access
==% Key route network
=== Public rights of way
Bl Possible employment
"0 Green infrastructure )
[ Possible landscape mitigation .
@®» FExisting trees :
—— 2m contours

Water course

O Current connectivity
rating (A-F)

Figure 568: Map of Westfield Industrial Estate Options

Click to comment

Page 318
302



Westfield Industrial Estate East — Housing

7.111 Within the previous consultation the site was also considered as a
housing site. It sits adjacent to the existing Westfield industrial estate. There
is currently no pavement access to the main road and the site accommodates
an existing stream that flows into the waterside valley. The land could

accommodate around 200 homes.

Page 319
303



Westfield
Industrial
Estate East —
Housing

Opportunities

Opportunity for small scale
additional housing of
approximately 200 homes.

Affordable housing

Development could
facilitate new pavements
and lower traffic speed
limits.

Improved connection to
Hayden Batch and
Biodiversity Net Gain
(BNG)

Constraints

The presence of the stream will make it
difficult to develop.

There is no pavement access to the
main road.

The site is cut off from shops and
services.

Access would need to go through a busy
industrial site. Development of this land
might be more suitable for
industrial/employment purposes.

Visual impact of the development on the
wider landscape.

Setting of Kilmersdon colliery and
Conservation Area

No pavement access to the main road
and bus routes

The North East boundary is adjacent
to the Site if Nature Conservation
Importance (SNCI)

Page 320

304



Key

9 Primary access
==% Key route network
=== Public rights of way
Possible residential led
" Green infrastructure
[ Possible landscape mitigation
@®» FExisting trees
—— 2m contours
Water course

@ Current connectivity
rating (A-F)

Figure 59: Map of Westfield Options, Housing

Click to comment

Midsomer Norton

Place Profile

Page 321

305



Key Issues and Opportunities

Page 322




Priorities and Objectives

-Provide homes to meet the needs of the local area, including provision
of homes that are affordable.

Page 323

307



Page 324




Page 325

309



Key

=> Primary access Possible residential led W8 Green infrastructure  ® Current Connectivity
""" > Key route network ~ @se Existing trees ——— 2m contours natngi{eery
=== Possible access e Hedges [0 Existing woodland R S |

-===-Public rights of way

1T
Td s

X 2

Figure 60: Map of North Midsomer Norton Options

Page 326
310



Description

Opportunities

Provide up to 1,000 homes, encompassing an element of affordable
housing.

New community and recreation facilities.
Improvements to existing road junctions.
Improve access to the countryside

Connections to the existing Radstock Greenway and potential to improve
the existing route.

Constraints

The landscape setting of the existing settlement
Cumulative impact on school places

Setting of nearby heritage assets.

Cumulative impact on secondary school places

Impact on the setting of Conservation Areas and boundary extension to
Radstock Conservation Area

Development between Radstock and Midsomer Norton will impact on the
historic patterns of development

Mitigation required

Landscaping
Community facilities
Improvement of public rights of way and roads

Pavement access to local bus routes, cycle paths and the town centre.

Further evidence required

Landscape plan
Ecological assessment

Highways and traffic assessment

Click to comment

Page 327
311




Smaller (non-strategic) Sites

7.125 In addition to the strategic locations the following non-strategic sites

have been identified

7.126 Midsomer Norton South A and B - the sites are located on the southern
edge of Midsomer Norton adjacent to existing housing estates. The current

pavement access ends adjacent to the site.

Opportunities Constraints

Midsomer Norton | Opportunity for small scale | The site is not close to local shops

South A and B additional housing of and services.
approximately 130 to 170
homes.
Affordable housing Limited access to public transport

Extension to existing
residential development.

South eastern boundary is

Development could facilitate | adjacent to the River Somer SNCI
new pavements and lower

traffic speed limits.

Potential for a pedestrian
route to Staddlestones Park

Page 328
312



Key route network

Public rights of way

Possible residential led
Green infrastructure

Possible landscape mitigation
Existing frees

Hedges

2m contours

Current connectivity
rating (A-F)

Figure 61: Map of South Midsomer Norton Options

Click to comment

Page 329
313



Thicket Mead A and B

7127 The sites are located on the western edge of Midsomer Norton close to
the Tesco store at Old Mills. Site A is a sloping site that sits close to the valley
floor. Site B is a plateau site adjacent to Tesco that slopes down toward the

valley.

Opportunities Constraints

Thicket Mead A Opportunity for small scale | Due to land ownership this will

and B additional housing of result in piecemeal development
approximately 250-300 and there is limited opportunity for
homes. cohesive design.
Infill gaps within existing Landscape setting, including the
development. route of the old railway line
Opportunity for better Site is adjacent to Springfield
pedestrian connections Colliery and Wellow Brooks SNClIs

between Tesco and
Midsomer Norton.

Page 330
314



Key

9 Primary access

==% Key route network

=== Public rights of way

m=mu  Norton Radstock Greenway

1mm1 Possible extension to
Norton Radstock Greenway
Paossible residential led

! Somer Valley Enterprise Zone

" Green infrastucture

@ Existing trees

=see Hedges

~——— Water course

—— 2m contours

(B

Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)

100 250

b=
)
3

Figure 62: Map of Thicket Mead Options

Click to comment

Page 331
315



e Provide homes to meet the needs of the local area, including provision
of homes that are affordable.

Page 332




Small non-strategic sites

Farrington Road South and North

7.130 Farrington Road North sits to the north of Farrington Road adjacent to
Westview and Downsway. It is a relatively flat site. Farrington Road South is

accessed from Abbots Farm Close and slopes upwards to the south.

Opportunities Constraints

Farrington Road Opportunity for small scale | Due to the location of the site

South and North | additional housing of development would likely be
approximately 70 — 100 characterised by cul-de-sacs with
homes. little connectivity to the

surrounding settlement.
Affordable housing
Impact on the existing landscape.
Extend 20mph speed limit
and provide pavement Medieval field system and

access to the village centre. | potential archaeological interest.

Page 333
317



Key

= =3 Possible accass

=9 Primary access

= =3 Keyroute network

= = = Public rghts of way
Passibla rasidantial lad

B Green infrastucture

B Possible tandscape mitigation

1 Gmme Exsling tees

. @mm» Hedges

— 2 contours

() Curent Connectivity

ratng (A-F)
No 50 100
D

Figure 63: Map of Farrington Road South and North Options

Click to comment

Paulton East

Page 334

318



Opportunities Constraints

Paulton East Opportunity for small scale | Due to the location of the site
additional housing of development would likely be
approximately 190 - 230 characterised by cul-de-sacs with
homes. little connectivity to the

surrounding settlement.
Affordable housing
Impact on the existing landscape.

Impact on former colliery and
potential for contaminated land

Impact on heritage assets
including the former memorial
hospital

=

ey

- —3 Possible access
Primary access

- —3% Key route network

- — - Public rights of way
Possible residential led
Green infrastucture
Possible landscape mitigation
Existing trees

Hedges

2m contours

@ Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)

b

Figure 64: Map of Paulton East Options

Click to comment

Page 335
319



Farrington Gurney
Place Profile

7.132 Farrington Gurney sits on the junction of the A37 and A362 and has
good access to the surrounding towns and cities. The village already supports
a variety of facilities including a school, pub, restaurant and a community

facility.

7.133 The Somer Valley Links project and Somer Valley Enterprise Zone will
provide an off road cycle path into Midsomer Norton. The Somer Valley Links

project also proposes a new mobility hub at Farrington Gurney.

7.134 Historically, the development of the village has moved away from St
John’s Church, which is a listed building and now stands on its own in fields
to the east of the village. The isolated setting of the church will be an

important consideration for any development proposals.

7.135 Farrington Gurney is surrounded by rolling, relatively flat countryside.
The gentle escarpment to the south creates a boundary for any proposed
development. The Nature Reserve at Hollow Marsh and countryside are

accessible via local Public Rights of Way.

7.136 The main constraint is that almost all of the land within the area of
search is classified as Grade 1 in the Agricultural Land Classification, and
land adjacent, to the south, is classified as Grade 3a. Grade 1 and 3a are
referred to as ‘best and most versatile’ land, where development should be

avoided.

7.137 There are opportunities for a good size residential and landscape-led
development. The new mobility hub along the A37 would help with access to
public transport, and active travel is promoted through the Somer Valley
Links.

Page 336
320



7.138 To improve walking, wheeling and cycling permeability throughout the
village, the existing main roads need to be downgraded and vehicle speeds
need to be reduced to provide improved safety. The existing pedestrian and
cycle routes need to be improved and widened. A thorough archaeological

investigation would be needed as part of the planning and development
process.

7.139 There is an Air Quality Management Area within Farrington Gurney at
the junction of the A37 and A362. An increase in development to the village

may impact on air quality and any new development may need to be
designed so as to avoid damage to future air quality.

X e = Key
/,/ H » District boundary
Y &7 . Listed buildings
e £
> o! &9 . ! Woodiand
A0 HY = i
,\\ X v s gl 1 SNCI
yf i | [ y Parks, open spaces and
)0 local green spaces
/ N Y. fe— -
/ g Ui - == Ancient woodland with
v, \ i === 26m buffer
i \ \ F i
% \ & B Allotment
' \\\ : ) = Road
FARRINGTON 1 \ ! PRoW
- oW
‘ § URNEY :
I ¥ lan, § e \ ’ % i :
? e 4 5m contours
- q >
\ . e / Watercourse
. . \ ’ -
\ < ° \ / \ A Hedges
\ . y .
\ ' .
% _‘ g
/
W

Gas main high pressure
with inner zone (20m),
middle zone (40m) and
outer zone (50m)

Key Issues

Setting of the existing Grade Il listed church.

Setting of the surrounding landscape.

Page 337

321



e Impact of development on the existing highway network and access to
public transport

e Impact on the Farrington Gurney Air Quality Management Area
(AQMA) and AQMA in Temple Cloud

e Distance from Midsomer Norton town centre is over 3 miles.

e Secondary age pupils from any new development at Farrington Gurney
will need to be transported to Norton Hill School in Midsomer Norton, at
cost to the council. These pupils will not be able to travel to school
sustainably by active modes.

e Agricultural land classification

Priorities and Objectives

7.140 The following list sets out the key priorities and objectives for
Farrington Gurney. Many of the priorities can be addressed by new
development. However, there are some priorities that won’t be addressed
through new development but will be addressed through other policies in the

local plan or initiatives undertaken by the council or by other stakeholders.

e Around 500 homes could be provided, including housing that is
affordable and meets local needs

e The existing primary school has limited capacity to accept new
children. Therefore, a new school would need to be provided which
influences the scale or quantum of development required.

e Opportunities to improve local services and facilities.

e There is an opportunity to connect to the Somer Valley links project
which along with the Somer Valley Enterprise Zone will provide an off-road
cycle link to Midsomer Norton. This will provide cycle connections to the
network in Midsomer Norton.

e Landscape mitigation would be required to soften the impact of the
development.

e Ensure any new development provides mitigation measures so as not
to cause harm to the Air Quality Management Area.

Page 338
322



Site Options

7.144 The development option to the south of the village proposed below

would require vehicular access off the A37, which would need to be
downgraded (e.g. speeds reduced) as it passes through the village, in order

that safe pedestrian and cycle routes and crossings can be provided.

7.145 Green links throughout the residential areas would enhance local
biodiversity and provide a high-quality public realm and direct access to the

countryside.

7.146 The new development needs to be respectful of the historic character
of the village when it comes to connecting to the existing settlement. Historic
routes could be used for active travel, and it is important to retain and
enhance the local character of the settlement.

7.147 Development can also incorporate small scale economic uses that are

compatible with a residential area.

Page 339
323



Option 1

7.148 The existing road running through the site (Marsh Lane) would become
an important connecting route, providing access to the main body of
development. There will be additional green links and active travel routes
connecting to the existing village and, in particular to the various amenities
and services, such as the school and the Co-op.

7.149 Residential parcels would be located within a series of green corridors
and buffers to protect the Site of Nature Conservation Interest in the centre of
the area and Rush Hill Wood, an Ancient Woodland to the south. Marsh Lane
which connects the two areas of woodland is identified as a Nature Recovery
Network opportunity for woodland connectivity. The buffer along the southern
boundary also helps protect the setting of the Grade Il registered park and
garden of Ston Easton Park to the south.

7.150 Planting along the A362, which runs between the existing settlement
and the new development, would help to integrate it into the settlement,

framing views towards the ridge to the south and to key buildings within the
existing settlement.

7.151 There would be a need for pedestrian improvements along the A362,
which provides access for vehicles and active travel modes to the

development. The Somer Valley Links proposes an active travel route along

the road to connect with active travel links in Midsomer Norton.

Page 340
324



Figure 66: Map of South Farrington Gurney Options

Page 341

Possible access

Primary access

Key route network

Public rights of way

Possible residential led
Green infrastructure

Possible landscape mitigation
Existing trees

Hedges

2m contours

Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)

@o 50 100 250
[ N e —

325



Farrington Gurney

(south) - Option 1

Description

Opportunities

Approximately 400-500 homes of which an element would be Affordable
Housing

Small scale economic development compatible with residential uses.

Constraints

Site of Nature Conservation Importance
Ancient Woodland

Mendip Hills

Agricultural Land Classification

Air Quality Management Area

Marsh Lane Colliery

Limited access to public transport

Mitigation required

New primary School

Highway improvement on the A362 and A37

Landscape buffer to ancient woodland and SNCI

Secondary school pupils would need to be transported to Norton Hill
School in Midsomer Norton at cost to the council, and would not be able to

reach school using actives modes of travel.

Consideration of site layouts to avoid canyoning and avoid harm to air
quality.

Further evidence required

Archaeological assessment
Landscape Assessment
Contaminated land assessment
Agricultural land assessment

Air quality impact assessment

Page 342
326



Transport assessment

Click to comment

Option 2

Page 343

327




Farrington Gurney

(south) - Option 2

Description

Opportunities

Approximately 50 homes of which an element would be Affordable
Housing

Constraints

Site of Nature Conservation Importance
Ancient Woodland

Mendip Hills

Agricultural Land Classification

Air Quality Management Area

Marsh Lane Colliery

Mitigation required

Highway improvement on the A362 and A37
Landscape buffer to ancient woodland and SNCI

Secondary school pupils would need to be transported to Norton Hill
School in Midsomer Norton at cost to the council, and would not be able to
reach school using actives modes of travel.

Consideration of site layouts to avoid canyoning and avoid harm to air
quality

Further evidence required

Archaeological assessment
Landscape Assessment
Agricultural land assessment
Air quality impact assessment

Transport assessment

Click to comment

Page 344
328



8. Rural Areas: Vision, Strategy and Options

Strategy Overview and Key Issues

8.1 Home to over 37,000 residents, rural B&NES is a diverse group of towns,
villages, and hamlets with distinct characteristics and landscapes which
accounts for over 90% of the district’s land area. Each settlement has their
own strengths and challenges. Traditionally the rural economy has been
based on farming, self-employment and small businesses, which without the
right support limits growth potential. Poor public transport and digital
connectivity also act as barriers to business and home working, contributing
to social isolation and unequal access to essential goods and services. 78%
of rural residents commute to work by car, and alongside high transport
- emissions, highlights the need for more local employment and
sustainable travel options for our rural communities.

8.2 In 2022, house prices in B&NES were more than 10 times annual median
average earnings, creating challenges across the district. The lack of
affordable housing in our rural communities threatens the vitality of local

businesses and the social sustainability of our towns and villages.

Page 345
329



Place Profile

8.3 Set amongst high quality natural environments, the villages and hamlets of
the rural areas of the district provide an attractive and often peaceful
environment in which to live and work. The economy of the rural areas is
grounded in agriculture, which now works alongside other small rural
businesses. The high-quality landscape, of varying characters, contributes to
the quality of life of the district’s residents, as well as attracting visitors and as
a place for leisure and relaxation.

8.4 Large parts of the rural areas are designated as Green Belt, and much are
within the Cotswolds or Mendip Hills National Landscapes. The rural areas
complement the more urban parts of the district, and many rural residents
look to these urban areas for a wider range of facilities and employment.

8.5 The current approach to rural development, as delineated in the Placemaking

Plan and Core Strategy, categorises our villages as follows:

¢ RA1 Villages: Non-Green Belt villages boasting primary schools and,
crucially, at least two of the following essential amenities within the village - a
post office, community meeting space, and convenience store. Furthermore,
they benefit from at least a daily Monday-Saturday public transport service to
major centres. Policy RA1 required allocation of sites to deliver around 50
dwellings in each village.

e RAZ2 Villages: Non-Green Belt villages that fall outside the RA1 scope,
characterised by site allocations to deliver around 10-15 dwellings in each
village.

e GB2 Villages: Villages washed over by the Green Belt, where development is

restricted to infill only.

Page 346
330



Key Issues

8.6 It is becoming increasingly evident that the current strategy is leading to the
relative dispersal of development across a wide range of settlements. This is

an unintended consequence of the approach outlined above and has led to a

number of issues this local plan needs to address.

e Lack of affordable housing to meet local needs that may impact on the
social sustainability of the rural areas and exacerbate difficulties for an
ageing population.

e For much of the rural area poor access to public transport affects the
functionality of the rural economy and leads to isolation for those without
access to private transport.

e Access — community and social facilities,
services and shops.

¢ Importance of maintaining and enhancing the character and _
of our rural areas and communities.

¢ Reliance of the rural economy on farming, the self-employed and small
businesses that require support to flourish.

e Potential opportunities to diversify the rural economy e.g. centred around
local food production, sustainable rural and eco-tourism, renewable
energy, or the natural resources sector.

Page 347

331



Emerging Vision and Priorities

8.8 The following list sets out the key priorities for the Rural Area. Many of the
priorities can be addressed through development, either local plan-led or by
communities through Neighbourhood Plans. However, there are some issues
that won’t be addressed through new development but will be addressed
through other policies in the local plan, or by strategies or initiatives

undertaken by the council or by other stakeholders.

e Create vibrant, inclusive rural communities where people of all ages can
live, work, and thrive, supported by affordable homes, accessible services,
and strong social infrastructure.

e Champion a green rural economy that supports local enterprise,
sustainable tourism, and innovation in food, energy, and land-based
industries.

e Transform rural connectivity by delivering a network of safe, accessible
walking, cycling, and wheeling routes, and by improving public transport and
digital infrastructure.

e Empower communities to shape their future, supporting locally-led
development through Neighbourhood Plans, community land trusts, and rural
exception sites.

e Plan for climate resilience and environmental recovery, embedding
nature-based solutions, low-carbon design, and flood adaptation into all
aspects of rural growth.

¢ Unlock the potential of strategic rural development, where appropriate, to
deliver wider benefits such as employment land, new services, and
infrastructure that sustain long-term community wellbeing.

e Celebrate and protect the unique character of rural places, ensuring that
growth enhances rather than erodes the landscapes, heritage, and identities
that define them.

¢ Respond to national challenges with local solutions, using the local plan
as a springboard for bold, place-based planning that meets housing need

while respecting local distinctiveness.

Page 348
332



8.9 The Government’s Unleashing Rural Opportunity report sets out a framework
to support rural communities across the UK. Since its publication, progress
has been made in areas such as digital connectivity, transport, and rural
economic diversification. However, access to funding for rural areas remains
limited and uneven. In B&NES, the UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF),
administered through the West of England Mayoral Combined Authority
(WECA), has provided support to rural communities. Five rural parishes have
successfully delivered energy efficiency and biodiversity projects,
demonstrating the effectiveness of a decentralised delivery model. These

include:

8.10 These projects highlight the potential for community-led, place-based

investment in rural areas. However, the scale of funding available remains
limited, and further support is needed to ensure that rural communities across
B&NES can fully participate in the transition to a greener, more resilient
economy.

8.11 The council’s Economic Strategy is also seeking to support the
diversification of the rural economy and realising opportunities to facilitate
moves towards a greener economy, including growth in environmental
services and natural resources sectors, as well as sustainable rural and eco-
tourism. Improvements in digital infrastructure and changing work practices
also creates opportunities to diversify and enhance the rural economy. A

stronger rural economy, providing opportunities for local residents to access

Page 349
333



good jobs, is a vital component of more sustainable rural communities,

alongside efforts to retain and improve local services and facilities.

Transport Opportunities

8.12 Improving connectivity is also a key priority for rural communities. The
Active Travel Masterplan sets out a 20-year vision to make walking, wheeling,
and cycling the natural choice for more journeys across the district. It
proposes a holistic network of safe, accessible, and interconnected routes
that link rural settlements to key services, employment, and public transport
hubs. By reducing reliance on private vehicles, the Masterplan supports
climate goals, improves air quality, and enhances health and wellbeing. For
rural areas, it offers the opportunity to address isolation, improve access to
services, and strengthen local economies through better physical
connectivity.

8.13 Enhancing public transport is also a key priority for rural communities in
B&NES. The council’s approach focuses on a simple, dependable and
integrated rural bus network that links villages to key services, employment
and town centres via well located mobility hubs, supported by bus priority on
strategic corridors such as the A37, A367 and A362. WECA's forthcoming

work on bus ownership options will help to inform how rural services are

»n
©
(¢
Q.
=h
(¢
o
Q
>
o
Q.
o
=
[¢)
=
D
o

Page 350
334


https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/active-travel-masterplan

Green Infrastructure

8.14 Green infrastructure is a network of multi-functional green and blue
spaces and other natural features, urban and rural, which is capable of
delivering a wide range of environmental, economic, health and wellbeing
benefits for nature, climate, and communities. Opportunities to enhance and
extend the Green Infrastructure network should be central to the design of
new developments, and development proposals should demonstrate strong
links to the wider green infrastructure network.

8.15 The WECA Local Nature Recovery Strategy and Toolkit (LNRS) was
published in November 2024. The LNRS identifies the following areas:

¢ Areas that are already of importance to biodiversity. These are sites
that are nationally designated for their value to nature (SSSlIs, SACs
and SPAs); are designated as Local Nature Reserves; are locally
designated as ‘Sites of Nature Conservation Interest’ (SNCIs); and/or
are irreplaceable habitat including ancient woodland.

e Focus Areas for Nature Recovery. This is where action to recover
nature will have the biggest impact and is most feasible. These have
been mapped to reflect the priorities for nature recovery, and include
all of the mapped measures for nature recovery. The focus areas for
nature recovery are referred to as ‘areas that could become of
particular importance’ in regulation.

8.16 Figure 67 below shows where these areas are located in the Rural
Area, and the relationship between these areas and the Site Options under
consideration in this Options consultation. Constraints and opportunities are

referenced for each Site Option where appropriate.

Page 351
335



DBANES Boundary = ; “(1‘"”_ e e\ Al 1 LF T n
S e : A mﬂ .‘ 2 \“, ; /! S U
‘ D Bath City WHS ‘\/,; 4 2 i ] |\ AL ach
- |:| WHS Indicative Extent . = T / \,\ a . ’
' NRS Focus Areas for Nature T t > B o \\ S E_, Ve ;
Iliecnvery _Eﬂl & - ; " . = ‘\ﬁ C ::i’
LNRS Areas of Importance =~ -+~ S L. . - = 0 € e
to Biodiversity : | \747 T i
. Strategic Site Options =
PN S
4 elton T ol &
L/ T = et ;b“
Kikgdoe ; \ ”m
it
| N S %y e % P %‘ ad =
Bu[m’:m? . ’ \ ﬂl’
" — e N e
— .- WB"&
: &= o .
i P - - 5 - S
I \ S ) e ba ‘wub Hil - 'j_‘ - PR
“ m ) T \7”\ ] 8 ‘.
< Frty . g fé
ﬁ_ : 77 Foxcote )
Som ON : 7‘-’5
L G (e A
Figure 67: WECA LNRS areas and rural site options
Proportionate Growth:
8.17 Central to the vision and priorities for the rural areas is the need for

proportionality to growth, ensuring that development aligns with the unique
characteristics and needs of individual communities. Without a deliberate

focus on proportionality, development can risk overburdening smaller villages

or inadequately serving larger ones. EEVCHIGSIANCSUINONCHANGESIC

Page 352



8.18 These challenges underline the necessity for a more adaptable and
nuanced approach to rural development, which not only empowers local
communities but also ensures that development is commensurate with the
distinct needs and characteristics of our rural villages and settlements. It is
with these considerations in mind that the Rural Strategy introduces the two

complementary pathways to address these issues while fostering sustainable

growth and development. [EiGEROSVSIOPMENISIWNSISIADPIODTIaIcNCARIBEID

Pathway 1: Community-Led Growth

8.19 Under this pathway, local communities take the lead in shaping and
advancing their growth initiatives. Emphasising community involvement, this
approach offers a flexible framework, enabling residents to propose growth
projects that align with their local aspirations. Using a range of tools, including
rural exception schemes, community land trusts, and Neighbourhood

Planning, empowering communities to initiate growth projects.

Pathway 2: Local Plan-Led Growth

8.20 As communities contemplate the pursuit of their growth proposals, it is
essential to maintain efforts in preparing the new local plan to ensure the
certainty of delivering new developments, especially housing and
employment opportunities.

8.21 Taking these steps is vital to:

Page 353
337



¢ Positively plan and reduce the possibility of speculative developments.
¢ Facilitate the development of new affordable, market, and specialised
housing to meet the needs of rural communities.

Support existing services and facilities.

8.22 In opting for a local plan-led/site allocation approach to rural growth
and development, there are several inherent benefits that prioritise the holistic
well-being of our villages. Unlike speculative large site development, which
can introduce unforeseen challenges for essential functions like schools,
transport, and community facilities, a local plan provides a structured and
comprehensive framework.

8.23 Pathway 2 focuses on a local plan-led approach that provides a clear
direction for growth and change, adhering to the NPPF's principles of
sustainable development. This approach is essential in helping to meet our
overall housing, job, and infrastructure requirements and provides certainty
for both communities and developers. The principle of "proportionality” is

central to this approach, ensuring that growth aligns with the unique needs

and character of each community. HOWEVerIpIOpOtionaliyamusHNoWIbE

considered in the context of increased housing requirements and the need to

deliver development that brings meaningful benefits to rural communities.
8.24 Pathway 2 focuses on guiding new development in rural areas by

identifying relatively sustainable villages. Instead of adhering to the rigid

distinctions of RA1 and RA2 villages, a more flexible and proportionate

approach will be taken.

Page 354
338



8.2 The strategy for rural growth is based on an assessment of a village's

(o]

sustainability, considering factors such as connectivity through sustainable
modes of transportation (public transport, walking, cycling and wheeling) and
the availability of essential services and facilities.

8.2

N

In conjunction with this approach, place profiles have been prepared
for our villages and parishes. These profiles incorporate an analysis of past
growth since the start of the Core Strategy plan period, demographics,
connectivity, facilities audit, and other key issues. The outputs of this work are
outlined in a Topic Paper (published alongside the Options document) and
the associated identification of relatively sustainable villages for consideration
are set out in the Options document.

8.2

(0]

The villages identified as relatively sustainable compared to others are
proposed to become the focus of attention for some local plan led rural
growth. Our commitment is to engage with the community and parish council
in these villages to explore the potential for growth, its location and the
associated benefits that such development could bring e.g. meeting local

housing needs or providing employment opportunities, helping to keep

<
o)
Q
®
»
<
o
=2
®
©
>
o
[2)
c
(2]}
on
L
>
D
=2
I

Page 355
339



8.2

8.3

o

Should other villages wish to be considered for further growth then

there is the opportunity for them to respond through this consultation.

Page 356
340



Village Options

8.3

-

A summary of the village approach options is set out in Table below,
these are then be presented as site options in the next section. ESchNIllEge

Page 357
341



Village 5% Opportunities Constraints Options

Growth
Bathampton 40 High connectivity
dwellings | score
over the
Plan Broad range of
Period services &
facilities
Within indicative extent
of the setting of the
World Heritage Sites
Batheaston 63 High connectivity
dwellings | score
over the
Plaf_‘ Broad range of
Period services &

facilities

Within indicative extent
of the setting of the
World Heritage Sites

Limited primary school
capacity

Page 358

342



Village 5% Opportunities Constraints
Growth
Bathford 40 High connectivity
dwellings | score
over the
Plan Moderate range
Period of services &
facilities
Some primary
school capacity
identified
Within indicative extent
of the setting of the
World Heritage Site
Bishop Sutton | 33 Moderate range Low connectivity score
dwellings of services &
over the facilities Village SliffouRGeaioy
Plan the Mendip Hills
Period

Some primary
school capacity
identified

National Landscape

Page 359

Options

343



Village 5% Opportunities Constraints Options
Growth
Chew Magna 28 Broad range of Low connectivity score
dwellings services &
over the facilities
Plan
Period
Limited primary school
capacity
Chew Stoke 21 Moderate range Low connectivity score
dwellings of services &
over the facilities
Plan
Period

Limited primary school
capacity

Page 360

344



Village 5% Opportunities Constraints Options

Growth
Clutton 35 Moderate Limited range of
dwellings connectivity services & facilities
over the score
Plan The northern edge of
Period Some primary the village is in the
school capacity Green Belt
identified
Corston 11 Moderate Limited range of
dwellings connectivity services & facilities
over the score
Plan Within indicative extent
Period of the setting of the

World Heritage Sites

No primary school

Page 361

345



Village 5% Opportunities Constraints Options

Growth

Farmborough | 28 Moderate
dwellings connectivity
over the score
Plan
Period Moderate range

of services &
facilities

Freshford 15 High connectivity | Limited primary school

dwellings | score capacity

over the

Plan Moderate range

Period of services &

facilities
Village within the
Cotswolds National
Landscape
Page 362

346



Village 5% Opportunities Constraints Options
Growth
High Littleton 45 Moderate The North West, North
h dwellings | connectivity and North East edges
over the score of High Littleton village
Plan are surrounded by the
Period Moderate range Green Belt.
of services &
facilities Limited primary school
capacity
Pensford 25 Moderate range Low connectivity score
dwellings of services &
over the facilities
Plan
Period
Limited primary school
capacity
Temple Cloud | 30 Moderate Air Quality
dwellings connectivity Management Area
over the score
Plan
Period

Broad range of
services &
facilities

Page 363

347



Village 5% Opportunities Constraints Options
Growth
Timsbury 59 Moderate The northern edge of
dwellings | connectivity the village is in the
over the score Green Belt
Plan
Period Broad range of
services &
facilities
Some primary
school capacity
identified
Table 4: Summary of village options
Page 364

348



Page 365




Page 366

350



Mo CFEHT -
i’@;’.ﬁj{’ G

jor A
[ Proposed 4"

woodland /& .
L opelt /7y \ i

- L

..... > Possible vehicular access

=%  PFrimary access

----- > Key route netwaork

=== Public rights of way
Possible residential-led

E rossible employment

I Green infrastructure

|

Possible landscape mitigation

| Sites of Nature Conservation
Interest

®#s  Existing trees
3 —— Hedges
Vo B Busstop
Watercourse
Flood zones

]
! Current Connectivity
9 rating {A-F)

2850

Figure 68: Bathford and Batheaston site options.

Page 367
351



Page 368

352



Page 369




Page 370




S
e o e S pSSTS S pSUTEs e S  e CE ERS
P e
e
e e e e e
L S LU I O L SR S S e e

.&\\\\\\\" ““\\\\\.\\\\\\\\"
=

TS Py . .

ey g nd Possible vehicular access
o P

[ S

}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}}'&}}}}}}}}}\\\\“\\\\\\\\\\ \\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\

SRR \\\\{{QQ{Q‘\\\“‘R\\“

Primary access

Key route network
S

\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\‘\\\\\ S
e e
e
iR
ey
.\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\

Possible residential led
Possible employment
Possible later development
phase

=
-
ey
B e
e
TSN
s
STy
ey

Green infrastructure

Possible landscape mitigation
Existing trees

Hedges

=

' I H A
) ] [ )
|t Pl g

N

\\\x}}:&&}“\\“

= Bus stop
SRS )
- A A T Chew Valley Lake
SR

T
EREESS ) i q - Ecological designations
§§§§§§§§§‘*\*\*\‘"‘ i _— ; b . @ . (Site of Special Scientific
Interest, Site of Nature
Conservation Interest,
Special Protected Area)
6 Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)

N
S

250

Figure 69: Bishop Sutton site options

Page 371

355



Page 372




Page 373




Possible access

Primary access

Key route network

Possible residential-led
Green infrastructure

Possible landscape mitigation
Existing trees

Bus stop

Watercourse

Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)

0 50 100
e

Page 374

358



Page 375




== Primary access

= =) Key route network

Possible residential-led
Green infrastructure

Possible landscape mitigation
Existing trees

Hedges

Bus stop

Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)

Figure 71: Chew Stoke site option

Page 376

360



Page 377




Page 378




Page 379




Possible access
Primary access

Key route network
Public Right of Way
Possible residential led

Possible later
development phase

Green infrastructure
Possible landscape mitigation

Site of Nature Conservation
Interest

Existing trees
Hedges
Watercourse
2m contours

Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)

100 200 500

Figure 72: Clutton and Temple Cloud site option

Page 380
364



Page 381




Page 382
366



Page 383




) NPTy f——

[ e\
! ‘_//f;.——— (""-.___..—..____,._.'_..\\

_--..l _ L ] —
- \

——

~..'.,\

V)

=)» Possible access
Primary access
=» Key route network

==== Public Right of Way

CHENE N N

Possible residential led

Possible later
development phase

Green infrastructure
Possible landscape
mitigation

Existing trees
Hedges

2m contours
Watercourse

Current connectivity
rating (A-F)

Figure 73: Farmborough site options

Page 384

368



Page 385

369



Page 386




Possible access
Primary access
Key route network

Public Right of Way

Possible residential led
Green infrastucture

Possible landscape mitigation
2m contours

Current Connectivity
rating (A-F)

50 100 250

Figure 74: High Littleton and Hallatrow site option

Page 387
371



Page 388

372



Page 389




Page 390




Possible access
Primary access

Key route network
Public Rights of Way
Possible residential led
. Green infrastructure
Existing trees

Hedges

Water course

2m contours

Current connectivity rating (A-F)

190 200 5(‘)0

Figure 75: Timsbury site option

Page 391

375



Page 392

376



9. Development Management Policy Options

9.1 Development Management policies set out local standards and criteria against
which planning applications for the development and use of land and buildings
are assessed.

9.2 Development Management policies must conform with national planning policy
contained in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the technical
planning practice guidance which supports it. The government intend to prepare
National Development Management Policies (NDMP). Once the NDMPs have
been approved by government they do not need to be duplicated in local plans.
However, uncertainty remains around the scope and preparation timescales for
these NDMPs, their coverage and the scope for local planning authorities to
define local standards that differ to those in some NDMPs. Therefore, the council

is continuing to prepare and consult on options for Development Management

policies.

Page 393
377



9.5 Development Management policies must also reflect any future changes to
permitted development rights i.e. those forms of development that the
government defines as not requiring planning permission. This will also be kept

under review in preparing the Draft Local Plan.

Page 394
378



Housing

Affordable Housing

Page 395
379



H/AH: Affordable Housing (Large Sites)

Proposed Options

1 | Affordable Housing will be required as on-site provision in developments of 10 dwellings*
and above (0.5ha and above) in line with percentages _ and as tested
through the local plan viability (whole plan) assessment. It is also proposed this will be on a
grant free basis.

*Note: that dwellings are not confined to C3 use class but comprises all residential
accommodation that provides a dwelling for a household. Some forms of dwellings are
subject to separate Affordable Housing policy options e.g.co-living and Build to Rent
schemes.

2 | Affordable Housing will be required as on-site provision in developments of 10 dwellings*
and above (0.5ha and above) in line with the evidence base and as tested through the local
plan viability (whole plan) assessment. It is also proposed this will be on a grant free basis.

*Note: that dwellings are not confined to C3 use class but comprises all residential
accommodation that provides a dwelling for a household. Some forms of dwellings are
subject to separate Affordable Housing policy options e.g. co-living and Build to Rent
schemes.

Page 396
380



Policy H/CL: Co-living Schemes

Background

Page 397




Page 398




Option Advantages

Provides flexibility.

Disadvantages

Page 399

383



Page 400




Page 401

385



Advantages Disadvantages

Page 402
386



Policy H/PBSA: Purpose built student accommodation

Provision and Location

Page 403




Page 404
388



Policy H/GT: Gypsies, Roma, Travellers and Travelling
Show People

Page 405
389



Year Period

Page 406




Page 407

391



Page 408

392



Page 409

393



Clutton

Bath & North East
merset Council

HDB Review Option: Amend guiding principles to include large gardens

go_uthW_ay P

0

i
&
o
%

= il
\ %@\E@@E“?E, T

= ﬁo““}\'\p
FE
ﬁ%ﬁMainard
Poultry Farm

yoik e

s |

A=l

1 Extent of existing HDB
[ Proposed HDB

{ g : ) [ Green Belt
/z{ I 0 100 - 200m | parish boundary
[ i — [ BANES boundary

Vepretuzed fe-yihe Crrance s masars e Vs = =
tepett B i

Map 19: Clutton, HDBs

Page 410

etnce ke A

394



Advantages Disadvantages

Page 411
395



Climate Change

Page 412




XX: Climate Option Advantages Disadvantages
Adaptation
and

Resilience

Page 413
397



Page 414

398



XX: Retrofit Option Advantages Disadvantages
First

Page 415
399



Page 416

400



Policy XX: Option Advantages Disadvantages
District
Heating

Page 417
401



Policy C/RE: Renewable Energy

9.56 The council’s current approach to renewable energy is set out in Policy CP3.
Policy SCR4 sets out the council’'s approach to and support for Community Led

Projects.

9.57 The policy approach was reviewed through the LPPU to set out a positive
approach for determining applications and guiding development to the most

suitable locations.

9.58 The revised Policy CP3 sets out the criteria for all stand-alone renewable
energy projects, as well as specific criteria for wind energy and ground mounted

solar.

9.59 Through the LPPU, the council has set out a landscape-led approach for wind
energy and ground-mounted solar PV to guide development to the best locations
which is based on the Landscape Sensitivity Assessment (LSA) for Renewable
Energy Development (LUC, 2021).

Page 418
402



National Context

9.60 Paragraph 168 of the NPPF states that the planning system should support
renewable and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure. To help
increase the use and supply of renewable and low carbon energy and heat,

plans should:

e provide a positive strategy for energy from these sources, that
maximises the potential for suitable development, and their future
re-powering and life extension, while ensuring that adverse impacts
are addressed appropriately (including cumulative landscape and
visual impacts).

e consider identifying suitable areas for renewable and low carbon
energy sources, and supporting infrastructure, where this would
help secure their development; and

¢ |dentify opportunities for development to draw its energy supply
from decentralised, renewable or low carbon energy supply
systems and for co-locating potential heat customers and suppliers.

9.61 Community-led initiatives for renewable and low carbon energy should also be
supported, giving consideration to the role of neighbourhood planning as well as

local plans.

9.62 Further detailed guidance on developing policies on renewables and low

carbon energy and the planning considerations involved in such schemes is

provided in the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG). ASiof Uty 2025, further
guidance is anticipated on assessing community support for wind energy and
mechanisms for community benefit, such as reduced energy bills for host
communities.

Page 419
403



Changes since adoption of the LPPU

9.63 Since the adoption of the LPPU there have been changes to national policy
issued by the Government in relation to Wind Energy, through the release of 5th
September 2023 Written Material Statement (WMS) and subsequent revision to
the NPPF.

9.64 Through the WMS the Government is seeking to restart development of
onshore wind in England. The NPPF has been revised to allow alternative ways
of identifying potential locations for new wind farm developments, rather than
solely local development plans. This now includes local and neighbourhood

development orders, or community right to build orders.

9.65 There have also been changes to the wording around the test applied in
relation to community backing of onshore wind, on which further guidance is
expected from the Government on how public support for wind farms will be
assessed, and how communities that host wind farms could benefit from lower

energy bills.

Proposed Target

9.67 It was not possible to review the Core Strategy target for renewable energy
generation through the LPPU. Consequently, a misalignment exists between the

Core Strategy target and the council’s Climate Emergency goal.

9.68 Stretch Pathway modelling, outlined in the council’s Climate Emergency

Strategy 2019-2030, indicates the magnitude and urgency of our ambition in

Bath and North East Somerset to achieve our 2030 goal. According to the

Page 420
404


https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-statements/detail/2023-09-05/hcws1005
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1182995/NPPF_Sept_23.pdf#page=45
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1182995/NPPF_Sept_23.pdf#page=45
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-03/BANES%20Climate%20Emergency%20Strategy%20Document%20AW1.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-03/BANES%20Climate%20Emergency%20Strategy%20Document%20AW1.pdf

Anthesis 2019 report, it is suggested that we need a minimum additional 300MW

of renewable energy to contribute to the decarbonisation of electricity, heat, and
transport. Rapid and large-scale development of local renewable energy
installations is essential, such as equipping 50% of existing homes with roof
mounted solar PV by 2030, installing solar PV on commercial roof space
equivalent to around 116 football pitches, and incorporating approximately 28
large (2.5 MW) wind turbines.

9.69 Through National Policy there is no prescribed way of determining how much
energy should be generated from installations located within Bath and North East
Somerset. However, in order to explore the implications of our Climate
Emergency 2030 target on renewable energy development and to provide an
indication of the scale of the challenge, refer to our evidence base, specifically

the Renewable Energy Resource Assessment Study (RERAS).

9.70 The RERAS was commissioned, working with our partners (South
Gloucestershire, North Somerset and the West of England Combined Authority
(WECA)) to ensure a consistent approach across those areas. As part of this, we
have projected local energy demand in Bath and North East Somerset in 2030

based on the assumption that we are living in a carbon neutral scenario.

9.71 The RERAS presents a ‘snapshot’ theoretical projection of local energy

demand in 2030 in terms of Gigawatt hours (approximately 1,260 G\Wh), and it is

based on a number of assumptions. The RERAS outlines three scenarios
regarding the number and mix of additional solar and wind renewable energy
installations in Bath and North East Somerset to meet the projected 2030 local
electricity demand.

9.72 However, the council's ambition for a minimum 300MW surpasses the first two
scenarios in the RERAS, and as the RERAS recommends these are presented
as scenarios rather than targets, we have not included these as options within
this document.

Page 421
405


https://democracy.bathnes.gov.uk/documents/s58689/Appendix%20-%20Synthesis%20of%20Evidence.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2023-09/RERAS%20BANES%20Final%20Report%2011-02-2022%20%281%29.pdf#page=134

9.73 Given this misalignment, we Gonsidered that linking back to the council's
Climate Emergency declaration and emphasising the 300MW minimum target is
the most appropriate way forward. This approach ensures a clear connection
between planning applications for renewable energy and the overarching climate
targets, allowing for flexibility over the plan period in case of changes to targets
or evolution in the evidence base. Notably, evidence base documents, such as
the RERAS, act as snapshots in time and are based on assumptions. This
strategic approach helps avoid scenarios like the LPPU policy review, where the

target was set in the Core Strategy many years before the declaration of the

Climate Emergency by the council.

Proposed Approach

9.77 Given that Policy CP3 has recently been reviewed, the policy approach could

be regarded as appropriate to take forward into this local plan. Recentinterest

Page 422
406



9.78 The Renewable Energy Resource Assessment Study (RERAS) provides a
technical assessment of the potential for renewable energy technologies across
Bath and North East Somerset. It identifies potential areas for wind energy and
solar PV based on a range of criteria, including turbine size, in line with national

policy expectations.

9.79 The RERAS shows that the potential opportunities for large scale wind are

limited within the district. To/SUPPOHdEIVEHATheCoURCiliSIproposinganioption

STUDY (RERAS)
Chont:

Bath & North East
Somerset Council

Remaining Land Parcels
From WA Map Afrar
Constraining Land Silvers,
Fire Breaks and Tracks,
As Well As Parcels of Land
Insufficient to Support a
Wind Farm of SMW or
More Based on 2 SMW
Wind Turbines
Scale sAS 1100000

Ner L3
FGURE WEBRNES 250N o1
N Omwn_Chid Asp'¢ Ome;

oM R 2emar

Map 20: RERAS map

Page 423

407



9.81

Landscapes), it is not proposed to restrict these locations to large turbines only.

Given the sensitivity of some of the identified areas (including National

A flexible approach to turbine size is preferred, supporting increased renewable

energy generation while balancing all considerations.

9.82

the district. As such, safeguarding specific areas for solar PV is not considered

In contrast, the RERAs shows that the solar resource is widespread across

necessary.

9.83 Options have also been presented for policy approach that could be applied to

build upon the landscape led approach adopted currently in Policy CP3.

C/RE: Renewable Energy Approach

Option Advantages

Disadvantages

Broad areas of search

wind energy (protecting them from being
compromised by other forms of
development) — see map above

sites for wind energy
ensures optimal
utilisation of
resources. These sites
are selected based on
favourable wind
conditions,
maximizing the
efficiency and output
of wind turbines.

1 | Keep the broad areas of search approach Approach recently
established through the LPPU, with scope to | adopted and seems may lack the certainty
review or add new elements (e.g., mine- to be appropriate for developers or
water storage). communities when
looking for
opportunities
2 | Safeguarding of our best potential sites for Safeguarding the best | Safeguarding specific

sites for wind energy
may limit alternative
land uses, such as
agriculture or
recreation. This can
lead to conflicts with
other interests.

The development of
wind energy projects,
even in optimal sites,
can have
environmental or
landscape impacts.

Page 424

408




Page 425




Page 426




Disadvantages

>
o
3
Q
=
-+
Y
0q
v}
(%2}

] |
i

411



Nature and Ecosystem Services

Policy N/BNG: Biodiversity Net Gain

Page 428
412



Page 429

413



Page 430




Policy N/CELLC: Conserving and Enhancing the
Landscape and Landscape Character

Background

9.108 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires local authorities to
take a criteria-based approach to protecting the landscape. This approach
requires an understanding of landscape character that is valued and an
understanding of the significance of landscapes and their components rather
than just carrying out a crude check whether the landscape is designated or not.

The established process of landscape character assessment is the key tool for

guiding decisions.

9.110 The purpose of Policy NE2A is to protect, conserve and enhance the

landscape setting of settlements.

Policy Approach - Proposed Options Policy NE2

Page 431

415



N/CELLC: Conserving and Enhancing the Landscape and
Landscape Character

Advantages Disadvantages

Adopted policy tested recently | None identified.

at LPPU examination.

Policy Approach - Proposed Options Policy NE2A

Page 432
416



N/CELLC: Landscape Setting of Settlements

Option

1 | Retain policy NE2A as written

with amendments -

Advantages

Adopted policy is well used by
Development Management in
determining planning
applications.

Disadvantages

None identified.

2 | Revised policy wording for NE2A
with amendments to
strengthen the policy as set out
in para 9.113 above and the
defined setting for new
settlements added.

Adopted policy is well used by
Development Management in
determining planning
applications.

Opportunity to clarify and
strengthen the policy.

None identified.

Page 433

417




Green Belt
Policy GB/GB

Background

Page 434
418



Policy Approach Options

GB/GB: Overarching Green Belt Policy (existing CP8)

Option Advantages Disadvantages

Page 435
419



Jobs and Economy

Policy J/Ul Undesignated Industrial sites Policy

Background

Page 436




Page 437




Advantages

Disadvantages

Page 438



Page 439
423




Healthy and Vibrant Communities

Policy HVC/TC

Retail Hierarchy and Development

9.128 The NPPF states that planning policies should define a network and hierarchy
of town centres and promote their long-term vitality and viability; define the extent
of town centres and primary shopping areas and set policies which make clear

which uses will be permitted in such locations.

9.129 The retail and leisure sector is undergoing a period of unprecedented change
particularly affected by the continued rise of online shopping and home delivery.
Town centres are having to evolve to become more than simply a place to shop,
presenting themselves as multi-purpose destinations and increasingly places for
culture and leisure.

9.130 A key aspect of sustainable communities is good access to shops and other
local services which help meet the day-to-day needs of local communities. It is
therefore important that both new and existing communities have easy access to
facilities to reduce the need to travel and to maintain vibrant and viable centres.

Local shopping is also important as it provides options for active travel.

9.131 Within Bath and North East Somerset there are a number of centres that
serve different roles. Bath City Centre acts as a sub-regional shopping and
employment centre and is a major visitor destination; Keynsham, Midsomer
Norton and Radstock Town Centres serve the residents of the respective towns
and the surrounding catchment areas, Moorland Road District Centre acts as a
key centre for the south west of Bath, and the local centres primarily serve local
needs within the urban and rural parts of the district. The city centre and town
centres have Primary Shopping Areas designated which are the focus for new
retail development.

Page 440
424



9.132 The purpose of designating centres and defining their boundaries is to ensure
their successful future functioning as the economic, social and cultural focal
points of communities, maintaining and improving their vitality and viability and

enabling a compatible mix of uses within them.

9.133 The NPPF states that planning policies should define the extent of Primary
Shopping Areas and defines a Primary Shopping Area as an area where retail
development is concentrated. The Primary Shopping Area boundary also forms
the boundary for applying the sequential test (town centre first) policy for retail

proposals.

9.134 The Primary Shopping Area will be the main focus, particularly at ground
level, for active uses that attract pedestrians to the centre such as shops and
restaurants (refer to the policy option relating to Development within Bath and
North East Somerset’s town, district and local centres below). The area outside
the Primary Shopping Areas, but within Bath City Centre and the town centres,
are proposed for a wider diversity of main town centre uses including for example
offices, hotels, leisure uses. Having regard to this, we proposed in the 2024
Options Document that there are locations in Bath where the Primary Shopping
Area should be extended to maintain and provide active frontages. In particular,
within Bath City Centre along Walcot Street which has a specialist retail role,
supplementing the city centre retail offer; and along James Street West, Bath
which was identified as a location to extend the retail, food and drink offer within

the city centre, and contribute to the vitality and viability of the city centre. We

also noted that other changes to Primary Shopping Areas may come forward and

be included in the Draft Local Plan. [HaVingfegard to'public realmWorks'in

Page 441



Policy approach options

9.135 The approach is to retain the retail hierarchy policy as set out in the Core
Strategy policy CP12, however, adapt it to ensure the ‘Development in Centres’

policy makes clear which uses will be permitted in such locations.

9.136 Bath City Centre should remain the principal sub-regional centre and the three
existing town centres — Keynsham, Midsomer Norton and Radstock — should

continue to be designated as town centres in the local plan.

9.137 In the 2024 options document some changes were proposed to the Primary

9.138 Other locations outside Primary Shopping Areas but within Bath City Centre
and Keynsham, Midsomer Norton, and Radstock Town Centres where active
ground floor uses should be maintained / provided within the centres may be

identified for the Draft Local Plan as extensions to Primary Shopping Areas.

Page 442
426



Revised Option Advantages Disadvantages

Page 443
427



Page 444




Page 445




Page 446

430



HVC/LGS: Local Green Spaces

Background

9.149 Local Green Spaces (LGS) that are of demonstrable importance to local
communities can be designated and protected from development. The National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) Section 8 provides guidance for local green
space designation. Relevant paragraphs concerning LGS Designation are as

follows:

105. The designation of land as Local Green Space through local and
neighbourhood plans allows communities to identify and protect green areas of
particular importance to them. Designating land as Local Green Space should be
consistent with the local planning of sustainable development and complement
investment in sufficient homes, jobs and other essential services. Local Green
Spaces should only be designated when a plan is prepared or updated, and be
capable of enduring beyond the end of the plan period.

107.The Local Green Space designation should only be used where the green space
Is:

a) in reasonably close proximity to the community it serves;

b) demonstrably special to a local community and holds a particular local
significance, for example because of its beauty, historic significance, recreational
value (including as a playing field), tranquillity or richness of its wildlife; and

c¢) local in character and is not an extensive tract of land.

108. Policies and decisions for managing development within a Local Green Space
should be consistent with national policy for Green Belts set out in chapter 13 of this
Framework.

9.150 National Policy makes clear that blanket designation of all green space is not

appropriate. Proposed designations must be supported by evidence that the

green area is special to the local community. NationalPolicy'and Practice

Page 447
431



Page 448




Ward: Widcombe and Lyncombe
Site name: Lyncombe Hill Fields

Site number:

Map 21

Ward: Odd Down

Site name: Workhouse Burial Ground

Site number:

Map 22:

Page 449
433



Ward:

Nemptnett Thrubwell

Site name:

Land adjacent to Village Pump

Site number:

Map 23

Spring Pond
:

-t

&L %
S
S

Tanglewood ‘ Oxbarton Bar;

T Gully
: Cott

£

Page 450

434




Page 451




Policy HD/SCCW: Somersetshire Coal Canal and the
Wansdyke

Background

9.164 The Somersetshire Coal Canal and the Wansdyke earthwork are two

important linear historic assets in Bath and North East Somerset.

9.165 The Wansdyke is a nationally important heritage asset and is one of the most
significant historical features within the area and is a Scheduled Monument. This
is defined as a Designated Heritage Asset within the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF). The Somersetshire Coal Canal is also a Designated

Heritage Asset.

9.166 The NPPF Section 16 — Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment

paragraph 196 sets out the context for local policy.

9.167 The NPPF sets out the approach to considering impacts to designated

heritage assets under paragraph 205 notes the following:

‘When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of
a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s
conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should
be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial

harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.’

9.168 Paragraph 206 further notes the following:
‘Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its
alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should require

clear and convincing justification. Substantial harm to or loss of:

b) assets of the highest significance, notably scheduled monuments, protected
wreck sites, registered battlefields, grade | and II* listed buildings, grade | and II*

Page 452
436



registered parks and gardens, and World Heritage Sites, should be wholly
exceptional.’

9.169 These historic assets benefit from the provisions of Core Strategy Policy CP6
and Policy HE1. However, the importance of these linear routes is highlighted in
a separate policy and are defined on the Policies Map with a buffer to catch the

widest point of the assets.

9.170 Policy HEZ2 seeks to ensure there is appropriate mitigation and/or
enhancement (consistent with Policy HE1) for any development adversely

affecting the physical remains and/or historic routes of the Wansdyke or

Somersetshire Coal Canal, as defined on the Policies Map, and/or their setting.

Page 453
437



Page 454




Page 455




Proposed Extension to Local Plan Policy HE2 Buffer 6 Bath & North East
Camerton Proposed Extension at New Pit

Somerset Council

Option for route
diversion as
consulted onin
the spring (with
red outline)

Approach
outlined for
removal of
residential
curtilage draft
example
(outlined
purple)

Existing
Somersetshire
Coal Canal
designation (with
blue outline)

« Cown Lo ramibes ACOORWE

Page 456
440



Page 457



Proposed Extension to Local Plan Policy HE2 Buffer 6 Bath & North East
Radford Proposed Extension Somerset Council

Submay [die}

i

Reproduced fram the Grdnance Survey mapaing with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Offica = Crown Leenca number ACCODT307466
Copight. Unautherised reprocuction infiinges Crown conytight and may lead to presscution or el precsedings.

Proposed Extension to Local Plan Policy HE2 Buffer 0 Bath & North East

Somerset Council

Camerton Proposed Route Expansion

Lo /
/_/)Q,\ Bears Bar /

< \
\ Downsids Sih/ 7
\  House

_

L AN
/ \ /ﬁﬁ'&'ﬂé‘f
- ,/‘\(\\ﬁ/,}»\

(e

— —

1 ;‘ The Timbars

N Prov: |t [ gy
J1 b e =)

IR

(R [

BT L ) o
V \ ’ ,,(I "%1{\ =

Fearodued frorm the Crdnance Survey mapaing Wit the permissicn of the Cantraller of Her Mijasty's Stabanery OFfica = Croan Lizencz number ACCODIST749E
Coppright. Unautherised reprecuetion infinges Ceuen zesiaht and may leas t prosseion cr el preesed ngs.

Page 458

442



Proposed Extension to Local Plan Policy HE2 Buffer
Camerton Proposed Extension at New Pit

0 Bath & North East
O{-p <
%

Somerset Council

‘W;aodvi W

—

Fepreducar from U Crdnance

Survey mag ping vith e sermission of the Controller of Her Majeskys Staticnery Olfice & Crom
Copyright, Unandhrized peprod cetien | fingss Sreen copyr gl and may lead o preszca bior o Gl pracest ings

Lisenes numis: 420030607450

Proposed Extension to Local Plan Policy HE2 Buffer
Combe Hay Proposed Extension

6 Bath & North East

Somerset Council
Rowley House

Rowley Farm
Rawi

SO
Reutory Emk
The
g\am R-ct:\g\ H“"EC) O Coliage
! Cate

Rzarauced From th Cranznce 5uvey masping with 12 Fomissien of tha Contalzr of Har Majesty s Statnary Dficz & Crawn
Canyright, Unaumariszd repredUcta InfT02S CRown C32yTign: a0 may =ad to presecuion ar chil prosesdings,

Licenzz num ser ACOC0904E

Page 459

443



Page 460

444



Page 461




Page 462




Page 463

447



Advantages Disadvantages

Page 464
448



ATTACHMENT 2
Reset Local Plan Options Consultation (Reg 18)

Engagement Programme
Overview/Preamble

Following Full Cabinet, on the 25" September, the Local Plan Options Consultation
(under Reg 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England)
Regulations 2012) will restart on Friday 3 October 2025.

Our ambition is to deliver a robust, inclusive consultation which balances traditional
methods with a more innovative approach. The Options Consultation will be hosted
online at www.bathnesplaces.co.uk/localplan alongside a diverse range of
consultation activities to broaden participation and expand our outreach.

Why is the Options Consultation restarting?

The Options Consultation follows the resetting of the emerging Local Plan, at the end
of 2024, in response to changes to national planning policy and the government’s
revised standard method housing figure for Bath & North East Somerset.

The emerging Local Plan will set out a strategy and establish a framework for how
areas in Bath and North East Somerset will change and grow up until 2043 and
beyond. It will seek to meet the challenges facing the district whilst exploring
opportunities to delivery ambitious and transformational change.

Key to this change is sustainable growth and addressing the issues such as
affordable homes and connectivity.

Following the decision on the 25" September, the Local Plan Option Consultation is
scheduled to take place between the 3" October and 14" November 2025.

Aims of the consultation programme
As set out above, during the consultation period, we aim to

e Deliver a robust, inclusive consultation;
e Balance traditional consultation methods with a more innovative approach;
e Broaden participation, expand our outreach and diversity of our audience.

Web-platform: 34 October - 14t November

The Options consultation will be hosted online on our web-platform between 3
October and 14" November 2025.

Within the platform you will be able to view the site and policy options that are being
considered in the emerging Local Plan and submit comments and feedback. We will
also make copies of the Options Document available at Council offices and prepare
an Executive Summary and easy read version.

Web-platform: www.bathnesplaces.co.uk/localplan

Page 465


http://www.bathnesplaces.co.uk/localplan
http://www.bathnesplaces.co.uk/localplan

ATTACHMENT 2

Consultation roadshow: 7t October — 2" November

We will also be launching a consultation roadshow. Starting on the 7t October it will
take place over 20 days at 60 different locations across the district. The roadshow
will be formed of pop-up event, drop-ins and workshops to give variety and to be as
inclusive as possible.

We have also sought to coordinate the roadshow with other consultations that are
taking place in the district including the Bath Movemeent Strategy and Somer Valley
draft Design Code Supplementary Planning Document. Details on the roadshow and
how we are delivering a joined-up approach will available on the web-platform in due
course.

The Big Draw: 7t October — 2" November

Alongside the Roadshow will be participating in the Big Draw Festival. The festival is
celebrating their 25" anniversary and this year’s theme is ‘Drawn Together’, which
explores the importance of creativity and collaboration.

How will the 2024 responses be integrated with the 2025 responses?

As set out in May, we recognise that a lot of views were expressed as part of the
Options Consultation that took place in 2024, before the Local Plan was reset. These
views remain valid and will be taken into account when we prepare the draft the
Local Plan.

What will happen after Consultation ends?

Consultation on the Options Document will conclude on the 14" November. Al
responses will be considered by the Planning Policy team and the issues raised
compiled into a consultation report. Work will then begin in earnest on the Draft Local
Plan.

How to keep up to date?

For all the latest information, please visit www.bathnesplaces.co.uk/localplan.
You can also follow the consultation roadshow and all other consultation activities
across multiple social media channels @bathnesplaces.

For corporate updates, please visit www.newsroom.bathnes.gov.uk or follow
@bathnescouncil.

Closing remarks

We look forward to seeing you at our consultation events this Autumn. As always,
your participation is crucial to prepare a Local Plan that takes account of the needs
and aspirations of local residents, communities and stakeholders.

For any queries or further information, please do not hesitate to contact us.

Page 466


https://www.bathnesplaces.co.uk/localplan
http://www.bathnesplaces.co.uk/localplan
http://www.newsroom.bathnes.gov.uk/

ATTACHMENT 2

Email us: local plan@bathnes.gov.uk
Phone us: 01225 394041
Write to us: Local Plan, Lewis House, Manvers Street, Bath, BA1 1JG

Appendix 1: Programme

The programme is summarised below and may be subject to change. Please visit
www.bathnesplaces.co.uk/localplan for the latest information.

Table 1: Consultation programme

Start End Activity

34 Oct 14t Nov | Local Plan Options Consultation
7t Oct 2" Nov Consultation Roadshow

7t Oct 2" Nov Big Draw

Table 1: Consultation roadshow*

Dates Location

7t — 8 October Bath (central and sub-urban)

9th - 11t October Somer Valley

13t — 15 October Keynsham, Salford, Whitchurch and Hicks Gate
20t October Bath (sub-urban)

21st-22nd October Rural villages

24 — 25% October Chew Valley

27t — 28t October Multiple (half term activities)

30t Oct — 2" November Bath ((central and sub-urban)

*The full roadshow programme and details of events will be published on the web-platform
ahead of 3rd October

Page 467


mailto:local_plan@bathnes.gov.uk
http://www.bathnesplaces.co.uk/localplan

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 468



691 abed

Bath & North East m

Somerset Council Bath and North East Somerset,
Swindon and Wiltshire
Improving People’s Lives Integrated Care Board

Equality Impact Assessment / Equality Analysis

(Updated September 2025)

Item name Details
Bath and North East Somerset Council Local Plan 2025-2043
Options Consultation (Regulation 18)

Title of service or policy

Name of directorate and service Planning Policy

Name and role of officers completing the EIA Charlotte Clark, Apprentice Planning Officer and Richard Daone, Deputy
Head of Planning (Policy)

Date of assessment September 2025

Equality Impact Assessment (or ‘Equality Analysis’) is a process of systematically analysing a new or existing policy or service to
identify what impact or likely impact it will have on different groups within the community. The main aim is to identify

any discriminatory or negative consequences for a particular group or sector of the community, and also to identify areas where
equality can be better promoted. Equality impact Assessments (EIAs) can be carried out in relation to services provided to
customers and residents as well as employment policies/strategies that relate to staffing matters.



0.t abed

This toolkit has been developed to use as a framework when carrying out an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) or Equality
Analysis. Not all sections will be relevant — so leave blank any that are not applicable. It is intended that this is used as a
working document throughout the process, and a final version will be published on the Council’s website.

1.1 Identify the aims of the policy or service and how it is implemented

Key questions Answers / notes
1.1 Briefly describe purpose of the service/policy e.g. Bath and North East Somerset Council’'s (B&NES) Development Plan,
e How the service/policy is delivered and by  Otherwise known as the Local Plan, currently comprises the Core
whom Strategy, Placemaking Plan and the Local Plan Partial Update.

e If responsibility for its implementation is
shared with other departments or
organisations

e |ntended outcomes

Work has started on updating the Council’s Local Plan. The new Local
Plan will establish the planning framework for managing growth and
change in the district until 2043. It will identify potential sites for
development, as well as set out a vision, strategy and policies to guide
and manage planning decisions. Once adopted, it will be the main tool
used to determine planning applications.

The Local Plan will align with other Council strategies and plans such as
the Economic Strategy, Housing Plan, transport plans and the Council’s
aim to be carbon neutral and nature positive by 2030. It will also play a
crucial role in delivering the Council’s corporate priorities, including
improving people’s lives, tackling the climate and ecological
emergencies and preparing for the future in terms of the economy,
responding to housing need and addressing inequalities.

A Launch Document was published for consultation in Autumn 2022.
This marked the formal start of the preparation of the Local Plan.
B&NES completed a period of consultation on a first Local Plan
Options Document (Spring 2024). However, as a result of proposed
government revisions to the National Planning Policy Framework and
standard method housing figures in 2024, the Council decided to reset
the new Local Plan. This is outlined in the Local Plan Reset Document.

Page 2 of 19 Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit


https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/local_plan_launch_doc_easy_read_0.pdf
https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Options%20Document.pdf
https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Options%20Document.pdf
https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/document-and-policy-library/local-plan-reset-document-feb-2025

T/ abed

Page 3 of 19

This decision was made to enable further consideration of options to
accommodate for the additional development now required.

Given the new timetable for the preparation of the new Local Plan, a
new Local Plan period has been set for 2025-2043.

This EqlA relates to the Options Draft (Regulation 18) of the new Local
Plan 2025-2043, which outlines the overall vision and issues for the new
Local Plan. It sets out a range of options for dealing with issues which
the plan needs to address.

There is ongoing engagement and communication on the new Local
Plan as it progresses through its different stages until final adoption. The
Engagement and Communication Strategy for the new Local Plan is
being updated and a new approach is proposed. It will be informed by
the previous Engagement and Communication Strateqy. This
document sets out the opportunities for communities and stakeholders,
including seldom-heard groups to be involved in the preparation of the
Plan. This is being delivered by the Planning Policy Team with
assistance from other services within the Council, including the
Regeneration Team. The overall intended outcome of the strategy is to
ensure that all communities and stakeholders across the district are
involved in the preparation of the Local Plan.

An EqlA was undertaken to inform the Launch Document, the Spring
2024 Options Document, The Local Plan Reset Document and the
Engagement and Communication Strategy.

Once adopted, the new Local Plan 2025-2043 will replace the current
Local Plan and be implemented by various Council departments,
including planning services, as well as other public service providers and
the private sector. Intended outcomes from the new Local Plan will be
monitored in the B&NES Local Authority Monitoring Report.

Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit


https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/engagement_and_communication_strategy.pdf

1.2 Provide brief details of the scope of the policy or
service being reviewed, for example:

e Is it a new service/policy or review of an
existing one?

e s it a national requirement?).

e How much room for review is there?

2. v abed

Local authorities are statutorily required to prepare a Local Plan and
update as necessary. The preparation of the new Local Plan 2025-2043
is included in the B&NES Local Development Scheme (LDS), the
Council’s formal Planning Policy work programme. Plan-making is a
statutory process and follows national regulations.

In late 2024 the government published some important changes to
national policy to achieve sustainable growth through the planning
system. This included changes to how mandatory housing targets are
calculated and how the green belt is defined. As a result, B&NES is
required to plan for a significantly larger amount of housing through the
Local Plan. The housing requirement has increased from a little over
700 new homes per year to around 1,500. Due to the scale of change
and significant implications of the revised National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF), the Council reset the previous work it was doing on
the Local Plan to allow further evidence work and assessment of further
options to consider the increased levels of development now required.

The Local Plan 2025-2043 is at the options stage. This provides the
opportunity for the Council to test different options with local
communities, stakeholders and the development industry without a
formal commitment to a policy. The Options Document therefore sets
out policy approaches for consultation. This will enable the
demonstration at examination that ‘reasonable alternatives’ have been
considered in the plan-making process.

The Plan will be subject to examination by a government appointed
Planning Inspector to ascertain its ‘soundness’. The examining Inspector
will need to ascertain that the plan is an appropriate strategy, when
considered against the reasonable alternatives, based on proportionate
evidence. Therefore, the options consultation stage in the process is
necessary in order to explore various alternative approaches and
proposals.

Page 4 of 19 Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit



¢/ abed

Page 5 of 19

1.3 Do the aims of this policy link to or conflict with any
other policies of the Council?

It is recognised that views have already been expressed as part of the
Options Document Consultation that took place in Spring 2024, before
the Local Plan was reset. Comments received remain valid and will still
be considered in the development of the Draft Local Plan. The new
Options Document primarily focusses on options for providing the
additional development required. It sets out suggested changes to policy
approaches or site options, following the national policy changes. It is
necessary to repeat the Options Document (Regulation 18) stage to
create a sound plan and ensure everyone has the opportunity to engage
in the process of updating B&NES’ new Local Plan.

The Local Plan 2025-2043 is being prepared in the context of the
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) December 2024 and a
number of Council strategies. It will also facilitate the delivery of Council
objectives. The B&NES Council Corporate Strategy 2023-2027
(adopted July 2023) sets out the Council’s overarching strategic plan
with the overriding purpose ‘to improve people’s lives'. The two core
policies within the Strategy focus on tackling the climate and nature
emergency and giving people a bigger say. To translate the purpose into
commitments, three principles have been identified: preparing for the
future, delivering for local residents and focussing on prevention.

The Local Plan aligns with Council priorities as it aims to help deliver for
local residents and give people a bigger say in how the district will grow
and change until 2043. There is a focus on prevention to tackle
inequalities and improve local areas, as well as preparing for the future
in terms of working towards a resilient, sustainable economy that is fair,
green, creative and connected. The Options Document is an important
step in updating the Local Plan and giving people a bigger say, as it
serves as a consultation document outlining different policy and site
options; it invites the public and stakeholders to provide feedback and
help shape the Draft Local Plan.

Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit



v/ abed

2. Consideration of available data, research and information

Key questions

2.1 What equalities training have
staff received to enable them to
understand the needs of our
diverse community?

2.2 What is the equalities profile
of service users?

2.3 Are there any recent customer
satisfaction surveys to refer to?
What were the results? Are there
any gaps? Or differences in
experience/outcomes?

2.4 What engagement or
consultation has been undertaken
as part of this EIA and with
whom? What were the results?

Data, research and information that you can refer to

Equality, Diversity and Inclusion training is mandatory for the B&NES workforce.

The B&NES Local Plan 2025-2043 covers the full B&NES Council local authority area. The
most up to date data for the B&NES area (including Equalities data) can be found at:
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/strategic-evidence

The B&NES Local Housing Needs Assessment (LHNA) January 2024 Draft includes data
relating to the housing needs of different groups, including older people and disabled people.

During the initial Options Document consultation in Spring 2024, some equality data was
collected. This will continue to be collected as we progress with consultation on the new
Options, Publication and Submission Drafts of the new Local Plan to measure performance
and implement improvement in relation to equality and diversity.

The equality data collected during the Options Document in Spring 2024 will inform the
engagement for the Options Document consultation in October 2025, which aims to increase
outreach. More information will be outlined in the EQIA for The Engagement and
Communication Strategy.

In line with the Engagement and Consultation Strategy for the Local Plan 2025-2043 (informed
by the B&NES Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) for Planning 2022), consultation
will continue to take place with a wide range of stakeholders, including targeted engagement
with SCI seldom-heard groups to inform the development of the Options Document (Reg.18) of
the new Local Plan.

Page 6 of 19 Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit


https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/strategic-evidence

G/ abed

2.5 If you are planning to There is ongoing engagement and communication on the new Local Plan as it progresses
undertake any consultation in the  through its different stages until final adoption. The Engagement and Communication

future regarding this service or Strateqgy for the new Local Plan sets out the opportunities for communities and stakeholders,
policy, how will you include including seldom-heard groups to be involved in the preparation of the Plan. The Strategy is
equalities considerations within currently being updated and is being delivered by the Planning Policy Team, with assistance
this? from other services within the Council, including the Regeneration Team. The overall intended

Page 7 of 19

outcome of the strategy is to ensure that all communities and stakeholders across the district
are given the opportunity to be involved in the preparation of the Local Plan.

There will be a variety of opportunities to provide feedback. The Options Document and
consultation will be published in an accessible format on the Participatr website, with a link
from the B&NES website and the option to download a PDF version. The websites will include
contact details for further accessibility requirements. An easy read version will be made available
and copies of the document will be made available at One Stop Shops. Translation and
Interpretation services will be provided on request or where a need is already known.

Equalities data and feedback will continue to inform how we measure performance and
improvement in relation to equality and diversity.

Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit


https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/engagement_and_communication_strategy.pdf
https://beta.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/engagement_and_communication_strategy.pdf
https://bathnesplaces.co.uk/

9/t abed

3. Assessment of impact: ‘Equality analysis’
Based upon any data you have considered, or the results of consultation or research, use the spaces below to demonstrate you
have analysed how the service or policy:

e Meets any particular needs of equalities groups or could help promote equality in some way.
e Could have a negative or adverse impact for any of the equalities groups

The B&NES Local Plan 2025-2043 — Options Document

The Options Document represents an early stage in the preparation of the Local Plan. Throughout the preparation process the
equalities impact of the Local Plan will be carefully considered. At the Options stage the EqIA is primarily focussed on identifying
and referencing the opportunities for the Local Plan to address equalities issues and the needs of people with protected
characteristics. The Options Document includes options relating to a range of policy areas, including Housing, Climate Change,
Nature and Ecosystem Services, Green Belt, Jobs and Economy, Healthy and Vibrant Communities and Minerals and Waste. It
also outlines Spatial Options and the fundamental principles that will guide the strategy across B&NES for accommodating new
housing, employment development and supporting infrastructure, whilst addressing climate, nature and health and well-being
needs.

At the Draft Local Plan (Reg 19) stage the Council will be setting out its proposed policies. As the Local Plan progresses towards
the Draft Local Plan, the equalities impact of proposed policies will be identified and considered with reference to appropriate
equalities data. The EqlA is therefore, an iterative process that will help to ensure the Local Plan addresses equalities issues and
that its policies provide opportunities to ensure development proposals properly address the needs of everyone including people
with protected characteristics.

Examples of what the service has Examples of actual or potential
Key questions done to promote equality negative or adverse impact and what
steps have been or could be taken to
address this
3.1 Issues relating to all groups and Opportunities for the Local Plan to
protected characteristics address equalities issues and the needs
of people with protected characteristics
include the following key areas:

Page 8 of 19 Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit



/¥ abed

Page 9 of 19

-Housing Affordability and the Economy
-Climate and Ecological Emergencies
-Health and Well-being

-Transport and Connectivity

-Culture and Community Identity

Development Management Policy
Options

In the previous Options Document
(Spring 2024), the Council consulted on a
range of policy areas. This was outlined
in the previous Equalities Impact
Assessment (January 2024).
Comments from the previous consultation
will still be considered as the Local Plan
progresses.

This Options Document primarily focuses
consultation on new policy areas not
presented previously or proposed
changes to policy approaches since the
last consultation, following national policy
changes.

This Options Document includes
consultation on the following policy areas
where there is an opportunity to promote
equality and address equalities issues:

- Proposals to support wider affordable
housing delivery within B&NES to benefit
all.

Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit


https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/EqIA%20Local%20Plan%20Options%20%28Reg.18%29%20Consultation.pdf
https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/sites/default/files/EqIA%20Local%20Plan%20Options%20%28Reg.18%29%20Consultation.pdf

8/t abed

Page 10 of 19

- Housing policy options support a
balanced housing mix that meets the
needs of different local communities,
including those who require affordable
housing, families with children, older
people, students, young professionals,
disabled people, service families and the
Traveller community. Housing policy
options ensure these needs are reflected
in planning policies.

-Proposed policy approaches to address
the Climate Emergency recognise that
climate change affects different areas
and communities differently. Policy
options seek to ensure climate adaptation
and resilience, whilst managing the
impacts of climate change to ensure
communities are not disproportionately
affected.

-Proposed policy approaches to address
the Climate Emergency support
renewable and sustainable energy, which
has environmental, public health and
economic benefits to all. It helps improve
the security of energy supply and reduce
energy costs.

-Policy approaches that seek to address
the Nature Emergency have opportunities
to support inclusive design access for all.
Relevant natural environment policies
propose access for all to green

Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit



6/ abed

Page 11 of 19

infrastructure, as well as nature recovery
opportunities. This has environmental,
social and economic benefits for
everyone, as well as positively impacting
health and wellbeing.

- Healthy and Vibrant Communities policy
options contribute toward creating
sustainable, inclusive and healthy places
with access to facilities and reduced
travel need. Policy options help create
inclusive and accessible public realm with
access to green space which has health
and wellbeing benefits for all.

Spatial Policy Options

This Options Document proposes new
site options to respond to the additional
need for development and the revised
housing requirement set out in the latest
national planning policy changes based
on the government’s revised standard
methodology.

- Affordable housing delivery within
residential development to be sought in
accordance with policy.

- Opportunities for a mix of housing,
including to meet the needs of different
groups in the community.

- Opportunities to support sustainable
energy and therefore, residents with
rising energy costs.

Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit



08t abed

3.2 Sex — identify the impact/potential
impact of the policy on women and men.

3.3 Pregnancy and maternity

Page 12 of 19

- Opportunities to support inclusive
design and to ensure access for all to
green infrastructure and nature recovery
opportunities.

- The public realm and facilities should
provide inclusive design to support
access for all and achieve healthy,
inclusive, and safe places.

- Consider sustainable transport
opportunities and transport requirements
for managing development to support
accessibility for all, including older people
and disabled people.

-Improve connectivity and access to
attractive walking, wheeling and cycling
infrastructure, as well as reliable public
transport to increase inclusive travel
options.

To provide the planning policy framework
to support:

- The delivery of inclusive design.

- The location and design of development
that is accessible to all and secure by
design, including open space, the public
realm and transport infrastructure.

To provide the planning policy framework
to support:

- The delivery of inclusive design.

As the Local Plan progresses towards the
Draft Local Plan, the equalities impact of
proposed policies will be identified and
considered with reference to appropriate
equalities data.

As the Local Plan progresses towards the
Draft Local Plan, the equalities impact of
proposed policies will be identified and
considered with reference to appropriate
equalities data.

Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit



181 abed

3.4 Gender reassignment — identify the
impact/potential impact of the policy on
transgender people

3.5 Disability — identify the
impact/potential impact of the policy on
disabled people (ensure consideration
both physical, sensory and mental
impairments and mental health)

Page 13 of 19

- Inclusive design access for all and
accessibility standards help meet the
access needs of not only older and
disabled people, but the whole
community, including pregnant &
breastfeeding/feeding parents & parents
with pushchairs.

- The location and design of development
that is accessible to all and secure by
design, including open space, the public
realm and transport infrastructure.

To provide the planning policy framework
to support:

- The delivery of inclusive design.

- The location and design of development
is accessible to all and secure by design,
including open space, the public realm
and transport infrastructure.

To provide the planning policy framework
to support:

- The delivery of inclusive design.

- Inclusive design access for all, together
with accessibility and space standards
help to meet the need of disabled people.
- Options include accessibility standards
for adaptable and accessible housing and
wheelchair housing.

- The location and design of development
is accessible to all including open space,

As the Local Plan progresses towards the
Draft Local Plan, the equalities impact of
proposed policies will be identified and
considered with reference to appropriate
equalities data.

As the Local Plan progresses towards the
Draft Local Plan, the equalities impact of
proposed policies will be identified and
considered with reference to appropriate
equalities data.

Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit



Z8Y abed

3.6 Age - identify the impact/potential
impact of the policy on different age
groups

3.7 Race - identify the impact/potential
impact on across different ethnic groups

Page 14 of 19

the public realm and transport
infrastructure.

-The delivery of affordable housing.
-Sustainable/renewable energy which will
help support residents with rising energy
costs.

To provide the planning policy framework
to support:

- The delivery of affordable housing,
including for younger and older people.

- The location and design of development
is accessible to all and secure by design,
including open spaces, the public realm
and transport infrastructure.

The risks of digital exclusion particularly
for older people will be considered within
consultation.

To provide the planning policy framework
to support:

-The delivery of affordable housing.
-Provision of sustainable/renewable
energy and lower energy/zero carbon
homes which will support residents with
rising energy costs.

The Housing policy options provide a
range of policy options to ensure that that
the housing needs of different groups in
the community are reflected in planning

As the Local Plan progresses towards the
Draft Local Plan, the equalities impact of
proposed policies will be identified and
considered with reference to appropriate
equalities data.

As the Local Plan progresses towards the
Draft Local Plan, the equalities impact of
proposed policies will be identified and
considered with reference to appropriate
equalities data.

Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit



€8t abed

3.8 Sexual orientation — identify the
impact/potential impact of the policy on
lesbian, gay, bisexual, heterosexual
people

3.9 Marriage and civil partnership —
does the policy/strategy treat married and
civil partnered people equally?

3.10 Religion/belief — identify the
impact/potential impact of the policy on
people of different religious/faith groups
and also upon those with no religion.

3.11 Socio-economically
disadvantaged® — identify the impact on
people who are disadvantaged due to
factors like family background,
educational attainment, neighbourhood,
employment status can influence life
chances

(this is not a legal requirement but is a
local priority).

Page 15 of 19

policies, including the Traveller
community.

Opportunities to consider proposed policy
and equality considerations have been
highlighted above and proposed actions
are set out under Section 4.

Opportunities to consider proposed policy
and equality considerations have been
highlighted above and proposed actions
are set out under Section 4.

Opportunities to consider proposed policy
and equality considerations have been
highlighted above and proposed actions
are set out under Section 4.

To provide the planning policy framework
to support including:

- The delivery of affordable housing.

- Opportunities to provide
sustainable/renewable energy and lower
energy/zero carbon homes which will
support sustainable energy and residents
with rising energy costs.

The risks of digital exclusion particularly
for people on lower incomes will be
considered within consultation.

As the Local Plan progresses towards the
Draft Local Plan, the equalities impact of
proposed policies will be identified and
considered with reference to appropriate
equalities data.

As the Local Plan progresses towards the
Draft Local Plan, the equalities impact of
proposed policies will be identified and
considered with reference to appropriate
equalities data.

As the Local Plan progresses towards the
Draft Local Plan, the equalities impact of
proposed policies will be identified and
considered with reference to appropriate
equalities data.

As the Local Plan progresses towards the
Draft Local Plan, the equalities impact of
proposed policies will be identified and
considered with reference to appropriate
equalities data.

Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit



8 abed

3.12 Rural communities* identify the To provide the policy framework to As the Local Plan progresses towards the

impact / potential impact on people living  support: Draft Local Plan, the equalities impact of

in rural communities proposed policies will be identified and
-The delivery of affordable housing, considered with reference to appropriate
including in rural communities to help equalities data.

increase the social sustainability of rural
areas and relieve difficulties for an aging
population.

-The creation of vibrant, inclusive rural
communities where different groups of
people can live, work and thrive,
supported by accessible services and
strong social infrastructure.

-Increased rural connectivity by
delivering a network of safe, accessible
walking, cycling and wheeling routes,
improving public transport and digital
infrastructure. This will reduce the barrier
to business growth, home working,
access to services and support social
and economic inclusion.

3.13 Armed Forces Community ** The Housing policy options provide a As the Local Plan progresses towards the
serving members; reservists; veterans range of policy options to ensure that that Draft Local Plan, the equalities impact of
and their families, including the the housing needs of different groups in proposed policies will be identified and
bereaved. Public services are required the community are reflected in planning considered with reference to appropriate
by law to pay due regard to the Armed policies, including those who require equalities data.

Forces Community when developing affordable housing, families with children,

policy, procedures and making decisions, older people, students, disabled people,
particularly in the areas of public housing, service families the Traveller community
education and healthcare (to remove and the Armed Forces Community.
disadvantage and consider special

provision).

Page 16 of 19 Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit



G8y abed

3.14 Care Experienced™**
This working definition is currently under
review and therefore subject to change:

In B&NES, you are ‘care-experienced’ if
you spent any time in your childhood in

-The Housing policy options provide a
range of policy options to ensure that that
the housing needs of different groups in
the community are reflected in planning
policies, including those who require
affordable housing.

Local Authority care, living away from
your parent(s) for example, you were
adopted, lived in residential care, or a or
a special guardianship arrangement.

*There is no requirement within the public sector duty of the Equality Act to consider groups who may be disadvantaged due to
socio economic status, or because of living in a rural area. However, these are significant issues within B&NES and have therefore
been included here.

** The Equality Act does not cover armed forces community. However, the Armed Forces Bill (which came in on 22 Nov 2022)
introduces a requirement to pay ‘due regard’ to make sure the Armed Forces Community are not disadvantaged when accessing
public services.

***The Equality Act does not cover care experienced people. B&NES adopted this group as a protected characteristic in March
2024 alongside over 80 other Local Authorities. Although we have data for care leavers and children/young people who are
currently in the care of B&NES we do not have wider data on disadvantage experienced through being in care.

Page 17 of 19 Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit



98y abed

4. Bath and North East Somerset Council & NHS B&NES
Equality Impact Assessment Improvement Plan

Please list actions that you plan to take as a result of this assessment/analysis. These actions should be based upon the analysis
of data and engagement, any gaps in the data you have identified, and any steps you will be taking to address any negative
impacts or remove barriers. The actions need to be built into your service planning framework. Actions/targets should be
measurable, achievable, realistic and time framed.

Issues identified

The Engagement and
Communication Strategy for the
B&NES Local Plan 2025-2043 to
continue to include equality
considerations within
consultation processes.

Accessible format of the Options
Document and consultation
online with opportunities for
feedback.

Equality data collection and
feedback.

Page 18 of 19

Actions required
Consultation to meet the
statutory requirements set out
in the Town and Country
Planning Regulations and
Bath and B&NES Statement
of Community Involvement for
Planning 2022.

The Options Document and
consultation will be published
in an accessible format on the
Participatr website. There will
be a link to the consultation
platform from the B&NES
website and contact details
will be provided to request
further accessibility
requirements. There will be a
variety of opportunities to
provide feedback.

Equality data collection and
feedback to continue to inform
how we measure performance

Progress milestones

Officer responsible
Planning Policy Team
with support from the
Regeneration Team

Planning Policy Team
with support from the
Regeneration Team

Planning Policy Team

Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit

By when
On-going

Options
Document
Consultation
Oct/Nov
2025

Different
consultation
stages of
the Local



/8Y abed

and improvement in relation to Plan 2025-

equality and diversity. 2043.
Identified opportunities within the Lead policy officers to Planning Policy Team 2025/2026
Reg. 18 EqlA to address consider equality
equalities issues and the needs  considerations within policy
of people with protected development for the
characteristics within policy Publication Draft of the new

development for the Publication  B&NES Local Plan 2025-

Draft of the new B&NES Local 2043.

Plan 2025-2043.

Viability testing to consider Viability testing of proposed Planning Policy Team 2026
impact of development policy.

requirements in the B&NES

Local Plan on wider planning

obligations and any equality

impacts.

5. Sign off and publishing

Once you have completed this form, it needs to be ‘approved’ by your Divisional Director or their nominated officer. Following this
sign off, send a copy to the Equalities Team (equality@bathnes.gov.uk), who will publish it on the Council’s and/or NHS B&NES’
website. Keep a copy for your own records.

Signed off by: Louise Morris (Head of Planning and Building Control)
Date: 01.09.2025

Page 19 of 19 Bath and North East Somerset Council and NHS B&NES: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit


mailto:equality@bathnes.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 488



Agenda Item 10

Bath & North East Somerset Council

MEETING/
DECISION | Cabinet
MAKER:

EXECUTIVE FORWARD
MEETING/ PLAN REFERENCE:
DECISION 25 SEPTEMBER 2025
DATE: E | 3649
TITLE: The Movement Strategy
WARD: All

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM

List of attachments to this report:

Appendix 1: Equality Impact Assessment

1 THE ISSUE

1.1 Transport accounts for over 30% of carbon related emissions within Bath and
North East Somerset Council, impacting the Council goal to achieve Net Zero by
2030. Following the Journey to Net Zero Strategy in 2020, a Circulation Plan,
now named a Movement Strategy was identified to recognise Bath’s historic
layout and constrained road network. The Movement Strategy proposes a shift
away from years of car dependency by improving alternatives such as walking,
wheeling, cycling and public transport. This will not only reduce transport
emissions and congestion but also enhance the quality of life for everyone who
lives in, works in, or visits the city.

2 RECOMMENDATION

The Cabinet is asked to;

2.1 Approve the development of a Movement Strategy.

2.2 Agree the strategic objectives for the Movement Strategy.

2.3 The objectives are creating a great quality place, improve travel choices
and reduce private vehicular traffic.

2.4 Approve proceeding to public consultation from Tuesday 14t October to
Friday 28t November.

Printed on recycled paper Page 489




3 THE REPORT

3.1 In 2020, Bath & North East Somerset Council pledged to introduce a circulation
plan as a standalone project as part of the Journey to Net Zero (J2NZ)
document. Since then, this commitment has evolved into a comprehensive
Movement Strategy. Why do we need a Movement Strategy?

(1) Transport accounts for over 30% of Bath’s carbon emissions and nitrogen
dioxide emissions from transport has been linked to over 300 premature
deaths a year in the West of England

(2) 36% of trips happen entirely within the city—many are short and could be
walked, wheeled or cycled

(3) Public transport is often delayed by traffic, making it less reliable. Only 62%
are satisfied with bus reliability and punctuality within B&NES

3.2 It's not just about congestion, but about how people move, how space is shared,
and how we can shape a more sustainable, inclusive future for Bath.

3.3 Currently, around 294,000 trips are made each day on the Bath transport
network, comprising journeys within the city, to and from Bath, and through Bath.
With the expected population growth in the region over the next 10 years, if no
intervention is made, forecasts suggest an increase of 21,000 additional daily
trips (7% growth). When considered alongside the wider West of England region,
congestion is estimated to cost the regional economy approximately £800,000
per day, driven by lost productivity, longer journey times, and reduced reliability
across the transport network.

3.4 A Movement Strategy is required to reimagine how we use, and view, our
streets. It should aim to rebalance the city’s transport network to better serve
residents, businesses and visitors, while supporting our climate goals. The
objectives underpinning the Movement Strategy reflect the Council’s Corporate
Strategy:

(1) Create a high-quality place — this aligns with the Corporate Strategy to provide
healthy lives and places. This involves working with health and other partners
to tackle inequalities, promote healthy places, and support people to live
healthier lives

(2) Improve travel choices — this aligns with the Corporate Strategy to provide
more travel choices, making it easier for people to walk, wheel and use public
transport to reduce transport emissions.

(3) Reduce vehicular traffic volumes — this aligns with the Corporate Strategy to
create clean, safe and vibrant neighbourhoods. This would be achieved by
working with local communities to promote civic pride and preventative
approaches.

3.5 A Movement Strategy is necessary to provide the framework for delivering the
Journey to Net Zero ambitions. The Strategy should identify measures,
specifically for the city of Bath, that will help to significantly reduce transport-
related emissions.

Printed on recycled paper Page 490



3.6 The Council will consult on a draft Movement Strategy, alongside the Local Plan,
from Tuesday 14" October to Friday 28" November. The aim of the consultation
will be to listen to residents. The consultation is proposed to be conducted jointly
with the Local Plan public consultation to make it easier for a wide range of
people to have their say.

3.7 Following the public consultation the Movement Strategy will be revised to reflect
the comments made and adopted in 2026.

4 STATUTORY CONSIDERATIONS

4.1 Each of the interventions within the Movement Strategy will adhere to the
appropriate statutory considerations. There are no specific statutory
considerations associated with the Movement Strategy itself.

5 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS (FINANCE, PROPERTY, PEOPLE)

5.1 Project Budget: The Movement Strategy has an approved budget of £230k, of
which £100k is from WECA grant, while the remaining £130k is reinvestment
funding from the BANES Clean Air Zone.

5.2 This has been allocated as below:

(1) £130k on consultancy support, this included transport modelling, writing of the
technical report and designing the public facing report.

(2) £15k for consultation materials such as leaflets, postal drop offs, and public
consultation boards.

(3) £85K for BANES staff time.
6 RISK MANAGEMENT
6.1 A full risk assessment will be provided following consultation.
7 EQUALITIES

7.1 The Movement Strategy recognises the proposed transport interventions will
consider the equality impact throughout their development. Further details can
be seen in the attached the EqlA.

8 CLIMATE CHANGE

8.1 The Movement Strategy sets out a shift away from decades of car dependency
by prioritising sustainable travel options such as walking, wheeling, cycling, and
public transport. This shift is designed to reduce transport-related carbon
emissions and congestion, while also improving air quality and enhancing the
overall quality of life for residents, workers, and visitors.

8.2 Once implemented, the strategy will directly support the Council’s commitment to
achieving net zero carbon emissions by 2030. By reducing reliance on private
vehicles and encouraging low-carbon modes of transport, the strategy will help
to lower one of the largest contributors of local emissions. In doing so, it will also
increase our climate resilience, making the city better prepared for the
environmental challenges ahead.

Printed on recycled paper Page 491



9 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

9.1 An alternative to delivering the Movement Strategy would be to take no action.
However, this option was rejected as Bath and North East Somerset Council
declared a climate emergency in 2019. Without a plan in place, future growth
would likely lead to increased congestion and rising transport emissions,
undermining the Council’s environmental commitments.

9.2 The Movement Strategy analysis confirmed that with no action taken, there will
be a 7% increase in total car journeys over a 10-year period, resulting in
additional transport related emissions.

9.3 The Movement Strategy represents the next critical step in achieving the carbon
reduction targets set out in the Journey to Net Zero. It provides a proactive and
coordinated approach to managing transport demand, reducing emissions, and
supporting sustainable development within Bath.

10 CONSULTATION

101 This report has been approved by the Section 151 Officer and Monitoring

Officer.
Contact person Carli van Niekerk, Strategic Transport Projects Manager
Samantha Taylor, Senior Engineer — Strategic Transport Projects
Background None
papers

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an
alternative format

Printed on recycled paper Page 492




Bath & North East
Somerset Council

Improving People’s Lives

Equality Impact Assessment / Equality Analysis

(Version 4)

Item name Details

. . . The Movement Strategy for Bath
Title of service or policy

£61 abed

Name of directorate and service Sustainable Communities - Place Shaping
Name and role of officers completing the EqIA Krzysztof Fedorczuk - Assistant Engineer, Strategic Transport
Projects

05/08/2025 — 04/09/2025
Date of assessment



v61 abed

Equality Impact Assessment (or ‘Equality Analysis’) is a process of systematically analysing a new or existing policy or service to identify what impact or
likely impact it will have on people and different groups within our community. The main aim is to identify any adverse impacts (i.e. discriminatory or
negative consequences for a particular group or sector of the community, and to identify areas where equality can be better promoted). Equality impact
Assessments (EqlAs) can be carried out in relation to services provided to customers and residents as well as employment policies/strategies that relate to

staffing matters.

This toolkit has been developed to use as a framework when carrying out an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) or Equality Analysis. Not all sections will
be relevant — so mark N/A any that are not applicable. It is intended that this is used as a working document throughout the process, and a final version
will be published on the Council’s website following relevant service lead approval.

1.1 Identify the aims of the policy or service and how it is implemented

Key questions

1.1 Briefly describe purpose

of the service/policy e.g.

e How the service/policy is
delivered and by whom

e |f responsibility for its
implementation is shared
with other departments or
organisations

e |ntended outcomes

Answers / notes

The Movement Strategy for Bath proposes a new way of thinking about how everyone moves around Bath
and how we can rebalance the use of our streets. It sets a blueprint for understanding how space can be
used differently, and how to balance competing demands to deliver this transition in a sustainable way to
provide an equitable network across the city. It underpins how we aim to develop Bath’s transport network
over the next 10 years.

The strategy focuses primarily on the city of Bath but recognises the impact on the whole of B&NES. It
highlights the key issues facing our transport network, noting the need to reallocate road space to better
balance competing demands. It sets out our vision for the transport network and how it could work for Bath’s
communities, businesses and visitors.

This strategy is being delivered by the Place Shaping service, with input from various teams across the
council including, but not limited to,
¢ Highways

Page 2 of 21 Bath and North East Somerset Council: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit



G617 abed

1.2 Provide brief details of the
scope of the policy or service
being reviewed, for example:

e Is it a new service/policy

Regeneration

Transport Strategy and Public Transport
Behavioural Change

Green Transformation

Sustainable Economy

Public Health

Its implementation will occur over a 10-year period until 2035 and will be delivered by multiple teams across
the council.

or review of an existing

one?

While built on pre-existing transport projects/policies such as the City Region Sustainable Transport
Settlement programme and the Active Travel Masterplan, the Movement Strategy for Bath can be
continually reviewed and updated as/when necessary to help maintain the course for decarbonising our
transport system, protecting and enhancing the historic fabric of Bath, and delivering a practical, equitable
and sustainable network for all transport modes in Bath.

It aims to:

e |Isita national
requirement?).

e How much room for
review is there?

Page 3 of 21

Provide more travel choices

Deliver clean, safe and vibrant neighbourhoods
Provide support for vulnerable adults and children
Deliver for our children and young people

Enable healthy lives and places

Improve access to good jobs

Enhance cultural life and our World Heritage Site designations

The Movement Strategy for Bath stems from the Climate Emergency declared in March 2019, which
recognises that transport accounted for 29% of carbon emissions in B&NES, the Climate Emergency Action

Bath and North East Somerset Council: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit



961 abed

Plan' and the adopted Journey to Net Zero? policy document, which identifies how transport will respond to
and support delivery of the targets set out in the Climate Emergency and provides a holistic approach for
meeting the transport needs of those living, working and visiting Bath from 2020 onwards.

One of the Journey to Net Zero commitments was to develop “a traffic circulation map [since renamed the
Movement Strategy - Bath] as a standalone project... This will identify the main roads where arterial bus
routes are prioritised and car traffic is expected to remain, and the residential streets that we want to be
quieter, with future projects aiming to deliver this plan incrementally’. The Movement Strategy for Bath
delivers on this.

1.3 Do the aims of this policy = The Movement Strategy - Bath links to our Climate Emergency Action Plan, Journey to Net Zero, Active

link to or conflict with any Travel Masterplan3, as well as our Corporate Strategy* and its policies to lead the UK in climate and nature

other policies of the Council? action, building a sustainable future for Bath and North East Somerset - net zero, nature positive by 2030,
and to listen to and work with residents to act on their concerns, in addition to its 3 core ambitions of
preparing for the future, delivering for local residents, focusing on prevention, and 9 priorities which include:

e The right homes in the right places

e More travel choices

o Clean, safe and vibrant neighbourhoods

e Support for vulnerable adults and children

e Delivering for our children and young people
¢ Healthy lives and places

e Good jobs

e Skills to thrive

1 https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/read-our-climate-strategy-and-action-plan

2 https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/document-and-policy-library/journey-net-zero-final-report

3 https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/active-travel-masterplan

4 https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/document-and-policy-library/corporate-strateqy-2023-2027

Page 4 of 21 Bath and North East Somerset Council: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit


https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/read-our-climate-strategy-and-action-plan
https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/document-and-policy-library/journey-net-zero-final-report
https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/active-travel-masterplan
https://www.bathnes.gov.uk/document-and-policy-library/corporate-strategy-2023-2027

/61 abed

e Cultural life

There may arise conflicts with existing and future policies, such as the Hedge and Shrub Maintenance policy
if hedges and shrubs impede active travel and public transport, and with Movement Strategy for Bath levers
such as the Coach Parking Strategy, which may be at odds with our Regeneration Masterplans, and more.
We will aim to resolve these tensions for each intervention proposed separately, with the relevant officer
teams at the earliest opportunity, and look to use our corporate strategy and adopted doughnut economics
model to find a way forward.

2. Consideration of available data, research and information

Key questions

Data, research and information that you can refer to

2.1 What equality focussed All officers involved have received mandatory equality, diversity and inclusion training.
training have staff received to

enable them to understand the

needs of our diverse community?

2.2 What is the equality profile of  The strategy focuses primarily on the city of Bath, but recognises the impact of any changes in

service users?

Bath on North East Somerset and in neighbouring authorities, therefore there is a wide range
of equality profiles to consider, including local demographics of Bath residents, North East
Somerset residents, as well as of those travelling into and through the city, including visitors
and commuters.

2.3 Are there any recent customer The Voicebox survey is a resident survey aimed at obtaining residents’ views on a range of
satisfaction surveys to refer to? topics to help shape and improve local services. In 2023, the survey reported that:
What were the results? Are there e 63% of respondents strongly agreed or agreed with the statement ‘I am willing to walk

Page 5 of 21

more often instead of travelling by car’.

Bath and North East Somerset Council: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit



861 abed

any gaps? Or differences in
experience/outcomes?

2.4 What engagement or
consultation has been undertaken
as part of this EIA and with
whom? What were the results?

2.5 If you are planning to
undertake any consultation in the
future regarding this service or
policy, how will you include
equality considerations within
this?

e 53% of respondents strongly agreed/agreed with the statement “I am willing to use
public transport more often instead of travelling by car”.
e 28% of respondents strongly agreed or agreed with the statement ‘| am willing to cycle
more often instead of travelling by car’.
e The third most chosen to the question of ‘Which of the things, if any, do you think needs
the most improving’ was public transport (359 responses)
¢ Inresponse to ‘Which of the things below would you say are most important in making
somewhere a good place to live’, the top five most chosen options included access to
green nature and spaces (430 responses) and public transport (336 responses).
No public engagement has taken place so far but is planned to occur in October and
November 2025, alongside the Local Plan Options consultation. Stakeholders and the general
public will be consulted in this period.

We want to hear from as many different people as possible during this consultation. To do this,
we’ll use:

Social media adverts

A short video explaining what it’s all about

A dedicated website (Participatr) where people can get involved

Help from ward councillors and parish councils

Two events with key organisations we’ve identified

Seven roadshow events across Bath over 20 days, where we’ll chat with people

passing by

Five drop-in sessions where anyone can come and talk to us

Three public health workshops, working alongside the Local Plan team
We’ll make sure all materials are easy to understand and accessible, and there will be plenty of
ways for people to share their views.

Page 6 of 21 Bath and North East Somerset Council: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit



3. Assessment of impact: ‘Equality analysis’

Based upon any data you have considered, or the results of consultation or research, use the spaces below to demonstrate you

have analysed how the service or policy:

e Meets any particular needs of equalities groups or could help promote equality in some way.

e Could have a negative or adverse impact for any of the equality groups

Examples of what the service has done to promote equality
Key questions

3.1 Issues The strategy will benefit everyone by offering better travel
relating to all options.

groups and o People without cars, especially those on lower incomes,
protected will have cheaper and more reliable ways to get around
characteristics using public transport, walking, wheeling, or cycling.

e Those who want or need to stay active will benefit from
safer and easier walking and cycling routes.

e These improvements will make it easier for everyone to
reach jobs, schools, healthcare, and social events.

661 abed

Page 7 of 21 Bath and North East Somerset Council: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit

Examples of actual or potential
negative or adverse impact and what
steps have been or could be taken to
address this

Some people may feel they have
less access or independence,
especially if parking is reduced.
Vehicles like ambulances, taxis,
and delivery cars will still be
allowed.

All changes will follow the latest
design rules and involve local
consultation.

The goal is to use road space in a
smarter, safer, and more eco-
friendly way.

Some car space will be reallocated
to improve bus stops, bus lanes,
and pavements for people with
wheelchairs, prams, and others.



005 abed

3.2 Sex —identify  National Travel Survey data highlights that women in the UK:

the o Take an average of 56 local bus journeys per year,
impact/potential which is 30% higher than men at 43 trips per year®.
impact of the . Men are three times more likely to cycle compared to
policy on women women
and men. o Women are more likely to make multi-stop trips (trip-
chaining) with multiple purposes with different modes
of travel®,
o A lack of time, travelling with children, the need to

take multiple non-direct journeys, personal safety
concerns (such as walking in the dark) and road

safety concerns are some of the biggest barriers
faced by women’.

By choosing the best routes for walking, cycling, buses, and
cars—and following the latest safety guidelines—we can make
travel safer for women. For example, walking and cycling paths
and bus stops will be placed where they’re visible from nearby
homes and will be well-lit.

The Movement Strategy aims to redesign Bath’s transport
system to make it easier for people to combine different types of
trips (like going to work, then shopping), feel safer, and have

5 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/nts03-modal-comparisons
6 https://www.sustrans.org.uk/media/2878/2878.pdf
7 https://www.sustrans.org.uk/media/2878/2878.pdf

Page 8 of 21 Bath and North East Somerset Council: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit

Women may feel unsafe using public
transport or walking and cycling routes,
especially if they worry about harassment
or personal safety. This can stop them
from using these travel options and lead
to unfair access.

The strategy aims to make public
transport and active travel safer and
more appealing for women through better
lighting, using routes overlooked by
housing, safer waiting areas and more,
so they feel comfortable using them at
any time of day or year.


https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/nts03-modal-comparisons
https://www.sustrans.org.uk/media/2878/2878.pdf
https://www.sustrans.org.uk/media/2878/2878.pdf

TOS abed

3.3 Pregnancy
and maternity

3.4 Gender
reassignment —
identify the
impact/potential
impact of the
policy on
transgender
people

more chances to travel around Bath using walking, cycling, or
public transport.

The Movement Strategy for Bath supports adding features like
seating to help pregnant people and parents with babies. It also
aims to make travel easier for families with young children by
creating safer, more accessible spaces for pushchairs and
offering convenient travel options.

2021 research found that 37% of respondents had faced
physical or verbal attacks on public transport in the prior five
years, more often than not, tied to their gender or sexuality?.

The Movement Strategy - Bath aims to improve safety and
perceived safety through safer waiting areas (well lit, glass bus
shelters, CCTV, overlooked locations and more), allowing
everyone to feel safer in taking public transport regardless of
their gender identity.

8 https://www.systra.com/uk/expert_insights/queer-mobility-improving-public-transport-
inclusivity/#:~:text=Public%20transport%20truly%20can%20lead,a%20journey%20worth%20taking%20together.

Page 9 of 21

Bath and North East Somerset Council: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit

Changes to roads, public transport, or
walking and cycling paths might raise
safety concerns for pregnant people or
parents with children. That’s why special
safety measures will be added where
needed.

The strategy will also ask for feedback
from pregnancy and maternity groups, as
well as local health organisations like the
Royal United Hospital and Integrated
Care Board, to make sure the
consultation is inclusive and meets
everyone’s needs

None identified as of yet.



2065 abed

3.5 Disability —
identify the
impact/potential
impact of the
policy on disabled
people (ensure
consideration of
physical, sensory
and mental health
needs/differences)

A study in the UK found that 34.4% of trans adults had
attempted suicide at least once and almost 14% of trans adults
had attempted suicide more than twice®.

By creating safer, overlooked, well-lit active travel routes,
transgender people can feel safer in walking, wheeling and
cycling. Active travel also contributes towards physical activity,
proven to be associated with benefits to mental health. Physical
activity can reduce the risk of depression, improve
psychological wellbeing. Moreover, Active Travel modes are the
least stressful and can be very helpful in terms of stress
management'©.

The strategy aims to make travel easier and safer for everyone,
including people who don’t drive. It will still keep important
routes open for vehicles and parking for Blue Badge holders.

For disabled people who don'’t drive, good public transport can
help them live full and social lives by making it easier to get to
work, shops, and leisure activities.

By designing spaces that meet different needs and improving
public areas, the strategy will create a more welcoming and
practical environment that supports both physical access and

9 https://www.ilga-europe.org/sites/default/files/trans country report - engenderedpenalties.pdf

10 https://www.sustrans.org.uk/media/4464/4464 .pdf

Page 10 of 21 Bath and North East Somerset Council: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit

Changes to roads, public transport, or
walking and cycling paths might raise
safety concerns for disabled people.
That’s why special safety measures will
be added where needed.

The strategy also recognises that some
people may face challenges in
understanding or accessing information.


https://www.ilga-europe.org/sites/default/files/trans_country_report_-_engenderedpenalties.pdf

€05 abed

overall well-being. It also recognises that walking and cycling Therefore, we aim to use clear

can have a positive effect on mental health communication, offer accessible venues,
and provide information in different
formats.

Disabled people and disability groups will
be invited to share their views to make
sure the consultation is fair and inclusive
for everyone.

3.6 Age —identify Older individuals will benefit from improved, more accessible The Movement Strategy for Bath will

the active travel infrastructure including pavements, and better change how road space is used, which

impact/potential public transport waiting areas with lighting, seating etc. might make it harder for older people if

impact of the they need to walk more or further.

policy on different  Children can benefit from interventions that create a safer travel

age groups environment such as 20mph zones, school streets, road safety = However, walking and cycling paths will
and traffic calming. follow national safety standards to make

them safe and easy for people of all ages
e Road crossings do not give older people enough time to  and abilities.
cross safely. Pelican crossings assume that pedestrians

walk at a pace of at least 1.2 metres per second (2.7 The strategy understands this challenge
miles per hour) but 76 % of men and 85 % of women and will include things like easy walking
over 65 walk more slowly than this."" routes to bus stops and transport hubs

where different travel options connect.

" Encouraging older people to engage in active travel such as cycling or walking could have health benefits and reduce isolation. « Only 8% of men over 65
and 3% of women over 65 ever cycle3 . This is low compared to rates of older people cycling in other European countries. « Road crossings do not give older
people adequate time to cross safely4 . Pelican crossings assume that pedestrians walk at a pace of at least 1.2 metres per second (2.7 miles per hour) but
76 % of men and 85 % of women over 65 walk more slowly than this.

Page 11 of 21 Bath and North East Somerset Council: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit



05 abed

e Children can also struggle to keep up with signal timings  This will help make walking and cycling
and misjudge vehicle speeds above 20mph?2. more appealing and easier to combine
e Older people in rural areas don’t have sufficient access ~ With other ways of getting around.
to public transport. Just 20% of those aged 70-74 living in
rural areas use public transport weekly, compared to
38% of those who live in an urban setting.
e 18% of those over 65 living in rural areas don’t use public
transport because none is available, compared to 2% of
those living in urban areas’?

Public transport is not meeting the needs of many older people.

e The most frequent reasons for not using public transport
among those 65 and over are that it's not convenient and
does not go where you want.'4

Encouraging older people to engage in active travel such as
cycling or walking could have health benefits and reduce
isolation.

12 hitps://roadsafetygb.org.uk/news/study-claims-children-cannot-judge-speeds-above-20mph-1334/
https://roadsafetygb.org.uk/news/speeds-greater-than-20mph-pose-crossing-risk-for-children/

3 Older people in rural areas don’t have sufficient access to public transport. Just 20% of those aged 70-74 living in rural areas use public transport weekly,
compared to 38% of those who live in an urban setting. « 18% of those over 65 living in rural areas don’t use public transport because none is available,
compared to 2% of those living in urban areas

14https://www.ageuk.org.uk/siteassets/documents/reports-and-publications/reports-and-briefings/active-
communities/rb_june15 the future of transport in_an _ageing society.pdf

Page 12 of 21 Bath and North East Somerset Council: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit


https://roadsafetygb.org.uk/news/study-claims-children-cannot-judge-speeds-above-20mph-1334/
https://roadsafetygb.org.uk/news/speeds-greater-than-20mph-pose-crossing-risk-for-children/
https://www.ageuk.org.uk/siteassets/documents/reports-and-publications/reports-and-briefings/active-communities/rb_june15_the_future_of_transport_in_an_ageing_society.pdf
https://www.ageuk.org.uk/siteassets/documents/reports-and-publications/reports-and-briefings/active-communities/rb_june15_the_future_of_transport_in_an_ageing_society.pdf

G0S abed

e Only 8% of men over 65 and 3% of women over 65 ever
cycle.

e This is low compared to rates of older people cycling in
other European countries due to gaps in investment in
the UK compared to European countries’.

e The introduction of e-bikes has been found to further
support the elderly in active travel'®

e 1.45 million of those 65 and over in England find it
difficult to travel to hospital, whilst 630,000 of those 65
and over find it difficult or very difficult to travel to their
GP.

e ltis the eldest elderly who find it the hardest - less than
half of people over 80 find it easy to travel to a hospital.'”

The strategy aims to improve active travel and public transport
links to key destinations such as schools, the Royal United
Hospital, and local GP surgeries.

3.7 Race — identify  In the UK, in the 5 years to March 2019: It is acknowledged that consideration will
the e White people made the highest percentage of trips by car need to be paid to racial abuse and hate
impact/potential or van out of all ethnic groups (63%) crime, and safety issues will need to be
impact on across considered in implementation.

15 https://betterbike.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/Making-Cycling-Irresistible-Lessons-from-Europe-Pucher-2008.pdf
6 Leger et al, S. (2019). “If | had a regular bicycle, | wouldn’t be out riding anymore”: Perspectives on the potential of e-bikes to support active living and
independent mobility among older adults in Waterloo, Canada. Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice, 123, 240-254.

17 hitps://www.ageuk.org.uk/siteassets/documents/reports-and-publications/reports-and-briefings/active-
communities/rb_june15 the future of transport in_an _ageing society.pdf

Page 13 of 21 Bath and North East Somerset Council: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit


https://betterbike.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/Making-Cycling-Irresistible-Lessons-from-Europe-Pucher-2008.pdf
https://www.ageuk.org.uk/siteassets/documents/reports-and-publications/reports-and-briefings/active-communities/rb_june15_the_future_of_transport_in_an_ageing_society.pdf
https://www.ageuk.org.uk/siteassets/documents/reports-and-publications/reports-and-briefings/active-communities/rb_june15_the_future_of_transport_in_an_ageing_society.pdf

905 abed

different ethnic e Black people made the lowest percentage of trips by car
groups or van (40%)

e 19% of trips by black people are made by local bus
journeys — the highest percentage out of all ethnic groups
for this type of transport

e White children had the longest trip to school (2.5 miles on
average), and Asian children had the shortest (2.0 miles
on average)

e White and Asian children were more likely to travel to
school by car, while black children were more likely to
travel by bus™®.

e Avon and Somerset Police data across a 3-month period
in 2025 shows over half of total hate crimes recorded
were race based hate crimes.

By supporting safe and improved active travel routes and
infrastructure, and more reliable, safer public transport services
as alternatives to the car, the Movement Strategy for Bath will
provide better travel options for not only the white British group,
but also all ethnic minorities.

3.8 Sexual e 2021 research found that 37% of respondents had faced
orientation — physical or verbal attacks on public transport in the prior
identify the

impact/potential

'8 https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/culture-and-community/transport/travel/latest/

Page 14 of 21 Bath and North East Somerset Council: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit

It is acknowledged that consideration will
need to be paid to homophobic bullying
and hate crime, and safety issues will
need to be considered in implementation.



105 abed

impact of the five years, more often than not, tied to their gender or

policy on sexuality9.

lesbian, gay, e Another study found that half of LGBTIQ+ people had
bisexual, experienced depression, and three in five had
heterosexual, experienced anxiety20.

questioning people o Official data underscores this trend, as Home Office

figures show hate crimes based on sexual orientation in
England and Wales rose from 15,835 to 22,839 between
the years 2019 to 202421,

The Movement Strategy for Bath aims to improve safety and
perceived safety through safer waiting areas (well lit, glass bus
shelters, CCTV, overlooked locations and more), allowing for all
users to feel safer in taking public transport regardless of their
sexual orientation.

3.9 Marriage and  None identified as of yet. None identified as of yet.

civil partnership

— does the

policy/strategy

treat married and

civil partnered

people equally?

9 https://www.systra.com/uk/expert_insights/queer-mobility-improving-public-transport-
inclusivity/#:~:text=Public%20transport%20truly%20can%20lead,a%20journey%20worth%20taking%20together.
20 Stonewall LGBT in Britain — Health Report

21 https://lwww.systra.com/uk/expert_insights/queer-mobility-improving-public-transport-
inclusivity/#:~:text=Public%20transport%20truly%20can%20lead,a%20journey%20worth%20taking%20together.

Page 15 of 21 Bath and North East Somerset Council: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit



805 abed

3.10
Religion/belief —
identify the
impact/potential
impact of the
policy on people of
different
religious/faith
groups and also
upon those with no
religion.

3.11 Socio-
economically
disadvantaged* —
identify the impact
on people who are
disadvantaged due
to factors like
family background,
educational
attainment,
neighbourhood,
employment status

e Home Office statistics show that between March 2023 —
March 2024, there were 10,484 hate crimes recorded by
the police as linked to religion in England and Wales — a
25% increase compared to the prior 12-month period?2.

e Avon and Somerset Police data across a 3 month period
in 2025 shows just over 6% of total hate crimes recorded
were religion/belief hate crimes.

The Movement Strategy for Bath aims to improve transport and
accessibility across the whole of Bath, to all key locations
including places of worship.

The Movement Strategy for Bath aims to make travel safer and
more affordable for everyone. It helps reduce the need to own a
car by offering better and cheaper travel options.

A recent Transport for the North (UK) study found the costs of
car use and ownership to society tower over the costs of other
modes contributing around £50bn worth of cost to the North in
2023, and the benefits of other modes outperform car use
benefits significantly. This is expected to increase to £60bn by
2050.23

None identified as of yet.

The Movement Strategy - Bath
recognises that the cost of owning a
motor vehicle can be a barrier to some
people. Active travel and public transport
can provide cheaper, safe, reliable
alternatives to car travel.

22 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/hate-crime-england-and-wales-year-ending-march-2024/hate-crime-england-and-wales-year-ending-march-2024

23 https://www.transportforthenorth.com/wp-content/uploads/TfN-Travel-Choice-Project-Summary-1.pdf

Page 16 of 21

Bath and North East Somerset Council: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit


https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/hate-crime-england-and-wales-year-ending-march-2024/hate-crime-england-and-wales-year-ending-march-2024

605 abed

can influence life
chances

(this is not a legal
requirement, but
is a local
priority).

3.12 Rural
communities*
identify the impact
/ potential impact
on people living in
rural communities

3.13 Armed
Forces
Community **
serving members;
reservists;
veterans and their
families, including
the

bereaved. Public
services are

The Movement Strategy for Bath understands that rural areas
often don’t have many transport options. It aims to improve key
walking, cycling, and public transport routes into the city centre,
while still keeping key roads open for vehicles that need to pass
through, into and out of Bath.

The Movement Strategy - Bath aims to make traveling around,
to/from and through Bath easier, safer and more accessible in
several ways.

In accordance with the Armed Forces Covenant, those who
served the country and their families should face no
disadvantage compared to other citizens in the provision of
public and commercial services, with special consideration for
those who have given the most such as the injured and the
bereaved?.

Page 17 of 21

24 hitps://www.armedforcescovenant.gov.uk/about-the-covenant/

Bath and North East Somerset Council: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit

Rural areas often don’t have good public
transport, which can make walking,
wheeling and cycling less useful. That’s
why it's important to connect these areas
with existing transport services. The
strategy will look at new ideas like
community transport and travel hubs to
better meet the needs of people living in
rural communities.

None identified as of yet.


https://www.armedforcescovenant.gov.uk/about-the-covenant/

0TS abed

required by law to

pay due regard to  The most recent census data shows 3.6% or 5,858 people in
the Armed Forces B&NES are Armed Forces Veterans?>.
Community when

developing policy,

procedures and

making decisions,

particularly in the

areas of public

housing, education

and healthcare (to

remove

disadvantage and

consider special

provision).

3.14 Care The Movement Strategy for Bath aims to provide a blueprintto ~ None identified as of yet.
Experienced *** deliver more affordable, safer, travel choices for all,

This working reducing/removing the financial burden of car-ownership and

definition is reducing car dependency.

currently under Furthermore the strategy also supports those which require a

review and car and the aim of the strategy is to reduce future congestions

therefore subject expected from growth.

to change:

25 https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/armedforcescommunity/bulletins/ukarmedforcesveteransenglandandwales/census2021#uk-armed-
forces-veterans-england-and-wales-data

Page 18 of 21 Bath and North East Somerset Council: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit


https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/armedforcescommunity/bulletins/ukarmedforcesveteransenglandandwales/census2021#uk-armed-forces-veterans-england-and-wales-data
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/armedforcescommunity/bulletins/ukarmedforcesveteransenglandandwales/census2021#uk-armed-forces-veterans-england-and-wales-data

TTS abed

In B&NES, you are
‘care-experienced’
if you spent any
time in your
childhood in Local
Authority care,
living away from
your parent(s) for
example, you were
adopted, lived in
residential, foster
care, kinship care,
or a special
guardianship
arrangement.

*There is no requirement within the public sector duty of the Equality Act to consider groups who may be disadvantaged due to
socio economic status, or because of living in a rural area. However, these are significant issues within B&NES and have therefore
been included here.

** The Equality Act does not cover armed forces community. However, the Armed Forces Bill (which came in on 22 Nov 2022)
introduces a requirement to pay ‘due regard’ to make sure the Armed Forces Community are not disadvantaged when accessing
public services.

***The Equality Act does not cover care experienced people. B&NES adopted this group as a protected characteristic in March

2024 alongside over 80 other Local Authorities. Although we have data for care leavers and children/young people who are
currently in the care of B&NES we do not have wider data on disadvantage experienced through being in care.

Page 19 of 21 Bath and North East Somerset Council: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit



4. Bath and North East Somerset Council
Equality Impact Assessment Improvement Plan

Please list actions that you plan to take as a result of this assessment/analysis. These actions should be based upon the analysis
of data and engagement, any gaps in the data you have identified, and any steps you will be taking to address any negative
impacts or remove barriers. The actions need to be built into your service planning framework. Actions/targets should be
measurable, achievable, realistic and time framed.

215 abed

Issue Identified Action Proposed Progress Milestones Officer Responsible By when
Potential adverse Conduct targeted Hold community Samantha Taylor- 28/02/2026
impact on rural engagement with forums; analyse Sehmbi
communities due to passers-by to feedback; incorporate
transport changes. understand specific into strategy updates. Krzysztof Fedorczuk

transport needs.
Lack of disaggregated | Aim to improve data Work with officers and | Samantha Taylor- 28/02/2026
data for some protected | collection methods to keep up to date on new | Sehmbi
characteristics in capture usage by age, data/survey tools; train
transport usage. disability, ethnicity, etc. | staff; analyse new data | Krzysztof Fedorczuk

for trends.

Need for ongoing Establish EqlA review Create review Samantha Taylor- 28/02/2026
review and flexibility in | process for Movement | framework; schedule Sehmbi
strategy to address Strategy. assessments; publish
emerging equality updates. Krzysztof Fedorczuk
issues.

Page 20 of 21

Bath and North East Somerset Council: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit




€15 abed

5. Sign off and publishing

Once you have completed this form, it needs to be ‘approved’ by your Divisional Director or their nominated officer. Following this
sign off, send a copy to the Equality Team (equality@bathnes.gov.uk), who will publish it on the Council’s website. Keep a copy for
your own records.

Signed off by: Sophie Broadfield, Executive Director of Sustainable Communities (Divisional
Director or nominated senior officer)

Date: 08/09/2025

Page 21 of 21 Bath and North East Somerset Council: Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit


mailto:equality@bathnes.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 514



	Agenda
	9 Reset Local Plan Options Document
	E3636 - Appendix 1 - Local Plan Options Document 2025
	Chapter 1 Introduction
	Chapter 2 Issues, Challenges and  Spatial Priorities
	Chapter 3 Key Requirements
	Chapter 4 Spatial Strategy
	Chapter 5 Bath 16.09.25
	Chapter 6 Bristol to Bath corridor 16.09.25
	Keynsham
	Saltford Village
	Keynsham and Saltford Village area
	Keynsham Site Options
	Saltford Village Site Options
	Hicks Gate
	Whitchurch Village

	Chapter 7 Somer Valley 16.09.25
	Peasedown
	Radstock
	Writhlington
	Westfield
	Midsomer Norton
	Paulton
	Farrington Gurney

	Chapter 8 Rural Areas 16.09.25
	Bathford and Batheaston
	Bishop Sutton
	Chew Magna
	Chew Stoke
	Clutton and Temple Cloud
	Farmborough
	High Littleton and Hallatrow
	Timsbury

	Chapter 9 DM Policies 16.09.25

	E3636 - Appendix 2 - Communications and Engagement Plan
	E3636 - Appendix 3 - Equality Impact Assessment

	10 The Movement Strategy
	E3649 - Appendix 1 - Equality Impact Assessment


